Supporting Ongoing Training of Community Health Workers through Mobile-based Solutions in Rural India

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree

Doctor of Philosophy

by

Deepika Yadav Advisor: Prof. Pushpendra Singh

Reading Committee: Prof. Richard Anderson (University of Washington) Prof. Kentaro Toyama (University of Michigan) Prof. Rosa Arriaga (Georgia Institute of Technology)



Department of Computer Science and Engineering Indraprastha Institute of Information Technology Delhi New Delhi - 110020, India

August 2021

Certificate

This is to certify that the thesis titled as "**Supporting Ongoing Training of Community Health Workers through Mobile-based Solutions in Rural India**" submitted by Deepika Yadav to the *Indraprastha Institute of Information Technology Delhi*, for the award of the degree of *Doctor of Philosophy*, is an original research work carried out by her under my supervision. In my opinion, the thesis has reached the standard fulfilling the requirements of the regulations relating to the degree.

The results contained in this thesis have not been submitted in part or full to any other university or institute for the award of any degree or diploma.

Dr. Pushpendra Singh Department of Computer Science and Engineering Indraprastha Institute of Information Technology Delhi August 2021 To all the women in my family and those outside who stand, voice, support, or fight to let women in their next generation dream and set on to a challenging path for change.

Abstract

Community health workers (CHWs) in low- and middle-income countries play a vital role in public healthcare. CHWs particularly assist in improving maternal and child health conditions of the poor and vulnerable who often remain unaware of the available services and face sociocultural barriers in accessing the health services. India, which is still undergoing a burden of high child mortality, implements its CHW program as a flagship program with close to a million CHWs appointed across its states.

However, under-training significantly limits the ability of CHWs to provide quality services. We address the training problem in India by designing and deploying low-cost mobile training tools that can complement the existing face-to-face training mechanisms. Our system adopts a hybrid architecture to use Interactive Voice Response for facilitating online audio training sessions. Thus, allowing CHWs to access training from anywhere through their feature phones, a key need that has been well recognized by HCI4D research. We contribute on the following aspects: (1) Testing the feasibility and efficacy of our training tool through a controlled field experiment (2) Unpacking the training needs of CHWs by analyzing a question and answer record of 1178 and mapping it back to the existing reference material through a large-scale deployment on 500 CHWs, (3) Investigating the potential for peer-to-peer learning models to address the challenge of experts availability through a controlled field experiment, and (4) Finally, exploring the potential for automated techniques in this domain by proposing a semi-automated NLP approach for curating generated learning content and exposing CHWs and women to Chabot-based education for the first time. By using a range of mixed methods and field experiments, this dissertation expands the focus of HCI4D and mHealth research on CHWs competence development in low-resource settings, an area that has long been neglected.

Acknowledgements

This research is an outcome of the support of multiple people. I would like to thank the ASHA workers who kindly agreed to give their time to participate in the experiments and sharing their thoughts and experiences. I deeply respect their lives and the contribution they are making to society by handling various responsibilities. I am grateful to the SWACH organization for implementing my ideas, connecting me to ASHAs, and making me a part of their family. My special thanks to Dr. Vijay Kumar, who inspires me with his endless energy to serve society. I am forever grateful for his guidance on motherhood and for making me realize the importance of investing in the foundational years of human life. I hope I can take his vision forward in my future endeavors.

I want to express sincere thanks to my advisor Dr. Pushpendra Singh for making the Ph.D. experience so enriching. He has been the support pillar of this journey. I never had to worry about the resources or my freedom. I am forever indebted to the time and energy he has invested in each phase of my Ph.D. I admire his attitude of always thinking big and aspiring for it. I am fortunate to have built a strong research foundation with his guidance which I am sure will always be my strength.

I feel privileged and honored to have my thesis reading committee of Dr. Kentaro Toyama, Dr. Richard Anderson, and Dr. Rosa Arriaga. These are some of the most inspirational and influential researchers in our field. I humbly thank them for providing detailed comments on the thesis and asking important questions about the research on the skill development of ASHAs. I aspire to follow in their footsteps, to create new knowledge on the role of technology in society.

I would like to thank my lab mates and friends in IIIT for making the Ph.D. years memorable: Anupriya, for bringing colors in the lab, Haroon for inspiring us with his sincerity, Prerna and Kirti for their incredible partnership and fun. Jasmeet, Asra, Dheryta, Garvita, Sonia, Milan, Nipun, Manoj, Anil, Vandana, Parikshit, Tania, and Snehil, for being a welcoming bunch of people who provided their helping hand whenever needed and made the lunch and catch up times fun. I would also like to thank IIIT staff – housekeeping, hostel wardens, and administration for their services and making the campus a home-like experience.

I would also like to acknowledge the contribution of all the students who worked in my projects - Deepak, Anushka, Varun, Abhishek, Garima, Pavas, and Mayank. We explored many different things; some worked, others did not. I feel lucky to get the opportunity to mentor these some of the most sincere and talented students of IIIT. I wish them good luck in their careers. I thank my collaborator and mentor Dr. Malolan Chetlur from IBM Research, for his encouragement and support.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to ITRA-Meity, Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation, and iHub-Anubhuti-IIITD Foundation (A Technology Innovation Hub set up by DST under the NM-ICPS scheme) for supporting my work at different stages. Their support was invaluable in completing my thesis work with all the resources that I needed.

Finally, my gratitude goes to my family for their never-ending motivation and support. My parents and brother for always providing that inner strength and inspiration to be a better human being. My husband for sharing this ride and filling me with fun and energy. Thanks to my parents-in-law for encouraging me to pursue my career and providing support throughout. My special thanks to my mother-in-law for her unconditional love and patience. And lastly, my sweetheart son, Yuvansh, for being a part of this journey too.

Table of Contents

List of [Fables
List of I	Figures
Glossar	y
Chapte	r 1: Introduction
1.1	Dissertation Outline
Chapte	r 2: Background
2.1	Community Health Workers
2.2	Context of Study
2.3	ASHA
	2.3.1 Other Cadres of CHWs
2.4	Potential and Challenges in Realizing ASHA Role
Chapte	r 3: Literature Review 15
3.1	Emergence of Voice Applications
3.2	Mobile Technologies in Educational Contexts
3.3	Mobile Technologies for and around CHWs
	3.3.1 Data Collection

	3.3.2 Adherence to Clinical Guidelines	18
	3.3.3 Communication and Supervision	19
	3.3.4 Health Promotion	20
	3.3.5 Training	21
Chapter	4: Proposing and Field Testing <i>Sangoshthi</i> Training Platform	24
4.1	Need Assessment	25
4.2	Design Rationale	26
4.3	Architecture	28
4.4	Research Questions	30
4.5	Field Deployment	31
	4.5.1 Training Topic	31
	4.5.2 Participants	31
	4.5.3 Design Process	33
	4.5.4 Data Collection and Analysis	34
4.6	Findings	36
	4.6.1 System Feasibility	36
	4.6.2 Learning Outcomes	37
	4.6.3 Interaction Component	38
4.7	Usability	42
	4.7.1 System Usage	42
	4.7.2 Training Session Experience	43
4.8	System Usefulness	43

	4.8.1	Cost	44
	4.8.2	Impact on ASHA Routine	44
	4.8.3	System Benefit	45
4.9	Discus	sion	46
4.10	Summ	ary	47
Chapte	r 5: Inv	estigating Opportunities for Peer-to-Peer Learning Model	49
5.1	Peer-to	p-Peer Learning in Prior Work on Constrained Environments	51
5.2	Enhaci	ng Sangoshthi to LEAP	52
	5.2.1	Learning Material	53
	5.2.2	Task Definition	53
	5.2.3	System Components	54
	5.2.4	System Working	55
5.3	Metho	ds	57
	5.3.1	Study Design	57
	5.3.2	Participants	57
	5.3.3	Implementation	58
	5.3.4	Data Collection and Analysis	59
5.4	Result	S	59
	5.4.1	Effect on Knowledge	60
	5.4.2	Peer Learning Aspects	62
	5.4.3	Reflections on the Need to Learn	64
	5.4.4	Impact of Learning Material	65

	5.4.5	Role of Group Facilitator	66
	5.4.6	Missed Opportunities	68
5.5	Discus	ssion	69
	5.5.1	Peer Learning and Scaffolding Scope	69
	5.5.2	Forum to Practice Discourses and Exchange Perspectives	70
	5.5.3	Control Experiments with ASHAs	71
5.6	Summ	ary	72
Chapte	r 6: Un	derstanding Training Needs through a Large-scale Study	73
6.1	Metho	dology	74
	6.1.1	Participants	74
	6.1.2	Intervention Execution	75
	6.1.3	Data Collection and Analysis	77
6.2	Findin	gs	79
	6.2.1	ASHAs Engagement	80
	6.2.2	Question Analysis	82
	6.2.3	Knowledge Seeking Type	83
	6.2.4	Illustration of Knowledge Gaps	86
	6.2.5	Mapping of Questions to Reference Material	93
	6.2.6	Training Experience	97
6.3	Discus	ssion	100
	6.3.1	Improvement in Reference Material	100
	6.3.2	Design Guidelines for Mobile-Based Training Solutions	102

 . 105 . 107 . 108 . 108 . 108 . 109 . 112
107 108 108 109 112
108 108 109 112
108
109
. 112
115
116
116
117
118
119
121
121
122
125
126
127
127
128
128
- - -

Chapter 8: Understanding Opportunities for Conversational Agents in Breast- feeding Education				
8.1	Introdu	uction		
8.2	8.2 Methodology			
	8.2.1	Participants		
	8.2.2	WoZ Architecture		
	8.2.3	Wizard Workflow		
	8.2.4	Chatbot Design		
	8.2.5	WoZ Setup, Session Details and Ethics		
	8.2.6	Data Collection		
8.3	Finding	gs		
	8.3.1	Information Sources and Influence		
	8.3.2	Information seeking		
	8.3.3	User Perceptions		
8.4 Discussion		sion		
	8.4.1	Interaction, Engagement, Trust, and Ecology		
	8.4.2	Design Specific Ethical Considerations		
8.5	Summa	ary		
Chapter	r 9: Dis	cussion & Conclusion		
9.1	Conclu	Iding Remarks		
Append	ix			
Referen	ces			

List of Tables

2.1	Indian Public Health System	11
4.1	Call Drops Summary	37
4.2	Training Sessions Summary	40
4.3	Multiple Linear Regression Results	40
5.1	Characteristics of Group Facilitators	67
6.1	Participants Demographics	75
6.2	Interview Participants Demographics	80
6.3	ASHA Engagement	81
6.4	Distribution of ASHAs' Question Asking Behavior	82
6.5	ASHA Engagement Across Community Health Centers(CHCs)	83
6.6	Question Topics and Frequency	84
6.7	Question Categorization by Severity Level and Type of Information Seeking	85
6.8	Questions Distribution According to Severity	86
6.9	Breastfeeding Queries Typology and Definition	92
6.10	Sample of a partially covered question	94
6.11	Topic Wise Coverage	95

7.1	Topic Coherence Based Comparison of LDA and BTM
7.2	Topics and Labels
7.3	Testing Conditions
7.4	Relevance Judgments on Human Keywords vs Machine Keywords 123
7.5	Relevance Judgments on Human Sentence vs Machine Sentence 123
7.6	Relevance Judgments on Human Keywords vs Human Sentence
7.7	Relevance Judgments on Machine Keywords vs Machine Sentence 124
7.8	Relevance Judgments on Human Keywords vs Machine Sentence 125
7.9	Relevance Judgments on Machine Keywords vs Human Sentence 125
7.10	Preference Judgments
7.11	Relevance Judgments for Theme Classification
8.1	Mothers Demographics
8.2	ASHAs Demographics
8.3	Questions Themes and Topics
9.1	Summary of Dissertation

List of Figures

4.1	Photograph of a live training session, the doctor is sitting in the middle with the host and two staff members.	24
4.2	A monthly meeting of ASHAs in a Primary Health Center in Haryana, India	24
4.3	System Architecture	28
4.4	Android App Interface: first screen displays three options - create session, send trailer call, and start session; second screen is a snapshot of a live session with three participants.	32
4.5	Graph showing the means and error bars in the test scores of the treatment and control groups measured before and after the intervention. The error bars represent standard errors.	39
4.6	Scatter plot for the relationship between the interaction count and test score improvements, Pearson's $r = 0.32$	41
5.1	Task Outline for a Group Learning Session	54
5.2	Overview of <i>LEAP</i>	56
5.3	The user interface of the smartphone application showing the home screen, the screen displaying upcoming session details and a live session with two group members. Here, we show the English translated version of the actual interface which is in Hindi.	56
5.4	Center wise comparison	60
6.1	Histogram of the questions asked by the ASHAs	82
6.2	Topics and sub-topics of questions containing problems of mild severity	89

6.3	Topics and sub-topics of questions containing problems of moderate severity 90
6.4	Topics and sub-topics of questions containing problems of severe severity . 91
7.1	Curation Methodology
7.2	User Interaction Flow
8.1	Wizard-of-Oz Experiment Setup
8.2	User-Wizard Chat Flow
8.3	A Sample of Question-Answer Session
8.4	Snapshots of the Yukti app show the screens of the launch, introduction, interaction scenario, feature explanation and conversation
8.5	The pictures show the session locations for the ASHAs (health dispensary) and mothers (houses) and the wizard set-up
8.6	User Information Seeking

Glossary

- HCI: Human Computer Interaction, a sub-field of computer science
- HCI4D: Human Computer Interaction for Development
- ICTD: Information and Communication Technologies for Development
- IVR: Interactive Voice Response, automated voice calls
- mHealth: Mobile Health, general term for using mobile phones in medical care
- SMS: Short Message Service protocol for sending a text message
- NLP: Natural Language Processing
- WHO: World Health Organization
- LMICs: Low and Middle Income Countries
- CHW: Community Health Worker
- ASHA: Accredited Social Health Activist
- ANM: Auxiliary Nurse Midwife
- AWW: Anganwadi worker
- HBPNC: Home-based Post-Natal Care
- NRHM: National Rural Health Mission
- **NHM**: National Health Mission
- PHC: Primary Health Center
- CHC: Community Health Center
- WoZ: Wizard-of-Oz
- SWACH: Survival for Women and Children, an NGO in India

Chapter 1 Introduction

Maternal and child deaths have declined remarkably globally since 1990; however, they remain high in many low- and middle-income countries (LMICs). India is among the five countries of the world that contribute to nearly half of the deaths [1]. Of the 5.1 million under-five deaths in 2019 and 295,000 maternal deaths in 2017; 824,448 and 35,000 deaths occurred in India [2, 3]. Due to high disparity in the access to simple and affordable life-saving interventions, women and children in the rural areas continue to die from preventable causes [4, 5, 6].

A key strategy that India adopted to address the condition was the commissioning of the National Rural Health Mission in 2005 that involved expanding its Community Health Worker (CHW) program at a national scale [7]. Local village women are selected and trained as community health workers to compensate for the shortage of health professionals and broken links between the primary health system and rural communities. The CHWs are known as Accredited Social Health Activists (ASHA) [7]. The ASHA program is one of the largest CHW programs in the world with 970,676 current apointments [8].

ASHAs help in averting maternal and child deaths by improving access to health services, recognizing danger signs and making timely referrals, and promoting health behaviors [9, 10, 11]. However, ASHAs face challenges in delivering quality services, and their performance have been reported to be sub-optimal [12, 13, 14, 15]. One of the causing factors is inadequate training and supervision. We address the problem of training ASHAs by designing and deploying a mobile-based training tool that is suitable for settings with limited technology infrastructure and literacy levels. We extend the intersection of HCI and frontline health by expanding the focus to the skill development of CHWs through the following three contributions:

- We propose a low-cost mobile training tool for supporting ongoing training of ASHAs in a complementary manner. Typically CHWs belong to settings that are constrained in terms of internet access, literacy, affordability, and infrastructure. Users in these settings mostly own feature phones and prefer voice applications. Relevant to these constraints, there is a rich body of HCI4D literature around Interactive Voice Response (IVR) systems [16, 17, 18, 19]. In particular, interactive voice forums, which allow users to actively produce and consume information with peers through asynchronous discussion forums, have demonstrated impact for various applications [17, 18]. We extend this body of work by employing IVR for synchronous communication to facilitate online training sessions over feature phones. We propose and test the efficacy of the mobile training tool for
- 2. We identify the training gaps by understanding the information needs of ASHAs. The existing studies on ASHAs substantially report on the lack of training support, the challenges in the implementation and the lack of skills of ASHAs [20, 14]; however, they do not inform the information needs of ASHAs from ASHAs' perspective. We fill this gap by collecting and analyzing ASHAs queries through the large-scale deployment of our tool. We further map the queries with the reference material of ASHAs to understand the efficacy of the material.
- 3. We explore the potential of automated techniques in the training and curation of training material in this domain. Due to the constraints of voice-based communication in local languages and lack of automated techniques for the curation, learning material collected from training sessions such as question and answers between ASHAs and experts remain under-utilized. We attempt to address this challenge by proposing a semi-automated approach of categorizing and tagging voice data from low-quality transcripts using natural language processing techniques. The research contributes to the content moderation problem of IVR voice forums in general, which

face sustainability challenges due to dependency on manual methods [21].

Further, we explore the potential of conversational agents for the education of ASHAs and women on Breastfeeding who are first-time chatbot users and have limited digital literacy. Our study uncovers social-cultural influences on breastfeeding information seeking and informs useful design guidelines.

CHWs represent an important user group for HCI and CSCW research. CHWs are mostly low-literate, marginalized women who work informally or as paraprofessionals with the need for continued on-the-job support and skill development. CHWs' position in the communities is instrumental for both the health systems and their communities. Designing for CHWs opens avenues to understand the needs of low-resource settings better.

1.1 Dissertation Outline

We divide our dissertation work into five chapters, starting from the proposal of the tool and its field studies followed by the large-scale study and studies exploring automated techniques for the content curation and using a richer interface for training.

1. **Proposing and field testing a mobile-based training platform**. Based on the literature review on technology-based solutions for the capacity building of CHWs in low-resource settings, we discuss the research gap in chapter 3, followed by the understanding of the design requirements for mobile-based training platforms and development of the tool "*Sangoshthi*" in chapter 4. We present our results of the field study that evaluated the feasibility and efficacy of the tool by providing a training intervention to 20 CHWs in North India. The study was conducted in collaboration with an implementation partner, an NGO, which designed the training content and hosted training sessions. From this pilot study, we collected positive indications for knowledge gains; there was 16% increase in the test scores of the intervention group

as compared to the control group and for the acceptability of the application by the CHWs.

- 2. Investigating opportunities for system-supported peer-to-peer learning. To address the problem of the scarcity of skilled trainers that causes a bottleneck in providing periodic training, we investigated a peer-to-peer learning model. We removed the explicit role of trainers and allowed ASHAs to self-direct their learning using scaffolded group tasks. We evaluated the effectiveness of the design by conducting a between-group study across four health centers (120 CHWs) covering urban slum areas of Delhi state, India, described in chapter 5.
- 3. Investigating the training needs through a large-scale deployment. We further investigated the training needs of CHWs by deploying our system for the training of 500 CHWs. In a period of five months and one week, 144 training sessions were conducted with the collaboration of our implementation partner. We qualitatively probed into the information seeking of CHWs by analyzing 1178 questions asked during the sessions and mapped it with the gaps in the knowledge and skills of CHWs. We also performed a content analysis of the learning reference material of CHWs to understand its efficacy for the sought questions. Along with collecting CHWs' training experiences, we provide design implications for HCI4D researchers for mobile learning platforms targeted towards CHWs. We also provide policy-level suggestions to improve the training of CHWs in India or a similar context. The study is presented in chapter 6.
- 4. Proposing a semi-automated approach for the curation of generated learning material. Our training system is primarily based on voice communication like IVR voice forums, which generates audio data in local languages. Curation of such data is challenging due to the absence of accurate automated transcription methods for non-standard language and hence becomes an impediment in scaling the use. We

proposed a semi-automated approach for clustering and tagging audios that used topic modeling and basic natural language processing techniques on low-quality transcripts. To evaluate the quality, we collected and analysed ratings from 48 community health workers for machine-curated and human-curated audio data presented in form of IVR accessible digital library. The corresponding chapter is 7.

5. Exploring the potential of chatbot-based education for breastfeeding in Indian context. Chatbots are increasingly being seen as democratizing technology. Chatbots provides benefits for digitally low-literate and education purposes. In this study, we explored the potential of chatbots for the education of ASHAs and mothers on Breastfeeding. We understand the initial reactions of the first-time users of chatbots and understand their perceptions on chatbot-based assistance through a Wizard-of-Oz experiment. We involved 22 participants: 12 ASHAs and 10 mothers. In addition to the focus on chatbot-based education, we also develop preliminary understanding on the potential of chatbots for breastfeeding support in Indian contexts by analyzing mothers queries and mothers contexts of information seeking. Chapter 8 discusses the experiment details and our findings.

Chapter 2 Background

This chapter provides background on the CHWs, CHW profile and roles in India, and training challenges associated with CHWs performance.

2.1 Community Health Workers

One of the challenges in providing equitable access to proven life-saving interventions to end preventable deaths is the acute shortage of health workforce in high burden countries. Data for 2013–2018 showed that almost 40% of all countries have fewer than 10 medical doctors per 10 000 people, where 90% of low-income countries suffer from such shortages compared to only 5% of high-income countries [22]. Further, according to the estimates of the WHO Global Strategy on Human Resources for Health: Workforce 2030, it is predicted that by 2030, there is going to be a global shortfall of 18 million health workers, primarily in low-income and lower-middle-income countries [23].

To address this challenge, a global strategy is to increase the capacity of the existing health workforce through "task-shifting" approach [24]. This involves rational delegation and redistribution of tasks among health workforce teams. Specific tasks where appropriate are shifted from highly qualified professionals to less qualified workers to make efficient use of available human resources for health. In this context of task shifting that community health workers are gaining recognition [25, 26]. WHO defines CHWs as "Members of the community, selected by and answerable to the community they work for, and supported by the health system but with shorter training than professional health workers" [27]. Although the fundamental characteristics of the definition are universal, depending on program goals, variations may be found across and within countries in the roles, responsibilities, training, recruitment, and compensation. For example, CHW can be men or

women, salaried or volunteers, literates or illiterates depending on the conditions and contexts of different regions [27]. CHWs, in some cases, are involved in a wide range of tasks of types- preventive, curative, and developmental; in other cases are appointed for very specific interventions. Some of the titles used for CHWs are frontline health workers, lady health workers, accredited health social activists, lay health aides, community midwives, health promoters, volunteer health workers, etc. [27].

Literature conceptualizes two roles of CHWs. First is that of service extension workers, whereby CHWs assist health professionals in rendering basic services to under-served settings such as immunization, treating minor illnesses and making referrals in case of serious problems, and promoting health [28, 26]. The second is that of activists, whereby CHWs act as social and cultural intermediaries between the existing health system and the community [29]. CHWs mobilize their communities in addressing social and cultural barriers to health.

Maternal and child health is a core focus area for CHWs in low- and middle-income countries [30, 11]. As fellow women in the same community, CHWs are seen as a vehicle and trusted partner to women in navigating health systems and overcoming socio-cultural barriers. Studies evaluating the contribution of CHWs across different settings have reported a positive impact in reducing child morbidity and mortality, increasing uptake of immunization, and promoting breastfeeding practices [11, 10]. CHWs have also been recognized to improve utilization of antenatal, perinatal and post-partum services , and preventing perinatal maternal deaths and early recognition of complications during pregnancy [11, 31, 32, 33]. Based on these successes and the urgency to respond to the crisis of human resources for health CHWs, there is a renewed focus on CHW programs [34, 24]. There are increasingly global calls for improving support systems for CHWs and accelerating efforts to fully tap the potential of CHWs. As a result, CHW programs are expanding and formalized. Many countries in Southeast Asia and Africa, including India are implementing CHW programs at large scales [35].

However, there are a multiple challenges with CHW programs. Some of the common concerns that have been voiced with regard to the performance of CHWs in the literature are: (i) despite the evidence that CHWs improve coverage of health services and can implement effective interventions, the services provided are not consistent in quality and often sub-optimal [12, 14, 20]. (ii) There is a high need of improving the selection, training and on-the-job support to enable CHWs make effective contribution [36, 12, 15, 37]. (ii) Working on the peripheries, CHW programs are vulnerable and need firm methods for the institutionalization and mainstreaming of community participation and thereby recognition of CHWs work [36, 13] (iv) Volunteerism and remuneration of CHWs has remained debatable. Given that CHWs mostly are of poor backgrounds, volunteerism has been questioned for its sustainability [36, 13]. Lack of expected compensation for CHWs services which usually are equivalent to full-time duties has been reported as a motivation issue and cause for high dropouts [13].

We will focus on the training challenge in the context of India.

2.2 Context of Study

Our study is based in India, which is among the bottom five countries with the maximum number of child deaths and has substantial variations in the magnitude and rate of decline in mortality across its regions. The rural areas where 70% of the population lives, faces the greatest burden of mortalities. According to National Family Health Survey-4, underfive mortality rates for rural areas is 56 deaths per 1,000 live births as compared to 34 deaths per 1,000 live births in urban areas [38]. The difference between the richest and the poorest is threefold with 23 per 1000 live birth in the highest wealth quintile to 72 deaths per 1000 live births in the lowest wealth quintile [38]. There is also a high disparity in health coverage. For instance, 92% of women in Andaman Nicobar state made at least four antenatal contacts (the minimum number recommended by WHO) compared to 14% in Bihar, nearly 100% deliveries in Puducherry state were institutional compared to around

50% in Meghalaya [39].

Further, the acute shortages of health workers and their uneven distribution make healthcare challenging to access. According to Rural Health Statistics, the density of doctors, nurses, and midwives in urban areas (13.9 and 15.1 per 10000 population) are three times higher than in rural areas (3.9 and 4.1 per 10,000 population) [40].

In response to the poor condition of maternal and child in rural regions and prevailing inequities in healthcare access, the government of India launched National Rural Health Mission (NRHM) in 2005 [41, 15]. As part of this, the country revived its CHW program by creating a new band of CHWs known as ASHA (Accredited Social Health Activist) [7, 15]. An ASHA is a village woman turned into a health worker to meet the health needs of the community. The program was first started for 18 high focus states out of 28 states and later expanded for the rest [42]. Currently, on average, an ASHA serves a population of 1000 that typically corresponds to a village. With nearly 1 million ASHAs (970,676), it is one of the largest national community health worker programs in the world [43].

The Indian rural healthcare system exists in three tiers as shown in the table 2.1, the ASHAs work at the lowest level.

2.3 ASHA

An ASHA is a village-level worker, a woman recruited on a voluntary basis from the village by the local government and village representatives. Typically, an ASHA is in the age group of 25-45 years and educated up to middle-school level (10th grade) [7]. However, wherever the education criterion is not met, ASHAs with low education are also selected. The primary responsibilities of an ASHA lie across three functions: promoting access to health services, building awareness on healthy behaviors, and providing basic curative care [7]. Examples of some of the related activities are registering pregnant women, facilitating antenatal contacts, counseling women on birth preparedness, and providing escort services for delivery; making home visits to new mothers during the postnatal period to monitor the

Health Facility	Description	Staff
Sub-Centre (SC)	Most peripheral unit and the first contact point between the primary health-care system and the community. A SC covers a population of 5000 people (approx 5-6 villages)	one ANM and a Male Multipurpose Worker (MPW).
Primary Health Centre (PHC)	4-6 bedded and acts as a referral unit for 5-6 sub-centres, covers a population of 25000-30000	1-2 doctor, nurses, ANMs compounder and other staff
Community Health Centre (CHC)	30-bedded hospital, acts as referral for 4 PHCs, covers a population of 120,000	5-6 doctors including specialists nurses and paramedical staff more than PHC
District Hospital	One per district 75 to 500 beds depending on the size, terrain and population the district	Specialists for different types of healthcare with
	of	adequate number of nurses
		and paramedical staff

Table 2.1: Indian Public Health System

health and making referrals when necessary; facilitating immunization drive and monthly village level meetings for health promotion [7].

ASHAs do not receive any fixed salary but are paid performance-based cash incentives, the amount of which differs according to the nature of the service, e.g., 700 INR or US \$11 for mobilizing and accompanying a pregnant woman for institutional delivery, 250 INR or US \$3.4, for undertaking each home visit during the first 40 days after childbirth (total six visits) [44].

To become an ASHA, the woman receives an induction training of 23 days in five episodes which completes within a year [7, 45]. The first round ends in seven to eight days, followed by four rounds of four days each. The induction training is followed by a periodic training of 12 days (for about two days once every alternate month) for upgrading and refreshing knowledge and skills [7, 46]. The general training model follows a cascade approach that involves training layers of trainers at different health system levels to train ASHAs at the lowest level finally.

2.3.1 Other Cadres of CHWs

There are two other female cadres of CHWs who work closely with ASHAs, Auxiliary Nurse Midwife (ANM) and Anganwadi worker (AWW). ANMs have been part of the

health system since 1950, work at the sub-center level, the lowest of the three-tier primary health care system of India (covers a population of 3000-5000, which is typically four-five villages). ANMs are permanent government employees and receive fixed salaries. They receive 1.5 to 2 years of midwifery training. Almost all functions of ASHAs are associated with ANMs [45, 15]. ASHAs report their task details to ANM. Depending on the area size of a sub-center, each ANM is supported by four or five ASHAs. ANMs are supposed to take weekly or fortnightly meetings with ASHAs to review work done and guide ASHAs [45, 15]. Unlike ASHAs, ANMs do not reside in the villages that they serve; instead travel to villages on different days, particularly for outreach sessions such as monthly village meetings, etc.

Anganwadi workers (AWWs), on the other hand, were introduced later in 1970 under the Integrated Child Development Service (ICDS) program to improve the nutritional status of children [45]. An AWW works at a village level where she is primarily responsible for running a center called *Aganwadi*. At this center, AWW provides pre-school education to children between 3 and 5 years old and food supplements to children below the age of six, adolescent girls, pregnant and lactating women [45, 15]. Like ASHAs, AWWs are selected from the villages they serve; however, they receive monthly salaries.

ASHAs are the newest addition to the cadres of CHWs who were primarily introduced to fill the gap. Before ASHAs, ANMs were heavily overworked at the health centers with a limited scope of directly reaching the communities, and AWW responsibilities were mainly tied to center-based activities. These three cadres work together in various activities with a key role in facilitating Village Health, Sanitation and Nutrition Days (VHSND), which are conducted once a month in every village to bring multi-sectoral convergence as an interface between the community and the health system [47]. The ASHAs, AWWs, ANMs, along with other village representatives, mobilize villagers, mostly women, and children, to assemble at the nearest Aganwadi center to interact with health personnel, obtain information and services.

2.4 Potential and Challenges in Realizing ASHA Role

In this section, we will elaborate on the potential and strengths of ASHAs in addressing child morbidities and mortalities through a salient activity of home visitations and how these remain under-realized due to lack of skills.

Based on the strength and supporting evidence from studies that showed that homebased newborn care interventions could prevent up to 30-60% of the mortalities [48, 49, 50], WHO and UNICEF jointly issued a statement in 2009 for incorporating home-based newborn care strategy for preventing newborn deaths in high mortality settings where access to facility-based care at birth is low and the quality of care is poor [50].

India implements the home visitation approach for both pregnancy and postnatal period [46]. Once a woman is identified as pregnant, an ASHA is supposed to make contacts with her to ensure she receives minimum ante-natal checkups, make an appropriate birth plan for institutional delivery, and avails associated cash incentives [45]. After child-birth, an ASHA is supposed to make 6-7 postnatal visits to help new mothers with postnatal complications, exclusive breastfeeding, newborn care practices, and keep a check on danger signs and provide extra care to pre-mature and low birth weight newborns. [46]. Home-based Postnatal Care (HBPNC) is a central part of the ASHA profile.

While several trials provide clear evidence in favor of home-based postnatal visits impacting mortality reduction, the effects have not been translated to programs delivered at scale yet [51]. The two most prominent difficulties in achieving the effectiveness are lack of high coverage and sub-optimal performance of CHWs in ensuring the quality of care. Various studies assessing the quality of HBPNC provided by ASHAs confirm it to be poor [12, 52, 53, 14, 54]. The study by Sinha et al. observed 19 home visits of ASHAs and assessed the quality on 15 parameters [55]. The study found less than 50% of the ASHAs to follow the practices of washing hands before handling babies, advising mothers on danger signs, Kangaroo care, and eye care. None of the ASHAs used the pictorial flip chart to explain safe practices to the mothers. Das et al. observed that ASHAs failed to perform newborn assessment comprehensive and under-diagnosed severe illnesses in more than 80% of instances [56].

A primary reason behind the poor performance of ASHAs is the lack of sufficient opportunities for knowledge and skill development. The current training mechanisms lack in upgrading ASHAs skills on a continued basis. After the initial fixed training, the ongoing training that is "in-service" or "refresher" training is not delivered regularly. Some of the highlighted problems are poor infrastructure, lack of skilled trainers, institutional problems in implementation, and training strategy [57]. For instance, inadequate fund release, lack of coordination with third parties, and space constraints cause inordinate delays in training schedule [57]. Sometimes ASHA batches become operational in the fields with no training for a long period of time. The cascade training strategy of training multiple layers of trainers affect training quality and duration [57].

Further, the on-the-job supervision is also in poor condition. Although formally it is articulated that ASHAs supervisors routinely guide ASHAs by occasionally accompanying them in their home visits and meeting frequently, it does not happen in practice. Dedicated forums such as monthly meetings in which all the ASHAs under a PHC (around 30) meet their supervisors are not effectively executed. The meetings miss out on the skill development component and remain driven towards supervisory activities [58]. The scope of interaction with doctors in the facilities is limited as they are overburdened with patients. Overall, ASHAs do not have access to dedicated forums to get answers to their queries or improve their knowledge and often rely on each other in an ad-hoc manner to conduct their duties [58]. This leads to ASHAs handling the field cases with limited knowledge and skills, which in turn hamper their confidence and ultimately credibility in the eyes of communities [59].

Chapter 3

Literature Review

Mobile phones offer multiple opportunities to address the barriers to accessing digital services in constrained environments. Now more than 97% of the world's population has come under mobile network coverage, with 5.2 billion unique mobile subscribers and 8 billion total subscribers [60, 61]. This provides a critical infrastructure to reach those people who have remained dis-connected till now. However, the major challenges in enabling state-of-the-art digital services are low-literacy, unaffordability, and limited or lack of internet connectivity. Smartphones have started to penetrate in poor settings, but still, it is the feature phone that most people own [62]. Technologies that are available on feature phones have been therefore proved more feasible and relevant, e.g., Interactive Voice Response and SMS. There are diverse areas of applications where services for feature phones have been designed. In this chapter, we will discuss the related HCI4D, ICTD, and mHealth research that influence this dissertation work with a focus on CHWs and the existing gaps.

3.1 Emergence of Voice Applications

Unlike the increasing dominance of the Web in developed settings, rural and poor settings still accrue benefits from traditional modes of communication - radio, TVs, and print to obtain global information. Recognizing that oral communication has an intuitive appeal to low-literate people, researchers have investigated various voice-based services. Initial services focused on improving access to static information sources by allowing users to retrieve desired information by giving voice commands or touchtone input [63, 64]. Subsequent services enabled users to also produce and share information in the form of voice forums. In this line of work, Avaaj Otalo was a seminal work that contributed to understanding the applicability and use of online communities for rural populations [17]. The

study proposed an interactive, asynchronous voice forum for farmers in rural India. The field deployment found the question and answer service as the most used feature wherein the farmers frequently posted and listened to others' questions on a range of agriculture topics. The simple design of calling a toll-free number and recording and listening to others' voice messages received wide acceptance, letting even the non-literate users participate in informative dialogues with peers and experts.

The later works extended to cover other important areas of information needs such as civic engagement [18, 65, 66], health [16, 67, 68], employment [69], education [70], and social network [21].

However, despite the demonstrated effectiveness of IVR systems, no work addressed the training and education needs of non-qualified workers such as CHWs. We will discuss in detail the state of prior work on education in the next sub-section.

3.2 Mobile Technologies in Educational Contexts

As computers ventured into developing countries, there was widespread enthusiasm to revolutionize education in low-resource settings. Many ambitious, techno-centric initiatives were laid to equip rural schools with low-cost computers, e.g., One Laptop per Child [71, 72, 73], Hole in the Wall [74], ClassmatePC [75], etc. However, the projects did not attain the expected outcomes and faced criticism for not integrating with the existing infrastructures well [76].

Mobile phones offer the convenience of expanding learning opportunities to more informal forums and a wide range of learners. Several literacy interventions have been designed using mobile devices. Kam et al. performed multiple studies designing game-based applications for language learning of rural children [77, 78]. Madaio et al. studied the use of an IVR literacy system for children by engaging parents [79, 79]. Several other studies have focused on using e-readers, tablets, and smartphones in the classroom and after-school environments [80, 81, 82] and how teachers perspective should be considered in designing educational technologies [83, 84]. However, despite the fact that feature phones are still the most preferred choice for learning in low-resource settings [85], and demonstrated success of IVR systems for information exchange, there are few investigations in educational contexts. Moreover, educational technologies in low-resource communities have primarily concentrated on students. Adult learners, particularly para-professionals like CHWs who have low-education backgrounds and need in-service learning opportunities have remained under-studied.

3.3 Mobile Technologies for and around CHWs

The ubiquity of mobile devices is increasingly being recognized as a scalable way to improve healthcare functions and health access disparities [86]. Given that CHWs play a key role in frontline healthcare and often have to work in fields with minimum supervision, mobile-based tools hold a great scope to assist CHWs in a range of services [87, 88]. We discuss this and the related mHealth projects by categorizing the prior work in fives categories as follows.

3.3.1 Data Collection

Collecting data is one of the most frequent activities that CHWs perform. There are many forms of data collection such as conducting household surveys, routine reporting to clinics, and supervisory reports. Typically, the data is first collected on paper-forms and then transferred into a computer database. This process is time-consuming and prone to errors at the steps of storage and aggregation [89]. To overcome these, a variety of mobile interfaces have been explored. Among the early works on digitization, PDA-based systems became popular for survey management [89]. These applications provided benefits in implementing branching logic and reducing transcription errors. However, these were still mainly proprietary and not flexible for adapting to different requirements [90]. Parikh et al. addressed the limitations by offering a first programmable system, CAM, that used camera

phones and visual codes for facilitating users in data collection in offline and online modes [90]. As the mobile devices advanced in computing capability, this design space was expanded by Hartung et al., who proposed Open Data Kit (ODK), an extensible, open-source suite of tools designed to build information services for developing regions [91]. Leading into a series of academic evaluations on scanning [92], data entry, and sensing [93] and real-world deployments [91] and commercial products [94]. Commcare [95] was another popular platform for Java-enabled feature phones for data collection that has been used a number of studies [96, 97, 98].

Digitization has also been applied to improve supply chains. Maintaining good supply chains has been a core challenging area for the health systems in LMICs. The use of inexpensive SMSs in data collection and reporting has been found to be effective. Perrier et al. proposed a system for Cold Chain Information System (CCIS) for monitoring vaccine stocks and status in Laos [99]. Another study, SMS for Life, used text messages to track stocks of anti-malarial drugs in Kenya [100]. Multiple projects in African regions have been actively using SMS as a component in managing supplies, e.g., Tanzania's Integrated Logistic System (ILS), Kenya's Mission for Essential Drugs, and Supplies (MEDS), Benin's Cola Life, etc. [101], and RapidSMS, a platform providing comprehensive services for data collection, and streamlining workflows [102].

Together these and recent other studies highlight digitization of data collection to be a challenging task. Going completely paperless is difficult and sometimes not relevant. Factors - workplace practice change, lack of comfort with digital devices, low education levels, and the complexities of contexts in which data collection activities are performed need close attention [103, 104].

3.3.2 Adherence to Clinical Guidelines

Studies have shown that job aids and decision support to health workers improve their performance. Specifically, they help improve adherence to clinical guidelines, which in turn

has a direct impact on reducing mortalities. Integrated Management of Childhood Illness (IMCI), a child survival strategy, has shown a significant reduction in several countries [105, 106]. However, clinical guidelines are commonly not fully followed [107, 108].

Mobile applications can guide health workers through complex decision-support protocols and clinical algorithms by presenting questions systematically. The study in Tanzania that used an e-IMCI program over PDA found significant improvement in clinicians' adherence to protocols compared to the traditional methods [109].

Further, mobile-based assistance is also considered as a cost-effective strategy to complement existing methods to address non-adherence - in-service training, auditing, and quality improvement schemes [110]. Zurovac et al. assessed the effect of the text-message reminder system on the adherence of CHWs to treatment guidelines for outpatient pediatric malaria in Kenya [110]. The randomized control trial found a substantial effect on the completion of dispensing and counseling tasks. To investigate the drivers of the change, their follow-up study analyzed perceptions of the health workers [111]. The results suggested active delivery of up-to-date information in an on-the-job setting as an important factor influencing the practice.

3.3.3 Communication and Supervision

Supervision has been reported as one of the most neglected and under-resourced components in community health programs [112]. The key causes include lack of recognition of CHWs' role, lack of tools, transport difficulty, and overburdened administrative duties of supervisors [112].

Researchers have employed mobile technology to improve the communication workflow and monitoring of duties. Derenzi et al. proposed an automated SMS-based reminder system that reminded CHWs daily for the visits and escalated to supervisors in case of overdue [113]. The randomized control trials showed the effect of the system in reducing the overdue visits by 85%. Till this time, the majority of the SMS-based information systems were one-way in communication, with no feedback mechanisms for CHWs [110, 111]. The later studies attempted to close the feedback loop by enabling CHWs self-track their performance [114, 115] using IVR and mobile-web application. The intervention noticed a 21% improvement in the visits.

3.3.4 Health Promotion

Even where healthcare services are adequately and freely available, the persistence of low utilization is a key impediment to make progress towards target SDG goals. Lack of awareness delays care-seeking and increases the risk of deaths.

Health messaging has been identified as an effective strategy to directly educate families. Numerous projects have used one-way or two-way text messaging to provide health information [116, 117, 118]. One of the largest mHealth projects in maternal health is MomConnect, a flagship program of the South African National Department of Health [119]. The project has reached over 1.5 million pregnant women. The program registers pregnancies into the central system and provides a service that sends stage-based health messages on pregnancy, postpartum, and infant care. Similar to this, other examples are Kilkari [120] and mMitra in India (IVR-based calling system) [121], and Aponjon in Bangladesh (SMS-based) [122].

CHWs are a key player in health promotion in India and have participation in a variety of community health programs. Increasing we are seeing HCI researchers attempting to unpack the potential and vital role of CHWs. Ismail et al. shed light on the situated knowledge of CHWs in their ability to understand partial knowledges of their community members and the barriers to healthcare [123]. To assist CHWs in their dialogue with families on health behaviors, mobile videos have emerged to be a prominent technique. Ramachandran et al. investigated mobile videos as a means of persuasion and motivation [124]. CHWs were provided short instructional health videos on their phones for augmenting their home visits. The study found a positive impact on the motivation of CHWs and conversation with
the families. The study by Fiore-Silfvast et al. further confirmed the usefulness of such videos in the workflow of CHWs by understanding their perspective on technology adoption [125]. It discussed in detail the complexity of nurse midwives' experiences in their working environment, pedagogical aspects of video watching, and issues of authority and patient trust.

While most of the prior works around mobile videos provided expert-made videos to CHWs, Molapo et al. focused on empowering health professionals in rural areas to create and distribute their content [126]. The authors proposed a PC-based software application that allowed to creation of non-textual digital content. In their later work, the authors conducted a longitudinal study to understand consumption patterns of videos, attrition causes, and the role of CHW engagement on long-term usage [127]. Kumar et al. studied the integration of the model community-led video (CVE) education being used in the "Projecting health" initiative within the communities practices and existing social-cultural configurations [128]. Within the context of this project, in their other related studies, the authors investigate trade-offs associated with localization approaches of video-content production [129] and the practices of mobile media consumption and sharing [130].

Mobile Kunji, a notable mHealth project in India, innovatively uses flashcards to design an audio-visual aid accessible over feature phones [131]. It is a toolkit covering information on 11 life-saving maternal and child health behaviors. The interface has two components: a deck of 40 cards with illustrations and unique codes imprinted on each card. During home visits, the CHWs augment her dialogue with women by following the cards and dialing the given codes to play out pre-recorded audio messages spoken by a doctor.

3.3.5 Training

WHO suggests that to enable CHWs function successfully, they must receive regular training and supervision [27]. However, as highlighted by several studies conducted across multiple geographic contexts, the provision of training is currently inadequate, and the most neglected phase of training is ongoing training [37, 132, 133]. Ongoing training includes 'in-service' or 'refresher' training, defined as "follow on training received after a period of initial training". In-service training has varied in frequency, method, and quality. For example, a study assessing ongoing training of CHWs in Uganda reports that despite the guidelines of USAID Health Care Improvement Project of providing refresher training at least once every six-month [134], yet in many areas, CHWs did not receive for five years [135]. Similar kinds of delays have been observed in India [57].

Alternative training methods supported by technology can be good alternatives to understand the gaps and support existing training deficiencies. However, there is a paucity of research in this direction. The works discussed so far, while aim towards improving the functions and performance of CHWs, still do not address the problem of ongoing training directly. A recent study provides an evidence mapping for the period between 2000 and 2018 on the use of mobile technologies to train community health workers (CHWs) in LMICs across nine areas of global healthcare [136]. Even though the study interpreted the definition of training to be broad, also including workplace-based learning activities such as decision-support, provider–provider communication, collaboration, provider work planning and scheduling, and data collection and reporting, some of which we discussed in the above subsections, the resultant evidence-map showed clear gaps in training. 53% of the areas covered by the evidence map only have a single or no study at all.

When we started our research in 2016, there was no study in the academic setting targeting the training and education of CHWs. In 2017, two studies came, one by Javaid et al. that examined the effect of animated video-based learning on the knowledge levels of CHWs in Pakistan [137] and another by Bhowmick et al. that designed and evaluated a virtual-reality interface for training in India [138]. However, both these were limited to studying the usability of the interface on a small set of users.

The main work in this space has been non-academic, the mHealth projects run by nonprofit and government organizations. These applications commonly address the access to information and provision of supplementary training (e.g., refresher training courses). For example, the Millennium Village Project in Uganda facilitates continuing education to CHWs by making training modules available in mobile file formats [139]. CHWs can reinforce their learning by reading the modules, taking tests, and receiving immediate feedback. TulaSalud in Guatemala provides distance education through digital learning material and teleconferencing to community auxiliary nurses [140]. Mobile Academy in India aims to upgrade CHWs' knowledge on healthy life-saving behaviors through an IVR-based audio training course [141], and CapacityPlus project deliver refresher training in spaced education format in Senegal through an IVR-based mLearning system [142].

Overall the role of mobile technology in the training of CHWs in LMICs remains poorly understood. Despite the fundamental role CHWs play in addressing healthcare gaps in LMICs and the urgent calls for improving the weakness in training and supervision of CHWs, HCI research has lagged. This dissertation addresses this lacuna by proposing a mobile-based training and learning platform for CHWs in India and investigating the training needs through real-world deployments.

Chapter 4

Proposing and Field Testing Sangoshthi Training Platform







Figure 4.2: A monthly meeting of ASHAs in a Primary Health Center in Haryana, India

In this chapter we introduce *Sangoshthi*, a low-cost mobile-based training platform for ASHAs in India. We present the results of a month-long training intervention provided to 20 ASHAs using our platform ¹. Total 12 sessions were conducted on the ten topics of Home-Based Postnatal care. Figure 4.1 is a photograph of one of the training session. All the photographs presented in the thesis were taken with the consent of the participants with permission to publish in the thesis.

Through this study, we make three contribution. First, for the first time, we use and demonstrate the effectiveness of IVR in facilitating live interaction sessions for training and learning purpose in a constrained setting. So far, prior studies in similar environments have used IVR in supporting asynchronous modes of communication e.g. voice forums [17, 18] except our own previous study Kazakos et al. where we proposed the synchronous

¹Deepika Yadav, Pushpendra Singh, Kyle Montague, Vijay Kumar, Deepak Sood, Madeline Balaam, Drishti Sharma, Mona Duggal, Tom Bartindale, Delvin Varghese, Patrick Olivier. 2017. Sangoshthi: Empowering Community Health Workers through Peer Learning in Rural India. In *Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on World Wide Web*, WWW, 499–508.

use of IVR for community-led chat shows. Second, we show that low-end, contextualized technological solutions can produce positive learning outcomes in resource-constrained settings. And finally, we inform about the perceptions of the trainers and ASHAs on the use of such mobile-training alternatives.

Since the underlying communication structure of the system is derived from audio conference call, we named our platform *Sangoshthi*, a Hindi word that means a conference meeting.

4.1 Need Assessment

After identifying the research gap of the lack of tools for supporting the training and learning of CHWs, we set out to understand the requirements. We aimed to understand the settings in which ASHAs work, ASHAs' views on existing modes of training and associated challenges, and the scope for technology-based solutions. To do this, we collaborated with a non-profit organization - SWACH, in the Haryana state of North India [143]. SWACH has been working in the area of maternal and child health since 1988 and has led a range of projects relating to improving the quality of childbirth and newborn care practices in primary health centers, capacity building of ASHAs, assisting high-risk pregnancy cases and birth defects, and raising awareness on maternal health. SWACH works to strengthen the implementation of government programs by working hand in hand with the government functionaries at different levels ranging from ASHAs, ANMs to district hospital level doctors. The population covered by SWACH is 1.5 million (approximately 100 villages) spanning across two districts - Ambala and Yamuna Nagar, and the total number of ASHAs associated are 1650. The executive director of SWACH, also the founding member, is a pediatrician doctor with 54 years of extensive experience in medical practice, teaching, training, and consulting, including serving WHO southeast Asia Region as a director.

Our discussions with the SWACH team identified important factors to consider for a technology-based design. Two key components in conducting face-to-face training are

the creation of a standard content and its delivery to the ASHAs timely and uniformly. Traditionally, this is achieved by calling batches of ASHAs at their nearest health centers (as shown in the figure '4.2). Three prominent factors of consideration here are cost, time, and transportation. The cost at the organizers' end to arrange for the training space, trainers fees, incentives for ASHAs for attending sessions, and other logistics. Time management for ASHAs who, in addition to their duties, are overloaded with household tasks. Since a single day of a training session, on average, spans over 6-7 hours, the frequency needs to be planned carefully. Further, commuting to the training center is not a trivial task for some ASHAs who live in areas having infrequent and inconvenient mediums of public transport. Further, the training quality gets hampered by the cascade model of the training that is 'train the trainers'. One group trains another group, who then go on to train others to train ASHAs ultimately. While this approach is necessary to manage the shortage of human resources, it leads to considerable loss of quality in training.

Further, we conducted a focus group with 15 ASHAs to collect ASHAs views on the training, monthly meetings, and existing training materials. We found that although the ASHAs liked the training material, they considered that better understanding comes from the discussion of these materials. They also reported that the allocated time for meetings is not sufficient to address all their queries individually. As a result, 'peer ASHAs' become the first point of contact for discussion. These peer discussions are sometimes face-to-face, when ASHAs encounter one another in the field, but are also mediated through phone calls. Phone call communication among ASHAs happens actively, also because they are provided official SIM cards with a monthly free recharge of 100 INR talk-time.

4.2 Design Rationale

Based on our need assessment, we could identify three requirements to design a technologybased solution. First, a distance learning approach to avoid travel overhead for ASHAs and save overall training cost. Second, use mobile phones as the primary medium as all ASHAs have access to atleast basic phones and are provided SIM cards for official communication. And third is to leverage peer-to-peer learning, which is the primary source of learning for ASHAs in their routine. These three factors have been also well-recognized by the prior studies that used mobile phones for CHWs in similar contexts, for instance, mobile videos for client counselling [144], mobile-based data collection [96, 109], and mobile applications for improving the workflows [112, 114].

Combining these would mean designing a peer-based mobile-learning system. The key constraints to be considered here are the low-literacy of ASHAs and the type of phones owned by ASHAs. The education levels of ASHAs are low, typically an ASHA has schooling up to 10th standard, but this can go as low as being illiterate. So, the minimum standard that was appropriate to assume is number-literacy. The phones owned by ASHAs is basic, which mainly supports calling and messaging. Thus, suggesting employing technologies that are universally available, e.g., IVR and SMS.

As discussed in the previous chapter, prior work on IVR and SMSs in applications for constrained environments is rich. IVR allows for the delivery of richer information than SMS and support peer-to-peer network as demonstrated by voice forum applications - Avaaj Otalo [17], CGNETSwara [18], etc. So far, IVR had been used for supporting asynchronous communication whereby users could access voice information sources and interact with other users through voice message boards in an offline manner. Adopting this design for a teaching and learning environment would limit supporting a passive form of learning. However, we instead wanted to incorporate elements of active learning by allowing live interaction between the trainers and learners in a fashion similar to classes where instructors and students engage in discussion.

This particular idea of using IVR for synchronous communication originated from our prior study in which we explored the use of telephony to facilitate the creation of community radio chat shows for discussion on health topics in rural India [145]. The system customizes the usual conference call and uniquely integrates it with a smartphone applica-



Figure 4.3: System Architecture

tion to provide a low-end mobile interface for creating and hosting chat shows. Like a radio chat program, there can be three kinds of participants - a show host, a show guest, and listeners. Through the smartphone app, the show host connects with the listeners, broadcasts audio content and moderates discussion between the show guest and the listeners.

Feature-wise, the system supported two of our essential needs. First, the system was affordable, easy to set up, did not impose the need to procure any additional digital device. Running the system required a single smartphone, a computer, an internet connection on the trainer's side, and access to ordinary phones (either landline or basic phone) on the ASHAs' side. We built upon this platform by using it and then enhancing it further for the training and learning purpose.

4.3 Architecture

Sangoshthi is based on a client-server architecture (see Figure 5.2) and has two different types of clients: trainer host and participant ASHAs. The trainer host client is an android

application that runs on an android-based smartphone or tablet and requires Internet connectivity. The aim of this application is to manage the training sessions and ASHAs' participation in the sessions. The trainer host client allows the host to: (i) create sessions and register ASHAs, (ii) start an online training session; (iii) broadcast and control media play in an ongoing session; (iv) monitor the duration of a training session; (v) view the number of connected ASHAs and ASHAs who want to express their opinion or have a query for the trainer expert; and (vi) selectively mute and unmute ASHAs to moderate group discussion.

The back-end of the platform consists of a server that is hosted in our institute and accepts requests from the android app client over the public internet (refer to figure 5.2). The back-end is built on top of a number of open source technologies, including FreeSWITCH, MongoDB running on a Linux (Ubuntu) server. The server code written using Python language communicates with the android client app over sockets using ZeroMQ protocol. The telephony part of the system is implemented through Freeswitch, which is an opensource software-defined telecom stack [146]. Freeswitch communicates with the rest of the server programs through its event socket interface. The incoming request packets from the android app client, e.g., call participants, mute a participant, are passed to a controller program, which in turn calls appropriate callback functions of the conference module of Freeswitch using the event socket library. We use the VOIP-GSM gateway service from a third party to connect participant ASHAs in session calls over the cellular network (Doorvaani.com). The backward communication flows from the conference events (e.g., DTMF inputs, call drop, call reconnection) captured by the Freeswitch, listened by the conference event listener thread, and passed to the android app client. The server programs simultaneously log relevant events in the database and store session recordings.

To handle the challenge of low-network bandwidth, our system uses separate channels for the transfer of voice and non-voice data packets. Instead of using VOIP (Voice over Internet Protocol) through a SIP account configured in the android app client, we used the GSM channel for voice transfer. The non-voice data packets (app requests to the server), on the other hand, transferred over the internet.

The workflow of the system for a training session is as follows. To host a session with the learners, the host, through the app, first register the phone numbers of the interested ASHAs, creates a session id for a specific day and time, and then broadcasts a trailer to inform the registered ASHAs for the upcoming session. The trailer here is a phone call. After that, on the scheduled day and time of the created session, when the host sends a start session request, the server connects all the ASHAs and the host in a conference call over the cellular network. In this conference call, by default, all the ASHAs are made to enter in mute mode and can only hear the host's voice. The host, after the delivery of the content, invites ASHAs to interact with the expert by expressing their opinion. To be able to speak, an ASHA has to press "1" in her phone, which generates a DTMF event. On the occurrence of these DTMF events, the server captures the phone numbers of the ASHAs who pressed "1" and then sends them to the android app in the order of first come first serve. The android app then displays the last three digits of these phone numbers using which the host can select ASHAs and send unmute requests to the server one by one. This way, the session allows a structured interactive session avoiding overlaps of voices happening in usual phone-based conference calls.

4.4 **Research Questions**

Our goal was to test the feasibility and potential of the proposed system by providing a mobile training intervention to ASHAs in rural India. We guided our study with three research questions.

- **RQ1** Is the proposed system feasible for conducting training sessions in rural India?
- **RQ2** What is the effectiveness of the Sangoshthi training in terms of learning outcomes for ASHAs?
- **RQ3** Is the system usable and useful for ASHAs and trainers?

4.5 Field Deployment

We planned to conduct a control field study to test our research questions. This involved working closely with the NGO for designing the interfaces, conducting workshops, planning, and deploying the system. Throughout the study period, I made frequent visits to the NGO, which is in Chandigarh, 244km away from our institute, and also stayed there for multiple weeks.

4.5.1 Training Topic

For the training topic, we decided to choose Home-Based Postnatal Care (HBPNC) that aligns with the official training curriculum of ASHAs and has been identified as one of the most critical areas for improving the skills of ASHAs. Under HBPNC, ten topics were selected and prepared namely (a) exclusive breastfeeding; (b) play & communication with newborn; (c) excessive crying in newborn; (d) danger signs in newborn; (e) Danger Signs in mother; (f) hands hygiene; (g) temperature control in newborn; (h) mother-child protection card; (i) depression in mother after childbirth; (j) health, happiness & contentment in mother.

The content of the topics was prepared by the head of SWACH, a pediatrician doctor, taking the official training material and WHO guidelines as the guiding reference. The distinguishing feature of the prepared content was its focus on important elements of day-to-day care which are often missed in the ASHA training.

4.5.2 Participants

With the help of SWACH, we selected 40 ASHAs from two districts of Haryana state, India. All these ASHAs belonged to the pool already associated with SWACH for at least a year under a different project and had regular conversations over phone calls with the employees. All ASHAs were tenth-grade pass. Eight of them were graduates, and one was



Figure 4.4: Android App Interface: first screen displays three options - create session, send trailer call, and start session; second screen is a snapshot of a live session with three participants.

pursuing her under-graduation course. Age ranged from 26 to 50 years, with the median age as 36 years. Eleven of the ASHAs owned smartphones, and 29 had low-end feature phones. Two SWACH female employees, selected as the training hosts, had the experience of over two years. The SWACH head played the part of the trainer expert.

We randomly allocated the selected ASHAs into two groups: the treatment group and the control group. The treatment group received the training intervention on top of their routine activities, while the control group did not. The training intervention continued for 22 days with three sessions per week. The session time was fixed to 2 pm based on the preference of the majority ASHAs. All the sessions were hosted from SWACH office. The expert and the hosts chose to be present together in-person. In addition, a dummy listener was also recruited from the SWACH staff to get help in identifying network problems during the live sessions.

4.5.3 Design Process

Android App Design

We conducted a series of workshops with SWACH team for eight weeks to discuss the current features of the app and to build on these to create an appropriate platform for the delivery of training to a community of ASHAs. Feedback on the interface of the android app was taken at each step to make it easily usable by the two hosts. Figure 4.4 illustrates the Main Menu screen (left) and a 'live session' screen (right) of the *Sangoshthi* android app. The three rectangle boxes at the bottom of the 'live session' screen indicate callers who have pressed "1" to express an opinion. The colors indicate three statuses associated with the listeners: white for waiting, pink for currently speaking and grey for already spoken. Timers detail the length of the 'session', the wait time for any listener waiting to speak, and the air time for a currently unmuted listener.

The SWACH office was chosen for hosting the sessions. Multiple hands-on sessions were organized for the hosts at this office to become comfortable with the app usage. The objective was to make SWACH capable of hosting the sessions independently without assistance from the authors through their physical presence. Internet slow speed emerged to be the main problem. There were two sources for the internet - the office WiFi and a reliance internet dongle. However, both did not provide adequate bandwidth. This sometimes resulted in slowing the processing of the app events, which frustrated the hosts as they would impatiently press app buttons multiple times without waiting for the effect of the previous clicks, leading to erroneous actions at the server-side, e.g., multiple broadcast of trailers, multiple initiations of session calls, abrupt session end etc. To safeguard from such situations, the app was made robust by adding more warning pop-ups, wait-time progress bars, and making the buttons with critical operations unaffected for multiple clicks.

Training Session Structure

The structure of a training session was designed to support two key components of the training - delivery of the training material and the interaction between the expert and the ASHAs. Hence, the timeline of the session was designed to contain two segments: an initial shorter segment for delivering the topic information succinctly; and a second longer segment to allow interaction between the listeners and the expert. The longer segment could be divided into multiple rounds of interactions. We limited the number of speaking turns of a participant to one in a single round to give everyone a fair chance of speaking. Further, after the first training session, the first round in the subsequent sessions would be dedicated to clarify or answer any remaining questions of the previous session since our idea was to encourage ASHAs to exercise the knowledge gained in the fields. This interaction round would help to collect ASHAs' experiences.

Our previous study [145], highlighted the role of hosting skills in the success of a session. To make the task of hosting easy for the two hosts who had no prior experience of hosting a talk session, *Sangoshthi* incorporates a feature that allows the presenter to use prerecorded materials. In our deployment, this feature enabled the SWACH team to prepare all the topics in advance. A total of six weeks were dedicated to the preparation of the content. For each topic, the content was prepared by following the best practices of Home-Based Post-Natal Care and converted into a script of a conversation between two individuals: the host and the guest. The structure of this content was designed in the form of Q&A, recorded by two actors, who were the employees of SWACH after series of rehearsals. In all the sessions, the hosts, after greeting the listeners, directly played the content recording and thus focused on the moderation and control of the session events.

4.5.4 Data Collection and Analysis

We adopted mixed-method approach of data analysis in this study, both quantitative and qualitative. To assess the effect of the intervention on the learning gains of the ASHAs,

we conducted pre- and post-intervention knowledge tests. We used system generated logs to develop descriptive statistics about the training sessions and participation of ASHAs. These logs included call answer/drop timestamps, mute/unmute action timestamps, DTMF events, and DTMF event timestamps, etc. We also used audio recordings of the training sessions to the crosscheck the statistics. Finally, we conducted semi-structured interviews after the intervention to collect the experience and feedback of the trainers and ASHAs. This included 20 exit interviews of the ASHAs in the treatment group and three face-toface interviews of the doctor and the two hosts.

The analysis methodology is as follows. The questionnaire used for testing the knowledge of the ASHAs was developed by the expert. There were 20 open-ended questions on the training topics focusing on why and how forms. The sample questions are as follows, *"How can a mother determine that her newborn has taken enough breast milk?"*, *"Why is it important to keep newborn baby warm?"*. The answers of ASHAs were checked against the set of correct information items. For example, the correct answer of the question *"How can a mother determine that her newborn has taken enough breast milk?"* contained items as *"The newborn may fall asleep to indicate that it has had enough, the newborn stops actively suckling or stops suckling completely, the newborn may unclench its fists, arch its back, or smile or yawn, the mother will feel that her breasts have become soft." So, depending on the number of items present in the respondent's answer, the score is computed (e.g. presence of 2 out of 4 items gets 50% of the maximum score).*

The mode of interviews was chosen to phone call communication. This was considered the most practical approach given that the residences of the ASHAs were distributed over an area of 100 km. Following the standard guidelines of administering the questionnaire over the telephone [32], we prepared a script and a protocol to guide the interviewers. To test the ASHA understanding of the questionnaire, three pilot interviews were conducted with ASHAs unknown to the study. This resulted in improving the questions' ordering and simplifying the questions' language with the incorporation of more local terms. For the final interviews, the ASHAs were briefed about the interviews at least one day before, and explicit consent was solicited for the recording of the calls. The first author and a research assistant conducted the interviews in the native language - Hindi. Since the native language of all the authors and the ASHAs was the same, we decided to analyze the Hindi transcriptions to better understand the local terms and associated nuances. However, the codes and analysis language was English. Specific quotes present in the thesis and the corresponding research papers were translated by the first author and verified by the teammates.

ASHAs responses were evaluated against an answer key developed by the expert. Each answer in the key consisted of multiple expected responses ranging from 2 to 9 depending on the question type. The maximum score for a question was set to 100 with 100/n score for each corresponding information item. The total score of all the 20 questions thus was 2000. For the questions with more than five expected responses, the evaluation was performed on the presence of any five. The two coders evaluated the responses independently. After the first round of independent evaluation, the results from the two authors were compiled and compared to produce final scores. The two evaluators substantially agreed with each other (Cohen's Kappa: mean kappa = 0.71, standard deviation = 0.11) with some conflicts which were resolved through mutual discussion.

The exit interviews with the trainers and the ASHAs was conducted and analyzed by the first author only. The themes were generated both inductively and deductively by taking feedback of the other authors at different stages.

4.6 Findings

4.6.1 System Feasibility

We were able to complete all the sessions but observed some network related issues:

One of the main challenges while running the sessions was frequent call drops of the participant ASHAs. This was mainly caused by poor network coverage in the villages of the ASHAs. To deal with the issue, the dropped participants would be called back immediately

on the detection of their hang-up event in an ongoing conference call. A maximum of four redial attempts was made in case of no successful response. Despite call drops occurring during the deployment, we experienced only two incidences where call drops had a duration of more than five minutes.

On average, in a session of greater than 60 minutes, 19 call drops were experienced from 11 unique listeners (see Table 4.1). From the logged data, we found that, on average, a participant experienced one disconnection per session. One of the participants, in particular, showed a persistent problem of connectivity and experienced 30 call drops in 11 session calls. The data presented in the table is from 11 out of 12 sessions.

We also observed poor network coverage on a specific day. The session on the topic *danger signs in mothers* was postponed due to difficulty in connecting to all the participant ASHAs, as we could only attain 12 stable connections. Another problem observed in the initial five sessions was a sudden loss of the host's voice in ongoing sessions. To resume back the sessions, the host had to restart them, which affected the flow of sessions. We were able to resolve this by changing the host device from a tablet to a smartphone. A minor bug related to the session end procedure also incurred the loss of logs in a session, which was later rectified.

Table 4.1: Call Drops Summary

Call Drops	Min	Median	Max	
Call drops per session	5	19	32	
Unique call drops per session	4	11	17	
(unique by participants)				
Call drops per participant per session	0	1	9	
				-

Statistics computed on the data of 11 sessions

4.6.2 Learning Outcomes

To determine the effect of the intervention on the knowledge levels of the ASHAs, we applied statistical tests on the test scores of the ASHAs. Independent two-sample t-test was run to compare the mean test scores of the treatment and the control group, and paired t-test was used to test the significance of the difference between the mean post- and pre-intervention test scores within each group. The significance level used was 0.05.

Comparing the pre-intervention test scores, we found the two groups to be not similar (t(37.9) = 3.8, p < .05). The average percentage of the pre-intervention test scores for the treatment group was 34% (M = 679.0, SD = 107.0) and control group 28% (M = 551.6, SD = 102.9)). While we did not investigate the potential confounding variables, two factors seem plausible here - small sample size (20) and lack of complete information on the selection procedure of the ASHAs that was performed by the NGO staff.

Computing the difference between the mean post- and pre-intervention test scores, we found both the groups to show statistically significant improvements. The mean test scores of the treatment group increased by 16% (t(19) = 8.3, p < .05) and that of control group increased by 5% (t(19) = 3.1, p < .05). Thus, we can say that the training intervention had positive effect in terms of learning gains. For the smaller, unexpected improvement in the control group, we suspect two factors. First, the ASHAs were exposed to the same questionnaire two times, before and after the intervention. The natural curiosity to find the answers might have led to learning. Second, there was a possibility of some level of spillover effect. Some of the ASHAs in the two groups shared their regions and reporting primary health centers, which might have resulted into the discussion of the training intervention. This was also confirmed by some of the ASHAs in the exit interviews Finally, significant differences were found in the mean post-test scores of the two groups having 50% (M = 991.4, SD = 187.7) for the treatment groups and 33% (M = 651.4, SD = 170.4) for the control group (t(37.6) = 5.9, p < .05).

4.6.3 Interaction Component

From the total 12 sessions, the first 11 sessions covered the ten topics of the training (one case spanned over two sessions due to a network problem), and the last session collected the feedback of the ASHAs and any remaining queries. Table 4.3 summarizes the interaction logs of 11 sessions, leaving out the session which experienced the network problem. Interaction with the expert was a core component of the learning environment offered by



Figure 4.5: Graph showing the means and error bars in the test scores of the treatment and control groups measured before and after the intervention. The error bars represent standard errors.

the *Sangoshthi* platform. In a session (average duration: 1:08), 46 minutes were dedicated to the Q&A segments. On average, a session had 3 Q&A segments, 5 repeat speakers (listeners who expressed their opinion in more than one Q&A), and 12 unique speakers.

These speak statistics draw attention to the relationship between the interaction component and performance of ASHAs. Did the ASHAs who asked more questions learned more? From the literature, we know that classroom participation and discussion leads to higher-order learning [147, 148]. Thus, it is important to understand the role of participation in the learning environment provided through the *Sangoshthi* tool. To observe this in our data, we mapped the interaction count of the ASHAs with their test score improvements. However, as shown in the scatter plot 4.6, no clear linear relationship existed. The correlation value was low, 0.32. Further using the data, we attempted to apply a multiple linear regression model with three independent variables - attendance, pre-intervention test scores, and interaction count. The results were not significant, F(3,16) = 1.98, p = 0.1576.

Table 4.2: Training	Sessions Summary
---------------------	------------------

	Min	Median	Max
Session Duration (hh:mm:ss)	00:44:13	01:08:03	01:30:25
Content Delivery Duration (hh:mm:ss)	00:12:23	00:14:34	00:18:40
Session Q&A Duration (hh:mm:ss)	00:26:33	00:46:16	00:53:24
Interaction Count per session	10	20	22
Interaction Count per ASHA in 11 sessions	2	10	23
Interaction Count per ASHA per session	0	1	3
Repeat Speakers per session	1	5	7
Unique Speakers per session	9	12	18

Total 12 sessions were conducted for the 10 training topics. Table summarizes the interaction logs of 11 sessions leaving out one session which experienced network problem.

	Interaction Count	Coefficients Pre-Intervention Test Scores	Attendance
Test Score Improvement p-value	12.57 0.08	-0.26 0.49	77.70 0.13
Residual standard error R^2	156.6 0.27		

Table 4.3: Multiple Linear Regression Results

The coefficients for the three variables are given in the table 4.3. Therefore, from our data, we could not conclude any relationship between participation and performance.

However, from our exit interviews and sessions' observation notes, we find two factors that might have a contribution. First, application of knowledge. At the end of each training session, the expert suggested applying the knowledge gained in the field visits. Second, self-directed learning attitude, where the ASHA makes extra efforts on her own. In our intervention, we observed the presence of these factors to some extent. Some ASHAs used to share their field visit experience using the information items taught in training. A few others mentioned activities such as note-taking, calling neighbors to attend the sessions, and initiating discussion with family members. In addition to these, call quality is also an essential factor as it can significantly impact the listener's concentration. Our current analysis is limited in investigating these factors in detail due to the unavailability of sufficient data; however, we suggest considering these factors for future studies.



Figure 4.6: Scatter plot for the relationship between the interaction count and test score improvements, Pearson's r = 0.32

Peer-to-Peer learning

The prominent feature of *Sangoshthi* was its ability to foster peer learning. The act of listening and sharing was found to be fruitful by both the ASHAs and the two hosts. The following quote from an ASHA exemplifies the value of peer learning:

"The problems in my area are different from those of the others; by listening to others" questions, we got the opportunity to develop knowledge on new issues in advance."

Similarly, a host described her learning experience as:

"This was the first time we received an opportunity to connect to 20 ASHAs simultaneously and listen to their varying levels of issues and concerns. We were also able to deliver our messages to all in one go instead of repeating in separate one-to-one calls."

The benefit of peer learning expanded to few community members. 11 ASHAs reported events of attending the shows with their family members or friends. Some ASHAs even recorded show calls on their mobile phones and made notes, which they later shared with their friends and clients. An ASHA shared and discussed about the training with her supervisor also.

4.7 Usability

We attempt to understand the usability of the system on the following parameters:

4.7.1 System Usage

Contrary to our anticipation about the interaction difficulty ASHAs might face in remembering the last three digits of their phone numbers to recognize their chance of speaking, no ASHA was found to show any confusion. In all of our sessions, ASHAs promptly replied to their number identities. The protocol of pressing '1' to indicate interest in speaking was found simple by the ASHAs.

Both the expert and the host appreciated this functionality for maintaining synchronicity in the communication. The expert highlighted this by saying:

"The biggest advantage of this system was that we were able to converse systematically without any overlaps."

Further, with respect to the act of using touchtone inputs for participation, we noted two behaviors among ASHAs - eagerness to speak and pressing digits other than "1". In every session and Q&A segment, we noted some ASHAs promptly pressed "1" to come ahead in the queue of interested speakers. These eager ASHAs would press "1" even before the host would finish speaking and invite them for interaction. Other than the set protocol of pressing "1", our system logs showed frequent events of pressing incorrect digits. On average, the system log captured 22 such events per show out of 9 shows and 6 per ASHA for all 9 shows, leaving out an outlier who happened to do a total of 62 times who had a problem with her phone keypad. The moderation behaviors too evolved with sessions. We observed that the hosts, over a period of time, started to manage the speak priorities using

an alternative method instead of going by the first come, first serve basis. For instance, the hosts used to shift the priority order of a particular ASHA who was very prompt in pressing "1" and had already interacted for the maximum number of times in the interest of giving opportunities to other new listeners.

4.7.2 Training Session Experience

All ASHAs found the session duration of one hour to be appropriate and enjoyed the sessions' proceedings. A supporting quote from an ASHA is "*The sessions used to be so engaging that we never realized the time.*" During the occasions when ongoing sessions had to be interrupted and restarted due to issues related to voice transfer or connectivity, most of the ASHAs demonstrated patience. Only a few shared about their inconvenience; an example quote of an ASHA is "*The problem I faced was the session call disconnection because of which one of the questions was left unanswered once.*"

The process of connecting 20 ASHAs to the session call, on average, took 2 minutes. During this time, as ASHAs would join the conference room one by one, the host had the responsibility to keep the already connected members engaged and inform them about the status of wait time. Events of session restart in case of network problem made this part of hosting quite frustrating at times. One of the hosts told us as follows:

"The most challenging part for us while initiating the conference was establishing a connection with all the ASHAs. In this phase, because of the longer connecting process, sometimes I would get upset by making repetitive announcements of - "keep patience while we connect to the rest of the ASHAs." and worry about the session success."

4.8 System Usefulness

In this section, we discuss the usefulness of *Sangoshthi* perceived by the stakeholders in the existing structure. We present three important factors that emerged to play an important role in understanding the future scope of *Sangoshthi*.

4.8.1 Cost

Estimation of the cost of the system use is necessary to understand its sustainability prospects. The main expense in our deployment was the call charges. We subscribed to the VOIP-GSM gateway service of the company Doorvaani to establish the session calls over the cellular network. Based on the airtime cost of an outgoing call of 1.68 INR (0.025 USD) per minute, the cost per minute for 22 parallel lines of the callers estimates to be 36.96 INR (0.54 USD), incurring the total cost for a session of 60 minutes duration to be as 2217.60 INR (32.61 USD). In our current set-up, the cost per ASHA computes to be 110.85 INR (1.63 USD), which could further be lowered if ASHAs agree to bear their call charges by connecting to the sessions through outgoing calls. In this case, the estimated cost would then be 60 INR (0.88 USD) per ASHA per hour based on the standard call charges of the regular service providers, which are much lower than that of Doorvaani. We solicited views of ASHAs on the system usefulness for this model, and the majority of them (17) agreed in support of their knowledge gains. On the other hand, both the overall expenditure and per ASHA expense in a traditional face-to-face training session are comparatively very high.

We adopted an incentive approach to promote ASHAs participation in this deployment. ASHAs in both the groups (treatment and control) were remunerated on the basis of 100 INR (1.5 USD) per interview (two interviews at pre and post-intervention stages). In addition, ASHAs in the treatment group were given 800 INR (11.8 USD)for participating in the shows. Therefore, each ASHA in the treatment group received 1000 INR (14.7 USD) and 200 INR (3 USD) in the control group.

4.8.2 Impact on ASHA Routine

Since, generally, the societies where ASHAs live follow a patriarchal regime, they are responsible for the majority of the household tasks and receive limited opportunities for leisure. We wanted to understand the impact of our training intervention on their routine. Most of the ASHAs managed to take out time easily. One favorable reason was the time slot that was chosen according to their convenience. ASHAs acknowledged the cooperation from their family members during the training period. Following is the supporting quote from an ASHA, "We used to finish our housework by that time and our kids used to take food on their own." For the training frequency, the majority suggested every 5-6 months with two sessions in a week.

4.8.3 System Benefit

SWACH expressed the benefit of the system on two parameters: usefulness of content production activity and the system's ability to facilitate training sessions remotely. A quote from the expert: "*The system is very beneficial for us because it helped us build the capacity of ASHAs on home-based newborn care remotely which becomes difficult logistically in the face-to-face training sessions. It also helped us to standardize the content, which now can be used for reference purposes, overcoming the problem of information loss due to the cascade model of training."*

Sangoshthi also marked its benefits in the community using ASHA as the main vehicle. 18 out of 20 ASHAs who shared their knowledge in the home visits observed the direct benefits to the families. For example, an ASHA shared her experience as:

"I had a delivery case in my area, in which the mother, on finding the birth of a girl child, cried a lot and went into depression. I soothed her patiently and explained in detail the value of breastfeeding, play and communication, and measures of reducing depression. Now she is happy and is also feeding her baby."

ASHAs found a tremendous value of this training in their increased confidence to articulate the knowledge during home visits, an ASHA's words are:

"Earlier, we were not able to explain the content to mothers satisfactorily, but now we explain better and are able to convince mothers."

Not only the knowledge empowered ASHAs in decision making but also helped them in earning respect in their society, as one ASHA mentioned: "During my visits, while conversing with the mothers when I made references to the training session to support the information, they trust me more."

4.9 Discussion

The three research questions around feasibility, efficacy (in terms of learning gains), and acceptability, received promising answers to some extent. Cost-wise, our platform showed a good alternative of providing refresher training than face to face, though we do not claim to challenge the quality. The system use was considered to be fit into the work and home setting by the ASHAs. The training providing agency - the NGO - found benefits in standardizing the training content and it's delivery. Overall, all three users - ASHAs, training moderators, and the expert - liked *Sangoshthi* and reported a positive experience of using it. Further, considering the current time of COVID pandemic, our system has practical usefulness for supporting remote mechanisms of work in rural settings. The system can be used immediately without the need of any change in the features or functionalities. The training host and the experts too can participate remotely just like the ASHAs. The expert would have to join by receiving an incoming call with the only difference of having his/her channel be unmuted all the time.

The field deployment of *Sangoshthi* also provided us valuable experience in understanding the design requirements for a mobile platform to support the training of ASHAs in rural India. Literature suggests that providing synergy between all three types of interaction components viz, instructor-learner, learner-learner, and learner-content, is important for learning [148]. In the present version, *Sangoshthi*, predominantly supported instructorlearner interaction by having training content delivery and expert to ASHA interaction as the main components. There was limited support for the learner-learner and learner-content interaction. Our field trial highlighted the importance of the other two interaction forms, which evolved organically around our system. We found that some of the ASHAs attempted to meet their needs by recording the training content and using it in different field settings. This included sharing the content with other ASHAs, family, and friends. Our later studies explored these components.

Our field trial also suggests to explore new strategies of moderation for improving participants' engagement. Given that we found ASHAs comfortable with touchtone-based interaction during the sessions, there can be a number of interesting ways of promoting active learning. For example, the use of clickers has been linked to better engagement and learning outcomes in the classroom settings [149]. Similar to this, we can design features to play on-the-fly touchtone-based quizzes. To improve participation, more control for content interaction can be given to the participants, e.g., an indication to pause/resume/rewind audios. There is also a good scope of incorporating functionalities to facilitate peer-to-peer learning pedagogies, e.g., group discussions, problem-solving, etc. Further, we also observed the need to enrich *Sangoshthi* platform with offline features such as incorporating feedback features for the participants, making training content and question and answers available for offline use, e.g., in the form of an IVR-accessible audio library.

This study, being the first pilot, helped us in addressing the limitations of specific features and enhance the system for our later studies. For example, as a result of our initial design work, we pre-registered the hosts' devices. This meant that it was not possible to host multiple parallel independent training sessions. To enhance the capabilities of training staff by enabling easy hosting and management, many additional features have been added which we discuss in the next chapters.

4.10 Summary

In this chapter, we described our evaluation of *Sangoshthi*, a novel training and learning platform for ASHAs working in resource-constrained settings. While there have been tools to support individual learning or to improve the efficiency of CHW, no platform was available to train a number of ASHAs together. The field deployment of *Sangoshthi* showed its potential to support existing training mechanisms. *Sangoshthi* provided a lively envi-

ronment of learning through structured interactions among CHWs and the expert. This interaction enriched the content created by the expert which can then be further used for training. Our system incorporates the four design principles [150], viz. locally relevant content, accessibility of content beyond the bound of literacy, affordability, and fitment into the community eco-system. Our deployment highlights the potential of combining feature phones, smartphones, and available internet and mobile networks for delivering content in constrained environments for critical applications.

Chapter 5

Investigating Opportunities for Peer-to-Peer Learning Model

Our first study proposed the platform *Sangoshthi* that enabled the trainers to provide remote online training served as a proof of concept for the feasibility and efficacy of mobile training platforms. The peer learning component emerged as an important feature of the system. ASHAs found value in listening to others' problems, experiences, and the expert advice on them. However, our exploration of peer learning was limited, and the learning model had a high dependency on experts who are short in numbers. The scarcity of skilled trainers is a bottleneck problem in providing quality training support to ASHAs. In this study, we aimed to investigate the peer-to-peer learning paradigm to understand alternative ways to reduce the burden on trainers and whether ASHAs can use technology to self-direct their learning ².

There is a rich literature showing significant pedagogical benefits of peer-learning approach when instructors availability is low [151, 152, 153, 154]. It has been found that through positive interdependence on one another, learners improve in their subject knowledge, problem-solving skills, critical thinking skills, and overall morale [152, 155, 156]. We increasingly see the incorporation of peer-to-peer learning strategies in online education, e.g., peer-to-peer assignment checking. Platforms like MOOCs provide a promising example of delivering authentic learning content on a scale and implementing self and group learning exercises. CSCW research has both investigated and proposed theories and interaction frameworks of peer learning in a variety of settings [157, 158, 159]. However, these largely remain oriented towards learning environments or work contexts where learners are technology users, e.g., internet users. There are limited investigations around the

²Deepika Yadav, Anushka Bhandari, and Pushpendra Singh. 2019. Leap: scaffolding collaborative learning of community health workers in India. In *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 3, CSCW, 1–27

use of technology to support the peer-to-peer learning of learners, especially workers in under-served communities. CHWs represent an important user group to study because of their distinctive characteristics.

We base our research around the question of how might technology-supported peer learning help CHWs in skill-building, and what kinds of peer-learning design should be adopted in their particular contexts, nature of work, and technology use. we aimed to understand whether the introduction of the collaborative learning intervention improves ASHAs' knowledge over their regular routine ³ and analyze what kind of interactions ASHAs engage in the absence of trainers. To this end, we enhanced our *Sangoshthi* platform to make it usable by ASHAs groups without any dependency on the trainers. We removed the explicit role of experts in training ASHAs and limited it to just the designing of the learning material. The android app interface was modified to act as a learning management system for ASHAs, where ASHAs can join peer-led learning courses and follow through the group learning exercises. We named this version of our system as *LEAP - Learning with Peers*.

In terms of platform accessibility and feasibility for ASHAs, *Sangoshthi* was relevant because smartphone penetration has increased amongst ASHAs in India. At the time of our previous study, the smartphone ownership was 28%, which increased to 33% by the time this study was conducted. Those ASHAs who have access to smartphones thus can act as group leaders for hosting and managing learning sessions. We framed two research questions for this study:

In particular, our research questions were:

- **RQ1** Can semi-structured, group-based learning exercises facilitated through *Sangoshthi* tool produce knowledge gains in ASHAs?
- **RQ2** What are the group learning characteristics of ASHAs?

³The routine of ASHAs involves monthly meetings with supervisors. The agenda of these meetings include incentive formalities, giving new directions, resolution of ASHAs issues, and general guidance. The meetings are supposed to have a component of training and knowledge building, but that does not happen regularly. So over time, through meetings and informal knowledge sharing, ASHAs get trained in their job while also going through formal training sessions intermittently.

We evaluated the effectiveness of the design by conducting a between-group study across four health centers (120 CHWs) in slum areas of Delhi, India. Through our qualitative and quantitive analysis, we found that, with minimal scaffolding, CHWs could participate and use the *LEAP* platform and achieved significant knowledge gains. Further, CHWs exhibited benefits of collaborative learning in terms of positive interdependence on each other and use of interpersonal skills. The informal peer-learning environment also encouraged CHWs to have discourses on deeper societal aspects, e.g., their role in society.

We contribute to CSCW, HCI4D, and education research by expanding its focus towards new groups in low resource settings who need innovative ways of collaborative tools for improving their skill sets.

5.1 Peer-to-Peer Learning in Prior Work on Constrained Environments

Prior work engaging with collaborative learning in under-served settings mainly exists as part of ICTD and HCI4D research that focused on employing technology for socioeconomic development. While discussing these, we would reconnect with some of the works discussed earlier in the previous chapters.

Hole-in-the-Wall is an early work, started in 1999 that examined the effect of unsupervised collaborative learning among children in underprivileged communities of India by placing freely accessible computers [74]. The idea drew on the natural curiosity of children to learn while playing together with the computers left in the wild. The follow-on series of experiments in different settings observed that with access to information sources like the internet, children could navigate their one learning and arrive at meaningful constructs when they were guided by the right questions in the class [74, 160]. While working in this line of work of employing computers for education in rural India, Microsoft proposed new hardware - multi-mice desktop computer [161]. This solution was proposed to address the financial constraint of affording enough computers in rural schools and inequities in sharing devices. Their experiments showed that learning among children multiplied due to the gain of more control in collaborative learning scenarios.

Further, several works have examined the digital game paradigm to promote education in a variety of settings. Lomas et al., who proposed a single-player typing game for a lowcost computing interface (TVC), demonstrated the effect of group interactions on verbal language learning [162]. The study informed design implications for participatory learning with video games in home environments. Kumar et al., in their study of game-based mobile learning in after-school environments among rural children in India, observed organic growth of peer-to-peer learning [163].

Digital green [164], a pioneering work addressed the problem of disseminating targeted agricultural information to farmers in India by leveraging a community-driven, participatory video-based education approach. This idea of community-led video education (CVE) was adopted in various later studies [128].

Later works employing mobile phones corroborated the positive effect of peer-to-peer learning through easy-to-access IVR-based voice forums [17, 21, 18]. For instance, listening to other farmers' problems and their experience was one of the most appreciated features of the Avaaj Otalo forum [17].

Given the lack of channels for discussion with experts, ASHAs rely on experience sharing for learning. Leveraging their peer network in collaborative learning practices holds great potential and was the central theme of this study.

5.2 Enhacing Sangoshthi to LEAP

We built *LEAP*—Learning with Peers—on top of the codebase of Sangosthi by adding several new features. We enhanced the core platform to remove the explicit role of the expert and the host and allow an ASHA (a smartphone user) to act as facilitator and participant at the same time. The other ASHAs (feature phone users) join as peers. Given that the underlying communication paradigm is voice-based (conference call), we used group discussion as the central pedagogy. Providing good learning material, well-defined tasks,

and roles to play is an effective strategy to streamline the learning mechanisms [165, 151, 154]. Therefore, we designed the group learning session such that they have access to some learning material, preferably audio, and a task outline to follow. We now describe the learning material we used, tasks to facilitate collaborative learning, and system components and working.

5.2.1 Learning Material

We created learning material from the data of our previous study. There were two forms, 1) the ten audio recordings on Home Based Post Natal Care topic, created by the SWACH team. The duration of a single lesson was 15 minutes. 2.) the audio recordings of the question-answering interaction between the expert and the ASHAs. We extracted 175 conversations from the 12 sessions of the previous study. A single recording contained a question asked by an ASHA and the answer given by a doctor and had a duration of 2-3 minutes. All of the recordings were in the native language of ASHAs (Hindi).

5.2.2 Task Definition

To facilitate group learning, we provided semi-structuring by using the aforementioned learning material. We defined a task outline for every session that included listening to three content recordings and conducting group discussions after each recording. The first recording was a topic lesson, and the other two were Q&A recordings on that topic. The sequence and the duration estimates are shown in Figure 5.1. The first round of discussion was set to be of the longest duration, at least 10 minutes. In this round, the groups could share their understandings of the content, related experiences or clarify doubts. The second and the third rounds of discussion were of shorter duration, 5-7 minutes.

We imposed the sequence to a certain extent, i.e., in the app interface, the next audio recording could be accessed after the previous had been completely played. However, it was allowed to go back to any previously played audio or pause a recording in between



Figure 5.1: Task Outline for a Group Learning Session

to clarify doubts. Except for the recommended sequence, the groups had full freedom and flexibility to try any other alternatives in their discussions, e.g., going back to the original lesson recording during the Q/A discussion session.

5.2.3 System Components

To make the system usable by ASHAs and address the limitations we observed in our previous study; we enhanced the tool overall. We now had two main components in the *LEAP* platform.

a.) Web portal - This is a central system from which the learning environment of the ASHAs groups can be designed and managed. The portal is like a learning management system used in online learning programs for administration, tracking, and delivery of educational courses. The basic functions of our portal included the following: uploading and maintaining of learning materials (pre-recorded topic-wise audios), registration of ASHAs, creating and managing of peer-groups of ASHAs, scheduling group sessions, defining group roles and tasks (facilitator or listener, audio selection and their sequence), and monitoring group interaction and performance. The portal is designed for the organization concerned with ASHAs, e.g., NGO or govt. body. A single system administrator can manage multiple groups of ASHAs using the portal.

After the system administrator has designed a learning course for ASHAs, created their groups, and scheduled sessions, all of these details get automatically updated in the smart-phone application of the facilitators.

b.) Smartphone application - This is to be used by the group facilitators, i.e., the

ASHAs who can operate a smartphone application. The application receives its groupspecific data from the server, which was set in the portal by the administrator. The role of a facilitator is to conduct group sessions on a given schedule by operating the app and act as a moderator in group discussions.

The app has three main functions (see Figure 5.3): *Host Program*—shows the upcoming session details (date and time), a button to start the group call.

Tutorials—contains the gallery of audio files (topic lessons); this is designed to help facilitators prepare in advance. If any facilitator wishes to prepare herself on the content matter, then she can listen beforehand and prepare her notes. *Notifications*—displays text messages sent by the system or the administrators.

The interface of the app was designed to be simple and intuitive to use for the ASHAs. Further, for the purpose of our study, we kept the experiment design controlled and made functionalities in the app more sequential and controlled. For example, the audio lessons in the gallery are locked by default and are only unlocked only when the corresponding sessions are scheduled. Likewise, the button to start a group call is activated only 15 minutes prior to the session time.

5.2.4 System Working

For a group session, the administrator creates and schedules a session through the web portal. This action makes the details of the upcoming session (topic name, date, and time of the call) appear on the mobile application. To explicitly notify the group facilitators and the members, the administrator can also schedule automated calls (IVR-Interactive Voice Response) through the portal. After the group has successfully completed their session, the status, session statistics (connected members, speaking activities, duration, etc.), and corresponding session recordings are updated in the portal. The administrator can then schedule the next session (Figure 5.2).







Figure 5.3: The user interface of the smartphone application showing the home screen, the screen displaying upcoming session details and a live session with two group members. Here, we show the English translated version of the actual interface which is in Hindi.
5.3 Methods

5.3.1 Study Design

We conducted a between-group design experiment study in Delhi with the cooperation and due permission of the Delhi State Health Mission (a government body under the Ministry of Family and Health Welfare of India [166]). Delhi has several under-developed areas, e.g., slums, which ASHAs serve. As per DSHM, 5000 ASHAs are placed across the eleven districts of the city [166]. We randomly allocated two districts of Delhi: south and east, comprising four health centers. While the two districts were separated by a distance of more than 30 km, the two health centers within a district were separated by only 3-5 km. Therefore, to avoid spillover effects between the participants, we used the district as the selection unit and randomly allocated one into the intervention group. There were 120 ASHAs, with 62 in the intervention group and 58 in the control group (around 30 ASHAs at each center). The intervention group received our collaborative learning intervention in addition to their routine, while the control did not. There was no placebo activity organized for the control group.

5.3.2 Participants

Within the intervention group, the ASHA peer-groups were created at the intra-health center level, where they knew each other and, therefore, could interact freely. Group creation was based on the availability of ASHAs who could operate smartphones. At every center, 8-10 ASHAs were smartphone users. Out of these, we preferred those ASHAs who were recommended by their supervisors as being sincere and active in their work. We finalized six such ASHAs at each center, thereby making six groups, which made the group size of 5-6 (total 30 ASHAs at a center). However, after a few practice sessions, the groups were rearranged due to problems relating to facilitator availability and the quality of cellular networks in their areas. Finally, we settled on a total of six groups, three at each center with group sizes between 9 and 11 members. The average age of the ASHAs was 38 (ranging from 25 to 55), with the majority of them (86%) educated up to 12^{th} standard and a few holding graduate (10%) and post-graduate degrees(3%).

5.3.3 Implementation

Prior to the start of the intervention, we obtained consent from the participants and briefed them about the purpose of the study, the data to be collected, and the potential risks. The participants were free to leave at any time. We gave our mobile handsets to the group facilitators for the duration of the deployment to ensure consistency in the system use. Each handset was enabled with a Reliance JIO SIM with a mobile data recharge. None of the group facilitators had a WiFi facility in their house. The six group facilitators were trained on the smartphone application features through multiple practice sessions organized at the respective health centers by the first author and a research assistant. Later, the actual sessions were conducted at the houses of the group facilitators.

One of the authors assumed the role of administrator and handled the portal. The role of the administrator was limited to monitoring the server logs during sessions in order to provide technical assistance if required. To schedule these sessions, we consulted the ASHAs and, based on the majority views, fixed the time slots for every group as per their convenience. Because of the availability of only one administrator, the sessions' timings were made mutually exclusive. The groups of one of the centers were scheduled on three alternative days in a week and the groups of the other center on the rest of the two days. The time slots were in the afternoon: 2 -3 pm, 3:30 -4:30 pm, and 5 to 6 pm. If a group could not conduct their session on the assigned day, then they were supposed to complete it on a subsequent day. In around six weeks, the groups completed all their sessions. Some of the sessions were assisted by the administrator due to cellular network issues in the areas of the facilitators.

5.3.4 Data Collection and Analysis

We adopted the mixed-method approach of data analysis in this study, both quantitative and qualitative. Like the previous *Sangoshthi* study, we conducted a pre-post intervention test to assess knowledge gains using the same questionnaire. We had two examiners, blind to this study, to evaluate the answers. Each examiner was randomly assigned one-half of the answer sheets of every center. Data of the participants present in both the pre and posttests were included in the analysis (99, 52 in the intervention group and 39 in the control group). Using the t-test, the differences between pre- and post-test scores were examined for statistical significance.

At the end of the intervention, semi-structured interviews were conducted with the group facilitators to understand their experiences with *LEAP*. These interviews were conducted over telephone calls in the Hindi language, which were recorded for later analysis. The average duration of an interview was 10-15 minutes. ASHAs group sessions were analyzed by two coders, one was the author, and the other was research staff. The themes were generated inductively from the session's audio recordings (the native language of the participants and the coders was the same) and session transcripts (also developed by the same coders). In multiple iterations, codes were shared and refined to find the emergent themes. There were a total of 60 call recordings corresponding to 10 group sessions of the six groups.

5.4 Results

We now present the combined results obtained from the quantitative and qualitative analyses. Throughout the chapter we refer to the four health centers as I_1 , I_2 (intervention group); C_1 , C_2 (control group). The ASHA groups (total of six, three at each center) in the intervention group are referred as I_1G_1 , I_1G_2 , I_1G_3 (I_1 center); I_2G_1 , I_2G_2 , I_2G_3 (I_2 center). To present ASHAs' quotes, we have changed the names to preserve their privacy.



Figure 5.4: Center wise comparison

5.4.1 Effect on Knowledge

The methods used for the statistical analysis of the learning outcomes were: (1) Shapiro-Wilk to test the normality of data with a significance level of 0.05. (2) Paired Sample t-test to test the significance of the difference between post-intervention and pre-intervention test scores within each group (related groups). (3) Independent Sample t-test to test the significance of the difference between two unrelated groups.

At the baseline, the performance of the centers belonging to a district was similar. I_1 and I_2 centers in the intervention group had mean pre-intervention test scores of 5.5 and 5.6 respectively and C_1 and C_2 in the control group had 6.3 and 6.2 respectively (see figure 5.4). The differences were not statistically significant. However, the difference between the intervention and control group was significant (t(df = 87) = -2.1916, p = 0.031). The ASHAs in the control group i.e., in the south district of Delhi, had higher initial knowledge than the ASHAs of the east district. Here, we would like to note our limitations in the randomization process. First, we were allotted four health centers from two districts by the DSHM organization. Second, due to the practical convenience of coordination with the

health staff and ASHAs at health centers, we did create stratified groups by mixing ASHAs from different health centers. Further, the difference in the initial knowledge also points to the relationship between the health staff and ASHAs. Since mentoring and supervision play an important role in shaping informal, routine learning activities of ASHAs, it would be worth considering for future studies.

Further, investigating the effect of the intervention from the difference in the post- and pre-intervention scores, we found the improvement rates of the I_1 and I_2 centers to be 38% (M = 2.04, t(28)=9.95, p < 0.05) and 13% (M = 0.70, t(22) = 3.75, p < 0.05) respectively. In the control group, the improvement rates for C_1 was 12% (M = 0.73, t(22) = 3.58, p < 0.05), and C_2 was 4% (M = 0.21, t(15) = 1.1271, p-value > 0.05), shown in figure 5.4.

We were surprised by the results of C_1 center group and also by the large difference between the performances of I_1 and I_2 (38% and 13%). The C_1 center group did not receive the intervention, yet it showed statistically significant improvements in the test scores.

On further inquiry, we came to know that another training program - known as Mobile Academy - was started in parallel at I_1 and C_1 . We analyzed the contents of the Mobile Academy program and found that around 50% of their training material overlapped with ours.

We believe that this parallel training was the potential confounder that might have caused additional knowledge gains to the I_1 and C_1 centers. As the health centers have little control over the directions they receive from higher authorities, it was practically impossible for us to stop or delay any parallel interventions. Nonetheless, the positive observation is that participants were able to apply what they learned in the other training in our study showing transferability of learning.

The comparative analysis of the remaining centers (I_2 and C_2), which did not undergo any other training, still gives us a reasonable inference that the knowledge of the participants did improve from the collaborative learning intervention.

The contributing factors towards knowledge gains can be both the content and the dis-

cussion. In the next sub-section, we will investigate the factor of group discussions in the learning curve.

5.4.2 Peer Learning Aspects

ASHAs group activity consisted of listening to three audios- topic lesson, two field cases, and conducting group discussion after each. Apart from this, we did not control the interactions using any pedagogical techniques that include talking in a particular pattern or following any rules [153]. We aimed to understand the quality of interactions in their natural form. We now summarize the elements of peer learning observed.

Verbalization [153] was one of the central themes surfaced in the analysis of the interactions. The group facilitators solicited peers' thoughts in a round-robin fashion, giving an equal chance of participation to all the group members. While mostly all the present members spoke on their turn, some were more active and had higher participation. We observed that, on average, in every group, three speakers spoke with confidence and presented their ideas in coherent ways. Some of these were articulate, enjoyed speaking at length, and demonstrated characteristics of becoming group facilitators in the future. Further, their participation laid good examples for others, often helping shy peers to open up. Apart from these active members, others showed passivity in participation and spoke minimally that too upon prompting in the form of posing a question or case by the facilitators.

The second theme was *co-construction of knowledge* that included questioning, summarizing, repeated explanations and elaborations, activities that have been found to develop high-level thinking practices [167, 153]. Mainly, the facilitators exhibited characteristics of peer tutors. In the sequence of the conversation below, the facilitator tried to elicit thoughts of the peer ASHA by first framing a direct question, then modifying it into in-direct and finally into a condition-based question:

Facilitator: "have you observed any depression case in your area?" **Saraswati** - "no'1"

Facilitator: "can you identify a depressed mother?" **Saraswati**: yes, if the mother is not communicating with others, not taking care of her child and her personal hygiene then we need to persuade her

Facilitator: *what will you do if the mother doesn't get persuaded?* **Saraswati**: "textitwe will have to take her to doctor.....the mother must be happy if she is not then it is a serious problem"

In terms of coverage of topics, we observed *chaining* in the ideas often triggered by the first speaker or an active ASHAs who generally brought new topics to the discussions. The ASHAs built on each others' ideas and collectively recalled the facts and experiences.

Kiran: "from today's lesson, I got to know many facts related to crying like why newborn cries, which babies cry more", *Facilitator*:...

Punita: "often babies cry very much at night", **Facilitator** - "yeah, babies who sleep sufficiently during day time generally wake up more at night, mothers should play with their babies during the day..."

Neelam:... "babies should also have appropriate clothing according to the weather otherwise it can create discomfort which leads to crying", *Facilitator* - "yeah, even excessive crying can also affect the mind of the babies..."

ASHAs also showed inter-personal skills by encouraging each other, augmenting viewpoints, and resolving conflicts. This factor was reflected in the behavior of the group facilitators since they had significant control over speaking. Further, the words of praise and acknowledgment by the facilitators encouraged ASHAs to share their opinion.

We also noticed a good amount of topic adherence in the discussions. Few or no occasions were observed in which the groups deviated from the topic lessons in their discussions. While discussing a range of issues and topics, ASHAs actively self-defined their roles in society and reflected on how necessary it is to have good knowledge. After listening to lesson recordings, ASHAs often acknowledged gaps in their home visit practices and ways to improve them and apply new knowledge.

"So far, we used to ask about the babies, from now on we will ask about the mothers also, so that she can openly share the problems with us".—Rajni, I_2G_3

Facilitator - "if the mother is depressed and tensed, what advice should be given?" **Santosh** - "we should make frequent visits, and explain to her again and again that she should focus on her baby, this will engage her, we should counsel the family members also and suggest to see the doctor."— I_2G_3

They discussed their proximity to the families and opportunities to bring positive changes. For example, in the following dialog, the facilitator emphasizes the opportunity of developing a relationship with a mother during pregnancy to prepare for better care:

Host: "...to counsel a mother we have so much of time, we get associated with her right from her pregnancy period, from her first trimester she starts meeting us. So, we can discuss these topics early on, how to feed baby, tell all the important things, and explain to her family too and solve the problems."— I_1G_1

They frequently discussed the challenges in persuading families towards healthy practices. They brought topics of prevailing myths around post-natal care, handling societal issues, e.g., women empowerment, gender discrimination among newborns, and the dynamics of power in families. As investigated in prior research, there are many mal-practices associated with post-natal care in India and are the main deterrent towards the care of the mother. Still, many Indian families practice outdated rituals and traditions. For instance, post-delivery, mothers are confined to home for a period of 40 days and are put under various types of restriction related to diet, physical movements, and behavior, etc. [168, 169]. ASHA discussions on field cases included many such examples, one of these is as follows:

Facilitator: "In a delivery case, when I went to the house of a lady, I found that the mother-in-law had given Harira soup to the mother in the summer weather, which increased bleeding. So, I explained to her mother-in-law to give food according to the weather and referred her to the hospital."— I_1G_1

Further, the other common topic discussed amongst these challenges was related to the gender of children. In India, many families have a strong bias towards male children [170] due to which the health of mothers get affected. When the content topic was postpartum depression, the most common example discussed across groups was the birth of a second or third girl child. In these examples, ASHA discussed family attitudes towards babies and the mother and the mother's behavior towards the baby.

5.4.4 Impact of Learning Material

In group learning sessions, ASHAs listened to two types of learning materials: topic lessons and Q&A recordings. We noted that ASHAs appreciated the quality of content and discussed the relevance of topics. At times they compared the content presentation with that of their training. In particular, they appreciated the fact that smaller details were highlighted.

Vidya: "Never before did we realize how to recognize the depression of the mother, now we will be able to easily identify what is the problem, **Facilitator**: Yes, we never knew before that so much, **Vidya**: These things have never been taught to us openly before"... $-I_2G_3$

On noticing new information, the ASHAs felt good and immediately highlighted it in their discussions.

Facilitator - "And a new thing has come to knowledge, the blurriness of eyes

in mothers happens due to low blood pressure", **Rameshwari** - "even the dizziness is also because of low BP", **Facilitator** - "We did not know that before" **Rameshwari**: "were never told, how could we know when it was not explained."

Facilitator- "did you notice the new thing? It is said that when a baby is born, there is a yellowish layer on the body; none of us knew this new thing, this yellowish layer should not be removed from the skin".

 I_2G_3 , Danger Sign in Newborn

Some ASHAs expressed their interest in the continuation of the training on a regular basis.

"the recordings were very good, we want this program to continue, so that we can get knowledge from time to time. Although, we do receive training, but somehow we are not able to get adequate knowledge."—Rajni, I_2G_3

Further, the Q&A recordings were liked greatly because they were short and contained real problems. The ASHAs were able to relate them to their field cases. During our interaction with the group facilitators post-intervention, some of them mentioned that while the lesson recordings were good but the duration of 15 minutes was too long. It required higher engagement which was found to be difficult in their household settings due to external disturbances. They suggested having multiple shorter recordings instead of one long recording.

5.4.5 Role of Group Facilitator

The communication and moderation skills of the group facilitators showed an important effect on the group discussions. Facilitators who had leadership skills and were active in eliciting conversations from their peers led good discussions. For example, the facilitator of the group I_1G_1 was the most active one. She worked hard to prepare herself for every session. Before a scheduled session, she would always listen to the lesson recording to take

<i>I</i> ₁ <i>G</i> ₁ • Articulate	I_1G_2 • Group discussion strategies:	I₁G₃ ● Articulate
 Acknowledging and En- couraging 	questioning and answering	 Acknowledging and Encouraging
• Group Discussion Strategies: sharing of field experiences, problem solving, questioning and answering, case based discussions		• Group Discussion Strategies: sharing of field experiences, questioning and answering, general feedback based dis- cussion
• Tutor characteristics: knowl- edge of topics, explanation skills		• Tutor characteristics: expla- nation skills, knowledge of topics
• Positive Attitude I_2G_1 • Acknowledging and En-	<i>I</i> ₂ <i>G</i> ₂ ● Group Discussion Strategies:	• Positive Attitude I_2G_3 • Acknowledging and En-
 couraging Group Discussion Strate- gies:general feedback based discussion Humorous and Friendly 	questioning and answering, general feedback based dis- cussion	 couraging Group Discussion Strategies: sharing of field experiences, questioning and answering, general feedback based dis- cussion

• Friendly

Table 5.1: Characteristics of Group Facilitators

notes and prepare herself to have a good understanding of the content. To ensure she would sound like a facilitator, she prepared her speech scripts for the initial sessions. She spoke fluent Hindi and also attempted to augment the content presentation in her own style. For example, while summarizing the content of an audio, she recited a poem to engage users. Her preparation also included constructing examples and cases for the explanation. To start a conversation, she would ask a question, cite a related field experience, or present a problem to be solved. She mentioned her personal experiences and emphasized success stories. After an ASHA had spoken, she would acknowledge her, augment the information, and encourage her. Given that no prior training was given, her efforts exceeded our expectations.

Overall, all of her conversations held a good portion of experience sharing.

The facilitators of groups I_1G_3 , I_2G_3 and I_2G_1 also did a fair job. Their strategies to encourage discussions varied. For example, the I_1G_3 facilitator showed the characteristics of a tutor as she used to initiate conversations by asking questions from her peers. She would construct different types of questions around the lesson content to check the learning of her peers. The facilitator of the I_2G_1 group used to solicit feedback over the content and queries of peers. The I_2G_3 facilitator was more flexible, trying a variety of approaches ranging from seeking feedback to experience sharing.

There were other groups (I_2G_2 and I_1G_2) in which the facilitators were not effective and showed a clear need for training. The I_1G_2 facilitator in her initial few shows took help from the I_1G_3 facilitator, who lived closeby. However, she faced difficulty in moderating effective group discussions, and the conversations were mainly superficial. The total time spent on the group discussions was the lowest among all the groups. Similarly, I_2G_2 facilitator also lacked in moderation. In her case, the groups members were quite active who tried to cover up the moderator's inefficiency. We have summarized the characteristics of all the facilitators in the table 5.1.

5.4.6 Missed Opportunities

In our design, the group activity was structured such that the groups were supposed to use the content material and interact in a pre-defined sequence. There was no other form of scaffolding to validate the understanding of the content or help to resolve ASHAs' queries. We observed that in the absence of instructors, in some cases, the groups developed inconsistent knowledge of the facts. The two statements from two different groups, given below, differed in the recommended duration of handwashing before touching a newborn.

Facilitator - "how should we clean a baby, how should we wash hands? how should we explain these things to the mothers?" **Sarita** - "Hands should be cleaned for 20 minutes; every step should be done for 20 minutes."— I_1G_2

Facilitator - "for how long should we wash hands?" **Saroj** - "Wash for a good 5 minutes, then dry hands well"— I_1G_3

In the cases of new and complex topics, the need for experts was apparent. For example, on the topic of mother's depression, the discussions mostly centered around ASHAs' general perceptions of depression. ASHAs conditions of mother not taking care of herself and child, sadness due to causes relating to family issues, health problems, child gender, and child adoption. A major portion of their discussion focused on the gender of the baby. They did not discuss other causes of depression. As also found by other studies, ASHA knowledge on depression lack in terms of understanding its psycho-social nature, its impact, and signs and symptoms. [171, 172, 173]. Also, we did not see any reference to prior knowledge on depression. Some ASHAs even acknowledged that they had limited or no knowledge of depression.

5.5 Discussion

This chapter builds on the previous chapter by providing a positive direction of reinforcing peer-to-peer learning opportunities for ASHAs. The chapter demonstrated ASHAs' potential to use the mobile-learning tool and direct their group learning by engaging with the learning material and leading group discussion. We now discuss the design implications for the technology-supported peer-learning paradigm for ASHAs.

We now summarize the implications for designing technology-based peer learning solutions for ASHAs useful for policy-making and HCI/CSCW research.

5.5.1 Peer Learning and Scaffolding Scope

Our analysis of the group sessions found elements of peer learning in the form of peer tutoring [174], verbalization [153], and co-construction of knowledge [151]. ASHAs questioned content topics, exchanged explanations, and shared experiences. While doing so, they built upon each other's ideas, particularly the presence of active members, positively influenced other shy peers. Further, the role of group facilitators was found to play a key role in the effectiveness of discussion. Some of them emerged as leaders and made significant efforts in their facilitation strategies. Despite any training or prior experience of using a discussion forum, as a start, these thinking practices were highly positive, suggesting a

good scope of designing peer learning solutions.

To further enhance the skills of facilitators, the app can be improved to allow the addition of meta-content, which facilitators can use on-the-fly during group sessions. Feature to support in-session exercises should be explored in order to structure the group learning activity further. To mitigate learners developing a partial understanding of the facts, techniques like problem-based learning [175, 176] can be applied. For factual information, strategies should be used to emphasize the information. More emphasis can be given placed on the information by repeating or employing exercises to validate understanding. Likewise, group discussion can be structured through techniques e.g. scripted roles and stances[153], jigsaw [177], external collaboration scripts [178], problem-based learning [175]

Further, utilizing group composition is another factor that can contribute towards making the peer learning approach effective. Research has confirmed the benefits of heterogeneous group composition having students with mixed performance - low, mid, and high [179, 180]. For ASHAs, the group composition can be experimented both at the intra-center and inter-center levels. While the intra-center group composition can help shy ASHAs to open up, the inter-center group composition can help in gaining new experiences from the ASHAs of other centers and have more opportunities of healthy competition. System-wise, statistics about individual and group performance can be maintained by automatically collecting group performance and then automatically generating group compositions.

5.5.2 Forum to Practice Discourses and Exchange Perspectives

Informally ASHAs are a community who invariably leverage each others' knowledge in performing their duties [58]. They share common understandings of the culture and the various challenges their communities face in healthcare access. These include women's position in society, familial contexts, financial constraints, societal norms, and awareness on healthcare. When ASHAs discussed such aspects, they not only discussed challenges

but also how to address them by bringing forward their situated knowledge. This highlights an important opportunity for bridging the disconnects between ASHAs and the health officials at higher positions to providing greater visibility into the ground realities [181, 123]. Further, having an online community would help ASHAs develop their confidence. Studies evaluating ASHA performance have highlighted lack of confidence as one of the important factors in skill-building. A discussion forum creates a healthy and structured environment to practice discourses that would potentially help in improving the confidence of ASHAs to deal with their cases, e.g., client counseling.

5.5.3 Control Experiments with ASHAs

Randomized Controlled Trial (RCT) has long been the gold standard approach to determine the effect of interventions. However, in real-life settings, it requires careful consideration of several logistic challenges for its feasibility and may not always be a practical option [182]. For example, in our case, Frontline health workers like ASHAs in rural areas are not always the easiest groups to conduct rigorous evaluations with. ASHAs sit at the lowest ladder in a strictly hierarchical healthcare system and are controlled by supervisors who have little control over the directions coming from higher authorities. Also, ASHAs are simultaneously engaged in many different programs, controlling which is difficult and sometimes impossible for researchers outside of the system. In our study, we observed that one of the health centers in the control group was exposed to a parallel mobile training which we couldn't control.

Sometimes randomization process itself is difficult to perform. In both of our studies (chapter 4 and Chapter 5), we did not have full control in the sampling process of ASHAs and were alloted already selected ASHA samples from the field partners. We learn that researchers should make sure to involve all the relevant authorities and discuss future activities of ASHAs well in advance and have alternative plans to complement RCT.

5.6 Summary

Through our field experiment, we found that the collaborative learning approach to train ASHAs is a promising strategy to overcome the shortage of instructors and to support their learning needs. We designed a peer-led educational intervention in which ASHAs organized their group learning sessions independently. By using already developed content and providing minimal guidance for group discussions, we could see that ASHAs were able to show significant knowledge gains and, most importantly, feel empowered by sharing their thoughts with peers. They were able to acknowledge their knowledge gaps and have discussions on the areas of improvement. By analyzing ASHAs' group learning sessions, we arrived at design guidelines for developing collaborative learning platforms for ASHAs. Overall, we believe that the model of collaborative learning should be investigated further with different pedagogical strategies and tried at a larger scale of deployment.

Chapter 6

Understanding Training Needs through a Large-scale Study

Our first two studies provided promising preliminary results in the efficacy of the proposed tool for supporting expert-based training and peer-to-peer learning opportunities for ASHAs. In this study, we aimed to guide ourselves for the future designs of such mobile platforms by understanding the information and training needs of ASHAs more closely. In particular, we aimed to understand the prominent gaps in the knowledge of ASHAs to tailor future training interventions.

We adopted a large-scale study design to collect information-seeking patterns of ASHAs using our platform⁴. We complement the prior work which have substantially reported performance gaps by measuring knowledge levels or assessing performance. By collecting and analyzing the queries of ASHAs, we try to understand the common and unmet training needs that, in turn, also serve as a groundwork for planning to implement any mobile training intervention on scale. We focused on these research questions:

- RQ1 What kind of information ASHAs seek from experts?
- **RQ1** What kind of knowledge or skill gaps the information seeking represent?
- **RQ1** To what extent the existing reference material of ASHAs can address the information seeking of ASHAs?

In a period of five months and one week, 500 CHWs were trained on six topics of Home-Based Post Natal Care in 20 batches. Through 144 training sessions, composed of delivering audio lectures on the training topics and facilitating interaction between an

⁴Deepika Yadav, Prerna Malik, Kirti Dabas, and Pushpendra Singh. 2021. Illustrating the Gaps and Needs in the Training Support of Community Health Workers in India. In *Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI, 1-16.

expert and CHWs, we collected 1178 questions. We examined the questions both qualitatively and quantitatively to find the topics and the nature of information seeking. We also mapped the coverage of these questions with the reference material of CHWs and collected CHWs' experiences by interviewing 48 of them.

We observed that when CHWs received the opportunity of interacting with an expert, they sought knowledge on field cases to improve problem-solving skills. The three key broad themes for improvement were routine patient care, knowledge on identifying danger signs, and skills to support breastfeeding. The findings highlighted the need to improve the on-the-job support system. We looked at the need to adopt holistic approaches such as improving the coverage and presentation of reference material, enhancing the training structure for problem-solving, and providing forums for interaction with experts.

The contributions of our study are primarily two. First, we present the first large-scale study in the HCI4D literature that goes deep into examining the knowledge gaps of CHWs by studying information seeking of 500 workers over a period of five months. We complement prior studies in this domain by collecting day-to-day field queries of CHWs and understanding what kind of knowledge CHWs seek to address them. Second, we contribute to the HCI4D community, which has been increasingly growing around CHWs, maternal and child health contexts in disadvantaged groups by outlining key takeaways for designing holistic learning solutions targeted towards the health education of CHWs.

6.1 Methodology

We conducted this study with the same NGO partner - SWACH.

6.1.1 Participants

We selected ASHAs using convenience sampling. SWACH staff first connected with their points of contact at the community health center levels (CHCs, a health facility at tier-3). The in-charge officials at CHCs helped in reaching out to ASHAs by introducing the proposed training intervention and recruiting ASHAs. Based on ASHAs' interest and availability, the ASHAs were included till we crossed our sample size of 500. We finally selected 500 ASHAs who provided their written consent to receive the training. These ASHAs remained till the end of the intervention. The participants' demographics are given in the table 6.1. Our selection process resulted in the coverage of 10/10 CHCs with an average number of 45 ASHAs per CHC (minimum was six from two CHCs, the maximum was 110 from one CHC) as reported in the table 6.1. All participants spoke Hindi with accents of Haryana and Punjab regions. Participants were remunerated for their time by cash incentive: each ASHA received an amount of 1000 INR.

Table 6.1: Participants Demographics

Age	Count(%)	Education (grade)	Count(%)	Experience (years)	Count(%)	СНС	ASHA Count
<30	20 (4%)	5 th -8 th	12 (2%)	0-5	21 (4%))	Brara	86
30-40	242 (48%)	8 th -10 th	79 (16%)	5-10	201 (40%)	Bilaspur	55
40-50	188 (38%)	10 th -12 th	357 (72%)	10-15	222 (45%)	Chaurmastpur	110
>50	28 (6%)	Graduation & above	30 (6%)	>15	34 (7%)	Khizrabad	67
no information	22 (4%)	no information	22 (4%)	no information	22 (4%)	Mullana	6
						Mustafabad	30
						Naharpur	39
						Radaur	51
						Sadhaura	6
						Shahzadpur	49
						No information	1
Total ASHAs	500						

Total ASHAs

6.1.2 Intervention Execution

The planning and preparation phase of the intervention started six months before the actual implementation. Several face-to-face meetings were organized to understand the resource availability, budget, and methodology. Two of the authors made back and forth visits to SWACH to conduct training workshops and facilitate running mock training sessions. With ten team members involved (7 from the SWACH staff), 12 days were devoted to the testing period, and 18 mock training sessions were conducted. Initially, few sessions were dedicated to test the functions of the android app and the web portal, which took approximately 8-10 minutes per session, followed by conducting full-length sessions of 20-30 minutes. Various kinds of issues with the system connectivity and functionality surfaced, e.g., network delays affecting the app when using mobile data, and were addressed.

For the final deployment, a team of eight team members - three authors from our side and five from SWACH. The SWACH head assumed the lead trainer's role, two staff members played the role of training moderators, and the rest acted as assistants to these moderators. We handled the responsibility of providing technical assistance to the SWACH staff and overseeing the overall execution that included monitoring system logs, taking prompt action to rectify errors during live sessions, and maintaining data records.

For the training topic, we decided to continue with the same topic of Home-Based Postnatal Care (HBPNC) that aligns with the official training curriculum of ASHAs and has been identified as one of the most critical areas for improving the skills of ASHAs [183]. Under HBPNC, this time, we reduced topics to six, namely breastfeeding, danger signs in mother, danger signs in newborn, newborn temperature control, play and communication with newborns, health, and mothers' happiness. Total seven sessions were planned for a batch - six topic sessions and one feedback session. Based on the findings of our prior studies, we decided the size of a training batch to be around 25. Using the sequential sampling method, we formed 20 groups consisting of about 25 ASHAs in each group. The session timing was fixed according to the ASHAs' availability. The majority of the ASHAs preferred time between 10:30 a.m and 1.00 p.m.

To manage the expert's availability, we modified our training design in the following manner. The training sessions were dedicated to delivering training content, conducting group discussions, and taking ASHAs questions, leaving out the live interaction with the doctor. Instead, the doctor's responses were collected offline. After finishing the training sessions of a day, the moderators would meet the doctor to record his responses. The moderator would then share these responses with the participants in the subsequent sessions. This hybrid approach allowed us to use the expert's time efficiently. The lack of experts is an identified problem for training CHWs.

We started our intervention in April 2019, completed it by August 2019. Throughout the

deployment, we faced technical challenges that were navigated with technical intervention from our side. Some got resolved smoothly with modifications in the system code; for others, workarounds were developed by our team. However, many times, mainly due to slow internet speed, sessions faced frequent interruptions. We planned to conduct training sessions for two groups each working day. However, at times, we had to suspend the training sessions for a few days in some weeks. Also, due to availability issues of ASHAs, the batch size varied from 19 to 27. Even with prior notice of the training, some of the ASHAs had to go for other meetings and visits. In total, 144 sessions were conducted for the 20 groups, seven sessions per group. Three sessions were repeated for group 15 due to low attendance, and one was repeated for group 14. Overall, the average attendance of ASHAs was 76%.

6.1.3 Data Collection and Analysis

Data collection was performed at various stages. The system server recorded every training session (audio recordings) and logged session event logs, e.g., call drops.

The training moderators and research staff made extensive field notes recording daily issues, observations, etc.

Q&A Analysis

The ASHAs' questions and answers were extracted from the daily evening meetings' audio recordings between the moderators and the doctor. These were transcribed daily by one of the moderators. Two authors later transcribed the answers to the questions.

Both the authors were fluent in Hindi (the language of conversations) and English. The recordings were first transcribed into Hindi language and then translated into English. Since the native language of all the authors and the ASHAs was the same, we decided to perform the analysis on the Hindi transcriptions to understand the local terms and associated nuances better. Three authors started the inductive thematic analysis of the questions individually by reading each question with two aspects in mind - the topics of the questions and the type of information seeking. After analyzing 112 questions, the authors discussed their codes and analysis rationale to develop an initial code dictionary.

Following this, two authors continued the analysis of the rest of the questions. After completing the annotation of every subsequent 200 questions, the authors discussed, refined, and added new emerged codes into the dictionary. While the codes for the type of information seeking saturated after the second iteration (eventually resulted in five themes), the codes for the topics and sub-topics increased until the last iteration. Finally, the final iteration reduced 30 codes of the main category to 15 and 321 sub-categories to 131.

Content Analysis

A separate analysis activity was performed on the subset of the questions to understand the extent to which the reference material provided to ASHAs addresses them. We obtained e-material from the National Health Mission website, the apex government body managing the community health workers [41]. The material is divided into seven modules and serves both as the training and learning material. The modules are specifically organized in the form of books provided to ASHAs when they get appointed and join the training program. We used these seven books along with an induction training module, which is a consolidated version of the first five modules for our analysis.

The two authors first understood the learning material by individually going through it and identified the relevant sections of the books to search content in. After this, the authors individually analyzed a few sample questions of two different topics to arrive at a consistent search and tagging method. For example, in addition to straightaway looking into the relevant chapters' sections, keyword searching at the individual file level and folder level was also used. While searching for a particular question topic, the authors also looked into related chapters that could potentially cover the topic indirectly, e.g., a question related to consumption of iron supplement post-delivery was also checked in pregnancy care sections as both the stages are advised for iron consumption. Finally, all the questions of the selected topics (Home Based Postnatal Care, details in the finding section) were mapped to the extent of the coverage in terms of whether answers to the questions were present or not and if present then fully or partially.

Interviews

The last main activity of the study was interviewing the ASHAs. The aim was to collect ASHAs' training experiences, usability issues, feedback for future improvement, and general information on existing training mechanisms. The selection process of the participant followed a systematic sampling approach. We first shortlisted 100 ASHAs from the initial pool of 500. From the 500 ASHAs already divided into 20 groups, we selected every 5th member. Going serially, we obtained consent from 60 ASHAs and could successfully conduct interviews with 50. Two interviews were discarded from these due to a very low attendance rate (less than two sessions).

The demographics are given in the Table 6.2. The education, age and experience characteristics were similar to that of the parent sample of 500 ASHAs. The distribution was across 9 CHCs with maximum share from three CHCs.

The interviews were conducted telephonically by three authors in the Hindi language. On average, an interview took 30 minutes to complete. Interviews were recorded after obtaining the consent of the ASHAs, which were later transcribed. Descriptive statistics were computed for the closed-ended questions, and an inductive thematic analysis was adopted for the open-ended questions [184]

6.2 Findings

In this section, we report 1.) the analysis of the questions asked by the ASHAs by discovering the topics and the kinds of gaps they indicate in the knowledge and skills, 2.) analysis

Age	Count(%)	Education (grade)	Count(%)	Experience (years)	Count(%)	СНС	ASHA Count
<30	3 (7%)	5 th -8 th	1 (2%)	0-5	2 (4%))	Brara	11
30-40	25 (54%)	8th-10th	4 (8%)	5-10	17 (35%)	Bilaspur	3
40-50	16 (35%)	10th-12th	36 (75%)	10-15	28 (58%)	Chaurmastpur	12
>50	2 (4%)	Graduates	7 (15%)	>=15	1 (2%)	Khizrabad	12
no information	2(4%)					Mullana	0
						Mustafabad	1
						Naharpur	1
						Radaur	3
						Sadhaura	1
						Shahzadpur	4
Total ASHAs	48						

Table 6.2: Interview Participants Demographics

Total ASHAs

of the reference material given to ASHAs and its mapping backward with the questions to understand the coverage, and 3.) analysis of the ASHAs perceptions and experiences on our training intervention and existing face to face training methods.

6.2.1 **ASHAs Engagement**

Before we delve into the analysis, we would like to present the participation of the ASHAs in the training session in terms of their attendance and contribution in the questions. Our sessions starting from the first week of April and continued till mid-August. ASHAs were trained in 20 groups, having a size of 25 members on average. The sessions for the ASHAs were conducted sequentially, taking two groups at a time, whereby these two groups would complete their training in 7-8 days in a row typically. We measured the attendance of the ASHAs session-wise. We found no temporal trend that could indicate attrition over the intervention duration. The individual attendance rates of the groups varied between 61% and 89%, and the average attendance for all the groups was 76%, see table 6.3.

In this deployment, we recorded a total of 1178 questions of the ASHAs. From these, we could map the ASHAs distribution for 1141, an activity that was performed later. Due to the loss of recordings of two sessions, we couldn't tag ASHAs names to the already transcribed questions for these sessions. There were 341 ASHAs out of 500 (68%) who asked questions. Among these 341, the number of questions asked per ASHAs ranged from 1 to 25. The table 6.4 and the histogram in the figure 6.1 shows the distribution of

Group ID	Group Size	Attendance (%)	No. of ASHAs
			who Asked Questions
group1	25	17 (69%)	21
group2	25	20 (81%)	18
group3	24	19 (79%)	20
group4	24	16 (68%)	11
group5	25	22 (86%)	17
group6	25	18 (74%)	15
group7	25	18 (70%)	16
group8	25	22 (89%)	13
group9	25	22 (89%)	16
group10	25	19 (76%)	19
group11	25	18 (72%)	15
group12	25	18 (71%)	19
group13	26	21 (80%)	17
group14	25	20 (81%)	15
group15	19	15 (81%)	18
group16	27	17 (64%)	15
group17	27	17 (61%)	17
group18	27	20 (75%)	23
group19	26	20 (76%)	14
group20	25	20 (81%)	22
Average	25	19 (76%)	17
Total	500		341

Table 6.3: ASHA Engagement

the ASHAs across different question intervals.

Looking from the point of activeness in questioning, we can say that overall from 500 ASHAs, 32% (158) participated only passively by listening to the training content and others conversation, 44% (222) participated less actively by asking a maximum up to 3 questions, 29% were moderately active asking 4 to 7 questions, 3% were quite active asking 8 to 11 questions and 1% were exceptionally active asking more than 11 questions.

Further, we also computed the participation area-wise, shown in the table 6.5. Excluding the two CHCs with few f ASHAs (6), the attendance rate varied from 71% to 87%, and the questioning rate varied from 50% to 85%. In this study, we did not further investigate the variation in participation across the CHCs; however, there might be factors relating to infrastructure, organization, or population load that could have affected the participation



Figure 6.1: Histogram of the questions asked by the ASHAs

of the ASHAs. Considering the high engagement of ASHAs in multiple programs, this is important to study what we would like to do in the future.

Question Intervals	No. of ASHAs (%)	No. of Questions
[0]	159 (32%)	0
[1,3]	222 (44%)	439
[3,5]	70 (14%)	298
[5,7]	27 (15%)	182
[7,9]	14 (3%)	117
[9,11]	5 (1%)	53
[11,13]	1 (0%)	12
[13,15]	1 (0%)	15
[23,25]	1 (0%)	25

Table 6.4: Distribution of ASHAs' Question Asking Behavior

6.2.2 Question Analysis

We analyzed a total of 1178 questions of ASHAs. Each question was analyzed to find the topic and sub-topic it contained and the type of knowledge-seeking. Table 6.6 shows the 16 topics, topic frequencies on which ASHAs asked their questions and distribution of ASHAs across the topics. Taking together, these 16 topics cut across the spectrum of reproductive, maternal, newborn, child, and adolescent health, with four major clusters centered on antenatal care, health and happiness of mother (post-delivery), breastfeeding,

CHC	ASHA Distribution	Attendance Rate(%)	No. of ASHAs(%)
			who Asked Questions
Barara	86	81%	71(83%)
Bilaspur	55	87%	40(73%)
Chaurmastpur	110	79%	70(64%)
Khizrabad	67	83%	44(66%)
Mullana	6	97%	4(67%)
Mustafabad	30	73%	15(50%)
Naharpur	39	82%	33(85%)
Radaur	51	81%	31(61%)
Sadhaura	6	71%	3(50%)
Shahzadpur	49	71%	30(61%)
No information	1		

 Table 6.5: ASHA Engagement Across Community Health Centers(CHCs)

and newborn care. We selected the first eight topics covering the six training topics (first six) and the top four topics with the highest frequency.

ASHAs' questions are concerned largely with field cases. Through these, ASHAs sought information and advice on the various kinds of health problems their clients faced. Our first measure of analysis identified the topics and sub-topics of the problems to develop a sense of the prevalent areas on which ASHAs need knowledge support. The second measure of analysis identified the level of knowledge and skill gaps ASHAs showed while discussing these field cases. To do this, we referred to the official training material of ASHAs that defines an ASHA's role in dealing with health problems based on three levels. For mild health problems, an ASHA should be able to provide guidance to families, including giving basic treatments. For moderate problems, which are currently non-severe but need attention, an ASHA should be able to guide families by watching for early signs of danger and making referrals if necessary. Moreover, for severe problems, an ASHA should facilitate early detection and making referrals.

6.2.3 Knowledge Seeking Type

Given a question, we gauged the severity of the problem mentioned in it by understanding its response given by the doctor and validating that from the reference material. Doing this for all questions, we observed three forms of knowledge-seeking as follows:

Topic	Number of (%)	Number of ASHAs
	Questions	who asked questions (per topic)
Breastfeeding*	239 (20.29%)	177
Danger Signs in Mother*	29 (2.46%)	24
Danger signs in Newborn*	78 (6.62%)	61
Health and Happiness in Mother*	123 (10.44%)	87
Newborn Temperature Control*	36 (3.06%)	33
Play and Communication with Newborn*	13 (1.10%)	11
Antenatal Care*	214 (18.17%)	140
Newborn Care*	265 (22.50%)	163
Gynaecological Issues	93 (7.89%)	69
General Health	12 (1%)	10
Adolescent	10 (0.85%)	9
Older child (> years)	19 (1.16%)	16
Older child (1-6 months)	13 (1.10%)	10
Older child (6 months-2 years)	25 (2.12%)	21
Top feed	7 (0.17%)	4
Miscellaneous	2(0.17%)	2
Total Questions	1178	
Total unique ASHAs who asked questions		341

Table 6.6: Question Topics and Frequency

* topics selected for the analysis

- *Basic Knowledge Improvement*: represented information seeking that showed gaps in the essential knowledge and skills to execute the defined roles of ASHAs across all the three levels of problems mild, moderate, and serious. For instance, in mild problems, ASHAs lacked understanding of the problems, causes, and the simple solutions to be provided to the families; in moderate problems, ASHAs lacked understanding of symptoms and the scope of help they can provide to families; and in severe problems, ASHAs showed lack of knowledge in referring families to the right facility and in providing guidance till families receive care or after receiving the care (see table 6.7 for examples). The questions were mainly of 'what' and 'how' forms, seeking factual and procedural knowledge for problem-solving [191]. In our data, we found 892 questions (75%) showing information seeking basic knowledge improvement. From the total 342 ASHAs who asked questions, 323 asked on basic knowledge improvement.
- *Knowledge Enhancement* In this form of information seeking, ASHAs showed interest in knowing more than factual knowledge by focusing more on the reasoning,

Table 6.7: Question Categorization by Severity Level and Type of Information Seeking

Question Classification	Rationale
MILD	
"Post-delivery mothers usually develop constipation, what advice should we give?" (<i>Basic Knowledge</i>)	 Constipation is a common problem most mothers face after delivery. It usually takes few days for normal bowel movements to occur [185]. An ASHA can help mothers by providing advice on water consumption, food intake, and physical exercises
"Many newborns develop jaundice on birth, what is the reason for that?"(<i>Knowledge Enhancement</i>)	 Newborn jaundice is a common usually harmless condition, particularly in babies born before 38 weeks' gestation (preterm babies) and some breastfed babies. Mostly mild, it starts 2-3 days after birth and without treatment tend to get better after 2 weeks [186, 187]. ASHAs should know how to check yellowish discoloration of skin and eyes correctly and advise mothers to continue breastfeeding.
MODERATE	
"During HBPNC visits, if we observe small pimples on the body of newborn then what should we do?" (<i>Basic Knowledge</i>)	 -Skin conditions in a newborn can range from mild diaper rash to milia to a more severe pustules and blisters [186]. - ASHAs should be able to identify the severity as more than 10 pustules are dangerous and need referral.
"If a pregnant lady in her third-month experiences bleeding, but ultrasound report comes fine, will everything be all right later on?" (<i>Knowledge Enhancement</i>)	-Vaginal bleeding is a common first-trimester complication, often considered to be a sign of a problem in pregnancy. Bleeding multiple times do have more risk of preterm labour [188], - ASHAs needs to be more vigilant with these mothers and refer immediately if the mother reports spotting or bleeding at any point in pregnancy.
SEVERE	
"What should we recommend in the case of reduced amniotic fluid in six-month pregnancy stage? "(<i>Advanced Case</i>)	 Oligohydramnios occurs in about 1–5% of pregnancies at term. It is associated with a high rate of pregnancy complications and increased perinatal morbidity and mortality [189, 190] Such cases need expert advice
"Each time the child breathes in, the chest pulls in, the skin on the neck pulls in, the child is also not breastfeeding. In such as case, what advice should we give and where should we refer?" (<i>Basic Knowledge</i>)	 Chest indrawing in a child with cough or difficult breathing indicates that the child has pneumonia, should be referred to the hospital [186]. Aiding in the management of acute respiratory infection is defined as one of the key tasks under the skills for recognizing danger signs of children. ASHAs are supposed to have good knowledge on recognizing and classifying breathing patterns

causes, and concepts. The problems ranged from mild to moderate (see examples in table 6.7). Typically the questions under this category had "*why*" form of seeking, e.g. "*why do healthy infants get milk in ears*", "*why do newborns catch jaundice on the third day after birth*", "*what is the reason of menstruation not getting stopped during pregnancy for some women*". Out of 342, 94 ASHAs showed interest in knowledge enhancement and asked 147 questions (13%).

• Advanced Cases - The questions under this category represented health conditions which were stated advanced for ASHAs such that either the health problems, as already diagnosed, are complex or in severe condition. ASHAs sought general knowledge on the problems. For such cases, the doctor recommended ASHAs to not focus on understanding the problem but on providing support to the families (see examples in the table 6.7). The training materials of the ASHAs also did not cover such cases. The total number of questions under this category was 139 (12%).

We will now illustrate the gaps in the essential basic knowledge and skills in the next

Торіс	Mild	Moderate	Severe
Danger Signs in Mother	0	8	21
Danger signs in Newborn	0	25	53
Health and Happiness in Mother	92	24	0
Newborn Temperature Control	26	10	0
Play and Communication with	12	1	0
Newborn			
Antenatal	87	71	56
Newborn Care	231	33	1
Total	448 (60%)	172 (23%)	131 (17%)

 Table 6.8: Questions Distribution According to Severity

section, which is our major finding. As mentioned previously, we discuss these through the eight selected topics, namely breastfeeding, danger signs in mother, danger signs in newborn, health and happiness in mothers, play and communication with newborn, newborn temperature control, antenatal care, and newborn care which composed of 997 questions.

6.2.4 Illustration of Knowledge Gaps

Routine Patient Care

By making home visits, ASHAs get first-hand accounts of their fellow community members' routine health experiences. This reflection held a major theme in our results. 60% of the questions represented day to daycare concerns and common health problems (see table 6.8 and figure 6.2). The maximum number of queries on antenatal care (87 of 214) were on common problems and discomfort due to pregnancy changes, e.g., cramps, heartburn, varicose veins, etc. The recommended remedies to these concerns are related to self-care and lifestyle changes. In addition to developing adequate factual knowledge on guiding these, as observed from the doctor's answers, the key aspect was to tailor the information according to individual needs and address the prevalent perceived lack of willingness towards health adherence in an effective manner. For instance, even though Anemia is one of the biggest threat to maternal health in rural India and given the focus on increasing adherence to the consumption of iron and folic acid supplements in the antenatal care in the training material, ASHAs lacked basic knowledge about the intake and side effects of the supplements "Should iron tablets be taken during day time or after dinner?", "Can iron tablet cause itching?".

The common questions post-delivery constituted of problems related to delivery discomforts and body changes (42 questions, see the graph - health and happiness of mother in the figure 6.2), e.g., bleeding, discharge, stitches pain, etc. The second most sought topic in this phase was contraception (23), mainly concerning the Copper-T method (13). Few questions sought further knowledge on the safety extent of breastfeeding as a natural contraceptive.

Questions on the diet highlighted the prevalence of deep-rooted traditional practices (18). Corroborating with the various kinds of dietary restrictions during pregnancy and post-childbirth as reported by the prior studies [192]. ASHAs sought both reassurance and clarification of these practices. In only one question, an ASHA acknowledged the practices to be harmful and sought counseling tips. TThe rest questions showed how ASHAs carried on the misbeliefs and lacked scientific knowledge, for example, "*How many days after delivery should a mother take a bath?*", "*Do infants frequently pass stools because mothers consume ghee (clarified butter)? Should less ghee be given to such a mother or not given altogether?*", "After the delivery if a mother is not given enough food and is given hot water so that her belly does not protrude out. Is this okay?"

Queries on newborn care sought knowledge on the daily care of newborns (102), common health problems (43), and weight tracking (36). Examples of sub-topics under the routine care topic were umbilical stump care, massaging technique, bathing frequency, eye care, sleep routine, etc. Some of these, such as stump care, bathing frequency, and eye care, showed the need to address the communities' prevalent malpractices. Monitoring the growth of newborns means tracking newborn weight gain week by week for the first 42 days. This is one of the critical knowledge components concerning newborn survival. However, the ASHAs showed significant gaps. In 32 out of 36 questions, ASHAs showed a complete lack of knowledge on the appropriate weight gain ranges, e.g. *"How much* weight a newborn should gain in a week?". Also, ASHAs did not seem to have a good understanding of the factors associated with newborn growth, as shown below:

ASHA13, Group11: "If a newborn's weight does not increase even if he/she is breastfed well, then what advice should we give?"

Doctor: "If this is happening, then the mother is not feeding the baby properly. You or the mother might feel that the baby is being fed properly when he/she is not. Proper feeding means that any worry does not bind the mother. It means that she is feeding the baby multiple times, both in the day and night. It means that she feeds only from one side at a time. The baby should not just suck on the nipple but put pressure on the areola; the baby's chin must be touching the mother's chest".

The topic of newborn temperature control, which requires more hands-on skills, reflected a poor understanding of the topic by ASHAs. 22 out of 36 questions were on body temperature. ASHAs showed confusion on measuring temperature, interpreting temperature readings, and taking corrective action, e.g., "*What should be the newborn body temperature in summers and winters?*", "*If on touching a child feels warm but otherwise his/her temperature is normal then what we should do?*" The topic of play and communication had very few questions (13) covering basic questions on newborn development, five senses, and mother-child play and bond, all of the mild severity.

Recognition of Danger signs

The second most important information seeking represented problems of moderate to severe nature, holding 40% of queries (see table 6.8 and figure 6.3, 6.4). These were mainly about illnesses and diseases where ASHAs sought to improve their knowledge on distinguishing between danger and normal signs and necessary actions to take (a majority of the questions under danger signs represented severe conditions - shown in figure 6.4). The questions showed gaps in basic knowledge, for example, post-partum hemorrhage is one



Figure 6.2: Topics and sub-topics of questions containing problems of mild severity The figure describes the mild questions that were asked by ASHAs under different topics and sub-topics.

of the most common life-threatening danger sign, had maximum questions in danger signs in the mother category (11 questions, see figure 6.4), that is also covered in the training curriculum. However, ASHAs did not show clear understanding on recognizing the severity of bleeding such as "*If after the delivery a mother changes her pad 8-10 times in a day, then is it a danger sign?*", "*After the delivery if the mother experiences heavy bleeding then what should be done?*" Likewise, 33 of 78 questions under danger signs in newborns reflected gaps in basic knowledge and skills (25 moderate and 53 severe). The prominent areas of questions were newborn diseases and congenital disabilities, followed by growth, breathing complications, and skin problems.

Breastfeeding Support

Breastfeeding, as a topic, emerged as an independent theme. Since breastfeeding is not a health problem but a natural phenomenon that requires skilled support, the questions were



Figure 6.3: Topics and sub-topics of questions containing problems of moderate severity The figure describes the moderate questions that were asked by ASHAs under different topics and sub-topics.



Figure 6.4: Topics and sub-topics of questions containing problems of severe severity The figure describes the severe questions that were asked by ASHAs under different topics and sub-topics.

not judged as mild, moderate, or serious. Providing breastfeeding support is a core skill for ASHA and forms a part of fundamental knowledge improvement. We categorized the questions further into six sub-topics, as shown in the table 6.9.

Queries on the early initiation of breastfeeding (37) covered seeking tips on encouraging new mothers, providing counseling on initial concerns of milk supply, and teaching breastfeeding techniques. A key concern raised here was about how to ensure initiation of breastfeeding within one hour of delivery in case of cesarean sections, "*When a child is delivered via cesarean, then mother remains unconscious for hours, in such a situation, how can we facilitate the initiation of breastfeeding with the help of doctors?*" Cesarean section delivery adversely impact breastfeeding initiation is a growing public health concern [193]. It has been reported that many birth facilities do not follow the recommended best practices, e.g., keeping mothers and newborns together, facilitating skin-to-skin contact. Here, ASHAs also sought to understand how they could better support breastfeeding in existing hospital environments.

The core gap in the knowledge of ASHAs emerged about breastfeeding physiology

Category (count)	Sub-Category (count)	Category (count)	Sub-Category (count)
Early Initiation of Breastfeeding (37)	cesarean deliveries milk production & newborn suckling concerns	Perception-based (73) problems	insufficient milk supply (36) child refusing breastmilk (13) breastmilk is harmful (14) mother not willing (4)
Breastfeeding Technique (39)	Positioning (4) attachment (3) frequency (4) one sided nursing (4) twins (6) triplets (1) low birth weight babies (11) inactive babies (1)	Breastfeeding discontinuation (38)	mother is sick (31) child is sick (2) mother is pregnant (5)
Breast Problems (43)	engorgement (3) cracked nipple (14) lump in breast (10) nipple shape (14) breast size (2)	Miscellaneous (9)	myth (1) introduction of water (2) diet (1) newborn death (2) dos and don'ts (2)

Table 6.9: Breastfeeding Queries Typology and Definition

and technique. The questions and explanations covered under the topics - breastfeeding technique (39 questions), breast problems (43 questions), and insufficient milk supply (36), and child refusing breastmilk (13) in perception-based problems, majorly showed this. The root cause highlighted by the doctor for all these associated with ineffective breastfeeding technique - poor positioning, inadequate latching, and inadequate feeding frequency. A sample conversation is given below:

ASHA5, Group4: "If the mother is breastfeeding the baby yet a lump forms in the breast, what should she do about it?"

Doctor: "Lump formation even after breastfeeding is a sign that the mother's breast is not getting emptied. That is why she must not let her/him suckle the nipple when the mother feeds the baby. The baby should suckle on the areola, and then milk will come in nicely. if a lump has formed and is not dissolving, then you should not take any risk and refer the mother."

Maternal perceptions of breastmilk insufficiency is a common barrier to exclusive breastfeeding [194]. However, ASHAs' mentions of the associated problems seemed to be no different from mothers. ASHAs even carried the prevalent community misbeliefs, for ex-
ample, considering breastmilk as being harmful to children. The understanding of exclusive breastfeeding was also observed as limited. ASHAs showed confusion and presented a variety of situations to understand whether to continue breastfeeding or not. For example, "*If a newborn has red rash/bumps at birth, can mother breastfeed the baby?*", "A mother has a six-month-old baby and now she is again pregnant, can she breastfeed her six-month-old baby?".

To know the current training duration on breastfeeding, we investigated two training officials of the region selected in our study. The breastfeeding topic is covered in less than half a day as part of the Home-Based Post-Natal Care training module. Besides this, there is no other specific training.

6.2.5 Mapping of Questions to Reference Material

The reading reference material of ASHAs is spread across seven modules, corresponds to their training modules. The official training of ASHAs covers these modules in two phases. The first phase covers module 1 to module 5, also called the induction training program, and the second phase covers module 6 and module 7 to impart skills on Home Based Post Natal Care, which we chose as our training topic. Overall, the seven modules cover 19 themes, which are covered in 23 days of training. These themes are further organized into lessons such that each lesson is 2-3 pages long and can be completed in half an hour, as mentioned in the books. Every lesson covers both knowledge and some skills aspects presented in simple language with fair use of illustrations and highlights. The information is presented in the form of a bulleted list that can be read and skimmed. However, the books do not provide information in the format of frequently asked questions, and one needs to search for information topic-wise.

Questions Coverage Proportion

We could classify the coverage of ASHA questions into three categories. First, the questions for which answers could be directly found in the content of the associated topic. Second, questions for which answers could be derived only partially because the present information is not complete enough to understand the concept fully or find a solution to a problem (a sample depicted in the table 6.10). Third, the questions whose answers could not be found either because the associated topic is not covered or the underlying problem is too specific. Of 997 questions, only 22% were covered, 15% were partially covered, and 63% were not covered.

Table 6.10: Sample of a partially covered question

Question: *"if a mother experiences bleeding for 2 months post-delivery then what should we do"?* Material Content:



Looking more into what is not covered, we now present our findings across the three themes discussed in the previous section - routine patient care, recognition of danger signs, and breastfeeding. Mapping a coarse analysis for the topics - antenatal, health and happiness of mother, newborn care, newborn temperature control, and play and communication with more than 70% of the problems as mild, 69% were found to be not covered in the reference material.

Торіс	Covered	Not Covered	Partially Covered	Total
Breastfeeding	85	99	55	239
Danger sign in mother	8	12	9	29
Danger Signs in Newborn	10	64	4	78
Newborn Care	48	188	29	265
Newborn Temperature Control	11	11	14	36
Play and Communication 0	12	1	13	
Health and Happiness in Mother	10	104	9	123
Antenatal	45	136	33	214
Total	217 (22%)	626 (63%)	154 (15%)	997

Table 6.11: Topic Wise Coverage

Coverage Analysis

In the antenatal care topic with 61 questions under common pregnancy discomforts, only 12 were covered (see table 6.11). Forty-four were not covered, and five were partially covered. From all the common problems, only discharge and swelling in the body were covered as part of content under danger signs. Rest of the problem types which most mothers face, however, were missing in the reference material. The overall content on antenatal care (covered into two chapters over 20 pages) mainly talks about educating women on making antenatal contacts, watching for early signs of dangers, caring for anemia, educating on the importance of nutritious diet and iron supplements, helping women receive food-related services from nearest centers, and developing plans for birth preparedness [195, 196]. However, it does not provide any pointers on common discomforts, dos and don'ts, and general care information.

Likewise, from the 55 questions on common post-partum problems in the health and happiness of mother topic, only four were covered. Three of these, two on fever and one on bleeding, were covered under the section on complications during the post-partum period [197]. The fourth question about iron tablets' side effects was covered indirectly in the diet section under antenatal care. All other types of problems, such as pains, bleeding, vaginal discharge, stitches' discomforts, skin problems, hemorrhoids, and bowel movements, were not covered. The diet-related questions sought clarifications of prevalent misconceptions

(18/18), doubts and concerns related to body image and routine care (10/12), counseling support (6/7), menstruation (5/5), repeated pregnancy (3/3) were not covered. 10 out of 23 questions on contraception had missed topics on breastfeeding as a contraceptive, and oral and injectable hormonal contraception [198].

In newborn temperature control (36 questions), 11 were covered, 14 were partially covered. The remaining 11 that were not covered questions were about room temperature and methods of measuring temperature. The play and communication were not covered in the material at all.

On danger signs, 12 of 29 danger signs in mother (41%) and 64 of 78 questions on danger signs in the newborn (82%) were not covered (see table 6.11). On danger signs in mother, post-cesarean problems, thyroid problems were not covered [197]. From the 11 questions on excessive bleeding, six were directly covered. The remaining 5 represented case-specific problems, e.g. *"There is a case in which the bleeding of the mother stopped after 15 days of delivery; however, started again after some days then what to do?"*. Of these, four were partially covered, and one was not covered.

For Danger signs in newborns, the not covered topics majorly came from newborn diseases (30), skin problems (4), and congenital disabilities (15). A common disease that most newborns develop immediately after birth is jaundice, which mostly remains mild to moderate but becomes serious and needs referral and is listed as a common danger sign. There were 11 questions on jaundice, all of which were not covered. We found only one line of information on jaundice covered as part of the section - Neonatal Sepsis: Diagnosis and Management, written as "When to refer baby - becomes yellow (jaundice) on the first day or jaundice persists after 14 days" [198]. Congenital disabilities, which have been reported to high in rural India, constituted of 15 questions and were included in our training intervention were also not found to be covered.

Finally, in the 239 questions of breastfeeding, 85 (36%) were covered, 99 (41%) were not covered and 55 (23%) were partially covered (see table 6.11). The prominent areas

in which the questions were not covered included breastfeeding technique (15), discontinuation of breastfeeding due to sickness of a mother or newborn (38), and attitudinal and perception-based problems (27).

The 15 questions not covered under breastfeeding technique included specific problems, cases of twins (6), triples(1), low birth weight cases (4), and one-sided nursing (3). The content concerning the continuation of breastfeeding during the mother's or child's sickness was inadequately covered. The section on "Engorged and painful breasts (very full breasts)", in Book 6, contained one statement as "She should continue to breastfeed (from both sides) even if she is taking antibiotics". Under the category attitudinal and perception-based problems, there were 73 questions that constituted four types of questions - not enough milk, a child refusing breastmilk, perception of breastmilk being harmful, and mother not willing to breastfeed (see table 6.9). From these, 32 were covered, 29 on not enough milk and 3 on child refusing to breastfeed, the rest two categories as mother's perception of breastmilk being harmful (11), which is a myth and mothers' unwillingness to feed were not addressed (3). The counseling component, which is a crucial skill for addressing perception-based problems, was not explicitly explained. There were only general tips for communicating with mothers and mentions of causes. For instance, the section on "not enough milk" only list causes such as, e.g., mother's anxiety, exhaustion, insecurity, and inadequate family support without elaboration.

6.2.6 Training Experience

In this section, we present the interview findings of the training experiences of ASHAs and their feedback for the future.

Perceived Benefits

While most of the ASHAs liked all the three features of the systems - content listening, Q&A with the doctor, and peer to peer group discussion - the interaction with the doctor

was most strongly preferred. 29 ASHAs liked all the three features, 5 liked two - interaction with the doctor and peer-to-peer interaction, 3 liked peer-to-peer and 3 did not answer. To the question "Would the system without the feature of interaction with doctor be good?", 32 said no and emphasized on the necessity of the presence of doctor in training. The potential pitfalls with ASHA-only system pointed were the authenticity of information, inability to arrive at correct conclusion in group interaction, and less benefit in gaining knowledge from peers than experts.

With dedicated time allocated to questioning and answering with a field expert every day, the ASHAs mentioned they could effectively discuss their field problems. This was reported as important because of the lack of regular forums for problem-solving.

Moreover, ASHAs acknowledged the respect they received as health workers. Prior studies have reported issues with recognition of ASHAs as health workers, which was reflected in the views, for example, "*One benefit that I felt was that there is someone who understands us and would listen to us. Because sometimes our doctors and nurses are not able to understand our point. But they (trainers) listened to us very patiently and carefully.*" (ASHA1, Group11)

By receiving expert guidance, ASHAs felt more confident in facing their clients, expressed as follows.

"If we are unable to give them [clients] correct guidance, we feel like a failure, but when we are able to guide them effectively, then we feel successful and that we have executed our responsibility correctly. So that is what I asked the doctor about and he explained very nicely that things are like this, do this, do that, if they still do not understand, counsel them like this. Moreover, the rest of the things we learn by practice". (ASHA2, Group16)

On the extent of interaction with trainers in existing face-to-face training methods, ASHAs commented that while they interact with trainers in the sessions, that is more limited to clarifications of doubts on the training topics. The training schedule remains typically tight with limited scope for discussion on day to day field queries.

In addition to getting help in problem-solving, the training intervention served the purpose of refresher training. ASHAs said that they receive training as and when new programs are launched; however, they do not get opportunities to refresh older topics. The use of reference material did not seem to be effectively used. While mentioning the benefit of direct interaction with experts, ASHAs said that they do not get time to read the material and prefer verbal communication.

Usability

As reported in our prior studies, this deployment also found sub-optimal cellular connectivity as a key challenge. Due to lower signal strength, call drops were frequent. According to the logs captured by our systems, 86% of ASHAs (428/500) experienced at least one call drop in every session, and 30 ASHAs experienced more than three call drops in a session (max was 7). Further, troubleshooting activities due to poor internet connectivity at the trainers' end and issues on the server-side added to the inconvenience. When we asked the ASHAs about their experience of attending the sessions, 20 (out of 48) mentioned the connection problems and mainly complained about the voice quality issues. As a result, one ASHA even preferred a traditional brick and mortar training mode over this mobile-based.

Another challenge observed by some of the ASHAs related to making adjustments with the training timings. The morning hours did not suit them as they had to be in the fields for usual ASHA work. Even after prior notice, they had to skip some sessions, sometimes because of meetings with supervisors and other times to serve urgent duties. These were on top of domestic responsibilities, which are typically quite demanding, expressed as "*By the way, it is also important that housework is also necessary, work had to be done at that time. I used to get the phone call while cooking, and you know, family members would then speak.*"

Feedback

Feature-wise, ASHAs suggested making the audios available to them for offline use over WhatsApp or in other form. Some ASHAs also wished for videos so that they can show them to their clients during home visits. Interaction feature-wise, ASHAs suggested to keep all the three and did not show an inclination towards using the system with only peer-to-peer interaction feature. An expert's presence was deemed important to have authority and authenticity in the information. For timing concerns, a suggestion was to keep their departments well informed and not just immediate supervisors. For the frequency of mobile-based training, 31% desired for once in three months, 40% desired for once in six months, and 29% once in a year.

Topic-wise, ASHAs found breastfeeding and danger signs as the two most impactful areas to learn on. ASHAs said that as they frequently face complex health situations such as recurrent abortions, pre-term deliveries, newborn deaths, they need more training to develop a good understanding of recognizing dangers early on.

6.3 Discussion

As we observed, most of the questions pertained to day to day care concerns and common health problems (more than 60%). This is the area that requires the most improvement. ASHAs showed significant gaps in their basic knowledge to address their clients' needs. We now discuss three potential areas to focus on.

6.3.1 Improvement in Reference Material

We observed two concerns with the use of existing reference material. First, the material is not used by ASHAs, and second, the material does not sufficiently cover common queries.

Regarding the non-use of material, though we did a coarse level of inquiry, we noted that ASHAs prefer discussion-based learning over reading text. ASHAs find reading text to be time-consuming and want something that can directly answer their questions. This is one of the reasons why ASHAs favored interaction with the doctor as the most useful feature of our system. While the requirement of enhancing the content design in the form of FAQs and problem-solving exercises is clear, it is essential to investigate the usability further. Understanding how ASHAs comprehend the material will help recognize better the cognition challenges ASHAs might have due to considerable variation in their education and literacy levels [199].

Likewise, the investigation should also extend to other forms, such as those designed specifically for use in the fields. Prior studies have reported less use of pictorial flip charts by ASHAs in their home visits.

Project - Mobile Kunji - provides a successful example of using flashcards in this case [131]. The project combines flashcards with an IVR application to assist ASHAs in their dialogue with women in-home visits. Flashcards are an effective way of reinforcing spaced learning. Flashcards are a handy resource that has been found useful for every stage of class [200]. Flashcards are also more appealing to visual learners like ASHAs who generally have low exposure to formal schooling. Further usage of Flashcards or alternate interventions may be explored to support ASHAs in the field.

The second aspect is to improve the coverage of the existing reference material. Overall, we found 63% of the questions to be not covered - 69% in routine patient care, 70% in danger signs, and 41% in breastfeeding were not covered. By developing a typology of the questions, we provide the coverage information further in detail and create a resource for future work. This calls for enhancing the existing material and thinking of other solutions to cater to the information needs of ASHAs. Further, we also suggest to improve the content analysis by going deeper into understanding the nature of questions - fact-based or case-based etc.

6.3.2 Design Guidelines for Mobile-Based Training Solutions

Our findings showed the importance of providing a forum for interaction with experts to ASHAs. In addition to knowledge improvement, two key benefits highlighted were improved communication with clients and problem-solving skills. ASHAs tried to learn by discussing their field cases with the expert. This helped them understand the systematic ways of making conversations with their clients and arrive at appropriate decision-making. The majority of the ASHAs desired such mobile-based training at a frequency of twice a year. This is encouraging to find. However, given that there are acute shortages of experts in the developing settings [201], it is crucial to employ better training designs. So that technology use and human effort can be balanced. This suggests shifting the effort of answering repeated and fact-based queries to the machine and use experts' resources for improving decision-making skills. This also implies incorporating automation in the training process with a focus on the use of pedagogical techniques to encourage self- and peer-learning [202, 203, 204, 205]. Prior work has shown promising results of employing spaced education and offline learning formats [206]. Designing coursewares for CHWs that can be delivered through inexpensive feature phones is a potential research direction.

Further, given that the smartphone penetration is rapidly increasing in poor regions and increasing news of equipping ASHAs with smartphones [207, 208], it is worth to design richer applications. Our study observed that though the IVR-based platform provided an advantage of reachability, it was limited in user experience, e.g., dependency on voice-based communication. Smartphone applications will help in supporting visual learning and delivering learning resources for offline use.

Another factor to consider in providing mobile-based training interventions is the workload of ASHAs, which is not limited to just the official duties but domestic responsibilities [209]. Corroborating with the prior studies [14, 204], we observed time challenges with ASHAs. Due to high engagement in the fields, urgent community needs, and family responsibilities, it became difficult for some of the ASHAs to attend all the sessions. This calls for attention at multiple levels - human-centered design in HCI, program management, and policymaking. Designs taking care of the intersections CHWs are positioned at have the potential to further the aspirations of CHWs in becoming a credible health workforce [209]. Kumar et al., through their reflexive analysis of three mHealth project deployments draws attention to the impact on the stability of an organization on the introduction of new technologies [210]. Any form of technology introduction in the work lives of ASHAs leads to reconfiguration at different levels such as communication with coworkers, power relations, and community relationships. Factoring in these at the right stage of design is important in order to aim a fruitful, scale deployment.

6.3.3 Directed Attention on Breastfeeding

Breastfeeding has an important role in child survival and child health. The Lancet series on child survival identified breastfeeding interventions to have the potential to prevent 13% of all under-5 deaths in developing areas of the world, ranking it as the most important preventive measure [211]. Hence, the promotion of breastfeeding is an integral part of all maternal and child healthcare-related programs in India and, therefore, a core responsibility of the ASHA [46].

Also, as an activity post-delivery, breastfeeding immediately becomes central in which both the mother and the healthcare worker are required to be effectively engaged in. Right from the initiation to the first few weeks of postpartum, breastfeeding entails challenges that need skilled support [212, 213]. As evident from our study, ASHAs had the maximum number of queries on breastfeeding, asked by a maximum of them (177 ASHAs). However, these queries showed a clear lack of knowledge on fundamental concepts and skills to support mothers. The key gap highlighted is that ASHAs lack knowledge to address the breastfeeding barriers. Outside influences such as advice given by female relatives and friends have been reported to be a major interference to breastfeeding practice which impact perceptions of the mother on milk supply and her confidence to continue exclusive breastfeeding. Exercise of traditional practices such as adding pre-lacteal food and mixing breastfeeding with animal milk is common in India, (also reported by us in Chapter 8) [214]. The questions of the ASHAs showed that they too believed in such practices.

The reason behind the lack of knowledge is evident from the fact that training on breastfeeding is inadequate on the ground. As per our investigation, ASHAs receive only 2-4 hours of training on breastfeeding as a part of their HBPNC training module. This is substantially low as compared to the international guidelines. According to WHO/UNICEF Breastfeeding Hospital Initiative (BFHI), all health care staff who have any form of contact with mothers, infants and/or children must receive at least 18 hours (five days) of training on breastfeeding and lactation management [215]. Further, the training is not aligned with the expectation documented in the training curriculum where ASHAs are seen as a vehicle for promoting exclusive breastfeeding through counselling support [197].

Overall, we find that there are two primary needs. The first is to improve the training on the ground with a focus on improving fundamental concepts and counselling skills. The second is to tailor the training content according to the community needs to enable ASHAs to address the prevalent socio-cultural barriers of breastfeeding.

Chapter 7 Semi-Automating the Curation of Training Material

One of the requirements highlighted by the ASHAs in all of our field studies was to have access to training audio recordings for offline use. Particularly, for on-demand access to topic-wise content during client visits. Such access would help ASHAs to augment their dialogue with clients and develop knowledge organically by discussing the topic information at the point of its real application. This meant providing an easy-to-use digital audio library that contains recordings of the training topics and frequently asked questions. To achieve this, the basic task is to organize, tag, and categorize the audio recordings; however, this is time-consuming because it has to be performed manually. Due to the non-availability of automatic methods for local languages, in our case, it was Hindi with a mixture of its variations, the process of curation becomes challenging when data volume increases. In fact, content curation and moderation have been a bottleneck problem in the sustainability of voice-based forums.

Existing large-scale forums such as CGNetSwara [18] and Gram Vaani [65] employ dedicated teams of full-time moderators for the curation tasks. Example of moderation tasks includes screening the quality and legitimacy of voice messages, ranking messages in the IVR menus, selecting good messages for publishing at other media forums. Humanbased curation, while has merits on judgment and quality aspects, impedes scalability. Prior work, SangeetSwara [21], and Gurgaon Idol [216], have investigated community moderation mechanisms for voice forum content management. Here users could upvote and downvote audio recordings to influence the playback order and categorize the content based on voice quality. Another work by Vashistha et al. proposed a crowd-sourced system that enables people who speak and understand these languages, particularly the low literates, to transcribe in an easy manner [217]. It works by assigning short utterances of audio to multiple users, collecting clearer re-spoken versions, and estimating the best transcript. However still, these are human-dependent approaches, and the main problem in applying any automatic language processing technique has the non-availability of good-quality transcriptions of audio recordings. Manual transcription is extremely time-intensive and costly.

This chapter addresses the challenge of automatic curation by exploring a semi-automated approach for categorizing and labelling audio recordings. We used low-accuracy transcripts generated by Google Speech Recognition APIs and applied basic natural language processing algorithms such as topic modeling and extractive summarization to cluster and summarize audio recordings. We based our research around these questions: given the audio transcripts of low accuracy, how can the standard techniques of natural language processing and information retrieval be leveraged to automate or semi-automate the basic curation tasks of clustering, tagging, and summarizing, and will that type of curation be found relevant by the end-users? The specific research questions were:

- **RQ1**: Are topic models useful for clustering the voice forum dataset?
- **RQ2**: Is the relevance perception of the automatic annotation similar to manual annotation?
- **RQ3**: Is the relevance perception similar across summary types (summary as a sentence, summary as a group of keywords)?
- **RQ4**: Does the preference of the users for the type of summary change based on the annotation source (human versus machine) and annotation type (summary sentence versus group of keywords)?

We attempted to address the above research questions through a field trial with 48 ASHAs⁵. Our evaluation showed that the users found topic annotation relevant with the

⁵Deepika Yadav, Mayank Gupta, Malolan Chetlur, and Pushpendra Singh. 2018. Automatic annotation of voice forum content for rural users and evaluation of relevance. In *Proceedings of the 1st ACM SIGCAS Conference on Computing and Sustainable Societies*, COMPASS, 1–11.

audio clusters. In the case of annotating audios with the summary, the relevance perception varied between manual and automatic annotation, but automatically generated summaries were still found to be useful to access the voice forum audios.

Our primary contributions in this chapter are: (i) developing automatic annotation of voice forum data for rural users, (ii) developing a Hindi corpus of training material of community health workers and (iii) understanding user's perception (relevance, preference) of automatic annotation in comparison with manual annotation through a field trial in northern India.

7.1 Dataset

In this study, we used the audio dataset of our first field study - Sangoshthi - which was in the Hindi language with its variations due to a mixture of dialects and different accents. The data comprised audio recording of the training content prepared by the experts (10 audios, 150 minutes) and the Q&A recordings between the doctor and the ASHAs (175 audios, 350 minutes). A Q&A audio was composed of a question asked by a health worker and its answer given by a doctor and had a duration of 2 minutes, on average. We used the Google Speech Recognition engine for transcribing the audios considering its availability, ease of use, and coverage of languages [218]. The APIs offer both real-time and offline transcription services along with a feature to get timestamps of the transcribed words that we later used in constructing the audio summaries. The produced transcripts had an average word length as 129 (min $\overline{20}$, max $\overline{401}$) and average confidence score (estimation of the correctness of recognition) normalized by word count as 0.91 (min = 0.73, max = 0.93). The word error rate (WER) was computed as 67% on a subset of audios (41) that were selected randomly for manual transcription. The high noise in the transcripts was mainly due to the factors of type of communication channel (telephony), use of regional accents, and the nature of speech which was spontaneous.

Further, we also created our domain-specific corpus covering the training material of

ASHAs of India because corpora for the Hindi language, particularly of the health domain, are limited. The content was collected from various resources available at different websites of National Health Mission, the government organization managing the Community Health Workers program [41]. The text was cleaned and tokenized to form a corpus containing 12,513 sentences and 166201 tokens. We have made our corpus publicly available¹.

7.1.1 Pre-Processing

Before applying any text-processing techniques, the raw transcripts were pre-processed to filter out the noise. This involved stop-words removal, parts-of-speech (POS) tagging, stemming, and removal of words that were typical of the telephonic conversation (hello, welcome, etc.). Post these steps; we selected nouns and adjectives for further processing. For tagging parts-of-speech we used the tagger for the Hindi language developed by [219].

7.2 Methodology

In this section, we describe the semi-automated approach of developing an IVR-based library consisting of audio recordings of the Q&As generated by the *Sangoshthi* voice forum. For simplicity of use, the structure of the IVR application consisted of only two levels. The first level was composed of the broad topics of the library and the second level that of the corresponding audio recordings. Figure 7.1 illustrates the steps followed; the overview of the two key steps of the curation process are:

- i Theme classification This step pertained to the task of finding themes in the dataset comprising Q&A audio recordings using topic modeling technique. This step mapped to the creation of the main menu of the IVR. Once the audio clusters were created, human intervention was used to construct labels for these themes.
- ii Audio Summary Creation This step pertained to the task of constructing audio summaries of the audio recordings accessible on the second level of the IVR.

¹https://github.com/deepikay/ASHA_Corpus



Figure 7.1: Curation Methodology

7.2.1 Theme Classification

Topic modeling is a widely used technique to discover themes in a collection of text documents. It is an unsupervised data-driven approach that takes a bag of words as input and generates output in the form of document-topic and topic-word distributions. Topics are represented as sets of top-n words ordered by their marginal probabilities, e.g., Topic 1: {newborn, breastfeed, milk, mother}, Topic 2: {hospital, medicine, doctor, vaccination}. Topic modeling has been successfully applied in the retrieval, presentation, and summarization of course material. For example, Podcastle [220] [221] for the searching of podcasts in Chinese and Japanese languages, MIT lecture browser [222] for topic-wise navigation of the course material, and NTU virtual instructor [223] for supporting on-demand learning by organizing the course lectures semantically. However, these cases had standard languages with fair quality of speech transcripts.

While deciding which topic modeling algorithm to apply on our dataset, considering its short transcripts, we had two choices: Latent Dirichlet Allocation (LDA) and Bi-Term Topic Modeling (BTM). LDA [224] is one of the most standard algorithm; however, gets affected by data sparsity found in short text documents such as messages, tweets etc. Whereas, BTM [225], which is an improvement over LDA, is able to handle the sparsity problem by modeling word co-occurrences explicitly at corpus level instead of document level as done in conventional topic models. Before adopting BTM, we verified empirically by applying both of the algorithms on our dataset. The analysis was performed using two popular metrics, namely coherence score [226] and PMI-score [227]. These metrics measure the quality of generated topics in terms of coherence between the constituent words, based on the underlying assumption that words describing a single concept tend to cooccur. Given a topic t and V^t as the list of K most probable words, the coherence score is calculated as:

$$C(t, V^t) = \sum_{k=2}^{K} \sum_{l=1}^{k-1} \log \frac{D(v_m^t, v_l^t) + 1}{D(v_l^t)}$$
(7.1)

where D(v) is the number of documents in which the word v appears and D(v, v') is the number of documents in which the words v and v' appear together. While the coherence score looks for word co-occurrences in the corpus on which the topic modeling is applied, which in our case were the Q&A transcripts of the *Sangoshthi* dataset, the PMI-score refers to external data sources, e.g., Wikipedia. For PMI-score calculation, we used two data sources, covering the training material of the health workers(ASHAs), one was the corpus created by us and the other available in the *Sangoshthi* dataset. The formula of PMI-Score calculation for all unique word pairs is as follows:

$$PMI-Score(t) = \frac{1}{K(K-1)} \sum_{1 \le i < j \le K} PMI(w_i, w_j)$$
(7.2)

where $PMI(w_i, w_j) = \log \frac{p(w_i, w_j)}{p(w_i)p(w_j)}$, $p(w_i, w_j)$ and $p(w_i)$ are the probabilities of cooccurrence of the word pair and the word, computed using a sliding window of word size 10 [227].

In this experiment, we compared the performance of LDA and BTM by varying topic sizes from 10 to 50. Since on every run of the algorithms, the output distributions change slightly, we considered the output of 10 runs in each topic size category. Hence, the overall

score for a topic size was averaged over the runs. For the number of words in a topic, we followed the convention of representing a topic via its top-10 words as usually ten words are able to convey sufficient information about a topic [226, 227]. The computed coherence scores and PMI-scores for the LDA and BTM are shown in the table 7.1. Higher scores represent better coherency in the topics. Cleary, BTM performed better than LDA. Further, to finalize the number of topics for the library, topic size 10 was selected due to its high score. Also, ten topics seemed appropriate according to our prior knowledge that the Q&As were around the fixed ten topics on which the training was given in the *Sangoshthi* deployment [58]. Typically, selecting the number of topics is a heuristic-based approach where expert knowledge is used and developing an automatic metric is still an open problem [224].

Table 7.1: Topic Coherence Based Comparison of LDA and BTM

Topic Size	Coherence Score		PMI-Score	
	LDA	BTM	LDA	BTM
10	-89.4 ± 1.6	-72.9 ± 1.3	0.09 ± 0.03	0.08 ± 0.03
20	-85.8 ± 2.9	-77.3 ± 1.5	0.08 ± 0.05	0.08 ± 0.04
30	-84.2 ± 2.1	-78.6 ± 1.0	0.06 ± 0.04	0.08 ± 0.03
40	-81.7 ± 2.1	-78.5 ± 0.7	0.05 ± 0.02	0.07 ± 0.04
50	-79.1 ± 2.6	-79.0 ± 1.2	0.08 ± 0.04	0.05 ± 0.04
Mean Score	-84.10	-77.30	0.07	0.08

Topics Labeling

Automating the creation of intuitive labels for the topics i.e. textual phrases, to make them easier to understand is a challenging problem. For the current study, we considered using a manual approach to produce more natural constructs, where, given a set of words for the topics, our goal was to use them in constructing general sentences with the caution of adding no specific meaning. This activity was performed by one of the authors who had familiarity with the domain and the data. Table 7.2 presents the English translation of some of the selected topics with their labels. While constructing these sentence-style representations, not all the words in a topic were used, as few of them did not contain any

useful meaning. For example, in constructing the phrase for the topic 2 - "baby, matter, mother, weight, nice, day, light, card, normal, quite so" as "this topic discusses the weight and growth-related matter of the newborn," the words "quite so", "nice" were not used as they did not hold any useful meaning for the context. Also, here the domain knowledge of the coder plays an important role. Since the coder knew that the word "card" represented the MCP card (Mother Child Protection Card) which is used for monitoring the growth of a baby, she then constructed the phrase accordingly.

7.2.2 Audio Summarization

In a document collection, after the generation of themes and their labeling, document summarization is an important task to help users access the content in an efficient way. This is particularly important for audio-only interfaces where information is rendered sequentially. We generated two types of machine-created summaries, namely keyword-based summary, and sentence-based summary. While the keywords-based summary annotates audio with a group of words, the sentence-based summary annotates with a representative extract from the audio itself. The subsections below describe the methodology of constructing the two types of summaries.

Sentence-Based Summary

Creating audio summaries from transcripts requires text summarization techniques which are of two types; extractive and abstractive [228]. Extractive summarization generates a summary by concatenating the important segments of the text, and abstractive summarization applies linguistic methods to create condensed and syntactically correct formats. Extractive summaries are easier to create and are widely used. Both supervised and unsupervised approaches have been explored [229, 230, 231]. In comparison to well-structured forms such as broadcast news, summarization of spontaneous conversations is challenging due to the high rate of disfluencies, redundancies, and recognition errors [232]. Nevertheless, extractive summaries have been found to be effective in document retrieval [233].

In the speech corpus, we applied extractive summarization by first identifying useful sentences in a transcript and then fetching the audio segment corresponding to the most representative sentence. Although generally extractive summaries are composed of multiple sentences per document, we selected only one sentence per transcript because the Q&A audios in our dataset were of short duration (2 minutes). The three-step process is as follows:

- 1. Selection of Candidate Keywords Since the significance of a sentence is characterized by the significance of its constituent words, the selection of candidate sentences was preceded by the identification of keywords. Typically, candidate keywords are selected following heuristic rules, which generally include stopwords removal, POStagging, and selection of n-grams based on some criteria. We performed these steps in the pre-processing stage that gave us a collection of words belonging to two parts of speech as nouns and adjectives. Further, to extract important words among these, we used the tf-idf (Term Frequency-Inverse Document Frequency) statistic. The top 10% of the words ranked by tf-idf weight were selected as the candidate keywords for a transcript. The tf-idf technique is an effective technique, however, in case of noisy transcripts, it can lead to weighing of misrecognized words as high. Nevertheless, this gets compensated when the corresponding audio segments are fetched.
- 2. Selection of Representative Sentence Now that we had a set of candidate keywords for a transcript, the selection of the most representative text segment was achieved by analyzing the neighborhood of the keywords. For each keyword location in its transcript, a window of 10 words with the keyword in the middle was checked for the presence of rest of the keywords and scored on the basis of total keywords present. The score was computed as the sum of tf-idf weights of all the keywords that appeared in the window. Here, the sum score was normalized by the count of keywords to avoid giving preference to the text segments having multiple keywords with low

tf-idf ranks as opposed to the ones having one or few high rank keywords. Finally, the window with the highest score was selected as the most representative text segment of a transcript.

3. Selection of Audio Segment - The audio summaries were generated by extracting the relevant audio portions for the selected text segments. For this, we used the timestamp information given in the transcripts. Since the text segments were not grammatically correct sentences due to missing speech recognition, we did not directly extract the audio segments from the start and end timestamps of the first and last words of the text segments. Instead, we fetched the audio segments between two natural pauses occurring before and after the first and last timestamps respectively. While extracting the audio segments, each was checked for its duration against the limits set as a minimum of 4 seconds and maximum of 12 seconds. The duration thresholds were found out by conducting lab testing. An audio segment not fulfilling the duration criteria was discarded, and the step would get repeated for the next preferred text segment.

Keywords-Based Summary

We explored another more abstract way of summary creation that represented the high level idea of an audio through a set of keywords. After selecting the required number of keywords for a transcript using the steps described in the previous subsection, an important question in constructing the audio form was whether to use machine synthesized speech or extract their utterances from the audios. To address this, we conducted lab testing. Given a set of keywords for an audio, when their utterances were concatenated to form a single audio summary, it brought uneven transitions between consecutive words due to variation in pitch and background noise, leading to lack of clarity. On using Google text to speech conversion engine, we found better quality. However, the main concern in regard to text to speech conversion engine was because of the presence of the mis-recognized words which are directly used for speech production. To overcome this, we regenerated the keywords by incorporating an additional step of removing irrelevant words after the pre-processing step and before the tf-idf scoring. The pre-processed words (nouns and adjectives) per transcript were checked for their presence in the two corpora (ASHA training material) and the list of most frequent words of the collection (taken as the top 10%). Although this step ensured that no out-of-domain words were selected, it led to the loss of some useful words. We chose the number of keywords per audio to be seven following the guidelines by [234].

To evaluate the automatically generated summaries, we prepared a baseline of manually created summaries for an audio set that was later used in the field trial. This coding activity involved three participants - two authors and one master's student and was performed in two stages. In the first stage, all the coders individually generated their summary versions, and in the second stage, one of the coders, who had better domain knowledge, selected the final version of the summaries. In the case of keywords-based summaries, the number of keywords per audio was consistent with the automatic method (seven). Once all the coders had tagged every audio with a set of seven keywords, the main coder selected the final set of keywords by following a procedure in which she first hand-picked the common keywords with at least two coders followed by the addition of the remaining keywords by selecting from her set of keywords. The average number of common keywords found per audio was five. Note that the keywords were selected from the audios and not constructed by the coders. In the case of sentence-based summary, the coders were asked to summarize every audio in one sentence, which was similar to title creation. To generate the best summaries, the main coder, based on her judgment, either chose the best among the three summaries for an audio or constructed a new one by combining their idea.

7.3 Experiment Design

In this section, we describe the details of a within-subjects experiment design that we conducted to evaluate our approach of curation. The dependent variable is the user ratings and independent variable is the type of audio annotation and clustering.

7.3.1 User Judgments

To evaluate the usefulness of automation in real-world scenarios, we conducted a user study with the 48 community health workers (ASHAs) in India and collected their judgments on the components of the library which were curated automatically. These judgments were of two types as follows:

- Relevance Judgments Users' judgments of relevance were collected on two components of the library. One was on the quality of audio clustering that was associated with the audios and their allocated themes, and the other was on the quality of audio summaries. The judgments were collected on a three-point Likert scale, namely, 1—not relevant, 2—moderately relevant and 3—relevant.
- Preference judgments Since users were made to listen to two types of audio summaries (sentence and keywords), their preferences were collected on a four-point Likert scale as 1—sentence-based summary, 2—keywords-based summary, 3—both, 4—none.

7.3.2 Testbed

In order to do an effective evaluation, we designed our testbed in such a way that users were exposed to different testing conditions. Every user was supposed to listen to two versions of the library having audio summary types as sentence-based and keywords-based, which could be human created or machine created. Overall, we had four combinations of modalities as shown in the Table 7.3. Therefore, we divided 48 users into four groups, assigning each to one of the testing conditions randomly.

We used Freeswitch, an opensource telephony platform, to develop the IVR application of the library. Users were provided a phone number on which they could call and listen

-		
Topic	Words Distribution	Label
1	baby, matter, milk, mother, night, nice, month, know, day, hospital	this topic discusses on the cases related to newborn going to hospital,
		care of newborn in the first month and feeding problems
2	baby, matter, mother, weight, nice, day, light, card, normal, quite so	this topic discusses about the weight and growth related topics of the newborn
4	baby, matter, delivery, milk, mother, day, stomach, quite so, problem, water	this topic discusses about issues related to delivery, problems related to mother
		or baby and newborn feeding
8	baby, matter, milk, mother, family, nice, important, quite so, water, problem	the topic discusses about important aspects related to the families of newborn,
		newborn feeding, and problems related to mother and newborn
9	baby, milk, matter, mother, day, month, harm, reason, important, problem	this topic discusses about newborn care in the first month, newborn feeding,
		and problems related to mother and baby
10	baby, matter, milk, day, harm, beautiful, nice, reason, mohter, eyes	this topic discusses about the five senses of newborn, newborn feeding,
		and problems related to mother and baby

to the contents of the library. To make the calling activity free of cost for the users, the system was designed to work on the model of the missed call. A user wishing to listen to the library, would have to drop a missed call to the given phone number and connect to the IVR application on immediate callback.

The users' judgments were collected in two phases corresponding to the evaluation of the two versions of the audio library. A single phase could be completed in one or more calls depending on the convenience of the users. The relevance judgments were collected while listening to the library content, and the preference judgments and overall feedback were collected at the end of the second phase.

Table 7.3: Testing Conditions

Condition	Type 1	Type 2
1	human keywords	human sentence
2	human keywords	machine sentence
3	machine keywords	human sentence
4	machine keywords	machine sentence

7.3.3 Library Content Selection

Considering the userbase of community health workers, who have limited literacy and technological exposure, we tried to keep the design of the IVR application simple with a small number of items. The first level of the IVR consisted of only three topics and the second level consisted of two audios under each topic. We selected the topics and the audios for the user study using the criteria of maximizing the coverage of audios in the dataset and keeping the minimum required number of users (four) for the evaluation of every item. Therefore, two sets of topics for the two versions of the library (sentence and keywords) were used in the study. These six topics were selected randomly from the set of ten topics generated by the topic modeling algorithm. In each of the four testing conditions (Table 7.3), 12 users were allocated, so, instead of using the same audios for all the users, we divided the 12 users into 3 sub-groups and created three different audio sets to avoid the possible bias originating from the type of audio. The allocation of the audios to these three sets in a modality was done as follows. The first audio set consisted of the first and the second most probable audios of every topic, the second audio set consisted of the third and the fourth most probable audios and the third audio set consisted of the fifth and the sixth most probable audios. Hence, a total of 36 audios, divided into two groups, each consisting of three sub-sets of the audios were used across the testing conditions in our study. Finally, to avoid the sequence effect, we adopted the full counterbalancing strategy by altering the order of the modalities to be exposed to the users in the two phases of the assessments.

From the usability aspect, all the instructions in the IVR application were presented in a clear voice using colloquial Hindi language - the mother tongue of the participants. Instructions were repeated multiple times and had prompts to handle invalid inputs from the users while collecting judgments. The mapping of the keys to be pressed for giving the judgment ratings was made consistent everywhere in the application. Prior to the release of the application, a small pilot was conducted with two health workers and the suggested modifications were incorporated.

7.3.4 User Interaction Flow

We now describe the interaction of a user with the developed IVR-based library through a workflow diagram as shown in the Figure 7.2. On a successful call connection, the user is presented with the introduction of the library followed by an announcement of the topic list and the corresponding keys to be pressed for their selection. After the user has selected a topic, the first associated audio is played followed by its summary. At this point in time, user feedback on the summary quality is collected over three parameters as sound clarity, understandability, and relevance. Upon successful collection of ratings, the next audio and its summary are played if the content of the current topic is not finished, otherwise judgments on the association of the played audios and the assigned topic is collected. Every time on completion of a second level, the first level is brought back to present the topics list again. When all the topics are complete, the user is prompted to give an optional feedback by recording her voice. Finally, if the current call is the last call of the assessment, then preference judgment on the two modalities (keywords or sentence) of the summary is collected before exiting. To handle the cases of bad sound quality due to issues in the telephony network, user feedback on the sound quality is collected after the playback of every audio and if it is bad, the call is terminated by leaving a message to try again later. Based on our lab and pilot testing, a single call without any network or sound issue could be completed in 15-20 minutes.

7.4 Participants

With the help of SWACH, we recruited 60 ASHAs for the study. Out of the 60 ASHAs, only 32 could successfully complete the assigned tasks. The rest had to be dropped from the study due to reasons as follows: 8 ASHAs lacked the understanding of IVR systems, 10 ASHAs had call connectivity issues in their areas, and the other 10 had availability issues. Later, we enrolled 24 ANMs (Auxiliary Nurse Midwife), a higher cadre of CHWs and reporting supervisors of ASHAs, out of which 16 could complete both of their assessment phases. In total, we had 48 participants in our study. Among the ASHAs group, the average age was 38 (min = 25, max = 47), with the distribution of educational backgrounds as 10%—8th standard, 47%—10th standard, 23%—12th standard and 20%— Bachelor's degree. Their experience ranged from 3 to 15 years (average age was 36 (min = 26, max



Figure 7.2: User Interaction Flow

= 56), with educational background as 25%—10 standard, 50%—12th standard, 12.5%— Bachelor's degree and 12.5%—Master's degree. The experience ranged from 1 to 31 years with the exception of one having only 6 months. Every participant was compensated for their time with a monetary incentive of 100 INR.

7.5 IVR Application

We developed our IVR application using the Freeswitch platform, an open-source Software Defined Telecom Stack. We used Python language to code our programs and MongoDB database to store logs. To pass calls from the software into the cellular network, we used our own VOIP-GSM gateway placed along with the server in our institute. To avoid users bear the call cost, the system use was made incoming call-based such that to be in a call; a user was required to just drop a missed call. Whenever a user is ready to evaluate the system, they have a phone number to place a call on. On receiving a call from a registered user, our gateway would disconnect the call and callback the user. Our VOIP-GSM gateway had 16 SIM slots that allowed to support 16 parallel calls.

To record user evaluation ratings, DTMF inputs at specified points were captured and automatically saved into the database. The database recorded the details such as call timestamps, user group IDs, call status - first phase or second phase/complete or not complete, DTMF input, level of DTMF input - main menu/sub-menu, item category - human keywords/human sentence/machine keywords/machine sentence, etc. All the MongoDB records were extracted into .csv formats for further statistical analysis.

7.6 Results

In this section, we apply multiple statistical tests to the data. The data on which the results are presented contains both ASHAs and ANMs evaluation ratings. While it would be interesting to study the presence of difference in the judgements of ASHAs and ANMs (who have higer educational levels and formal medical degree), in this study we do not study

that. We use the collapsed data to retain statistical power.

7.6.1 Users Perceptions of Summary Relevance

To effectively automate the process of creating audio summaries, it is necessary that users find them relevant enough so that the dependency on human moderators can be removed. Given the users' relevance judgments, we statistically analyzed the relationship between the relevance perceptions of the users for different types of summaries used in the study. Since the data were the subjective judgments collected on a 3-point Likert scale, we applied the Fisher Exact test of independence between two categorical variables: relevance and summary–type, for different combinations of the testing conditions. Here, the contingency table for the two variables contains the distribution of frequencies for the three categories of the relevance measure, as "not relevant", "moderately relevant" and "relevant". The null hypothesis states that *the relevance perceptions of the users for a summary do not depend upon its type i.e. there exists no relationship.*

When we try to compare proportions of a categorical outcome according to different independent groups, we can consider several statistical tests such as chi-squared test, Fisher's exact test, or z-test. The chi-squared test and Fisher's exact test can assess for independence between two variables when the comparing groups are independent and not correlated. For our data, Fisher's exact test was relevant because it was small-sized. Since we make multiple comparisons to test our hypothesis, we adjust the p value with Bonferonni correction. For the following six comparisons on user relevance ratings, the adjusted p value is 0.008 (0.05/6).

In the first test, we considered the testing combinations as {human keywords, machine keywords} (Table 7.4) and {human sentence, machine sentence} (Table 7.5) to evaluate the effectiveness of the automated approach with respect to the baseline of human-based approach. Here it can be noticed that these testing combinations were not directly assigned to the users; in all of the four testing conditions used in our study (Table 7.3), it was necessary

122

that every user listened to both sentence and keywords type of summary. Therefore, we explicitly took out the frequency distributions from different groups for this test. For both the combinations, statistically significant results were found (p<0.001, two-sided fisher-exact test and p<0.001, two-sided fisher-exact test respectively). Thus, we reject the null hypothesis and accept the alternative hypothesis that relevance judgments get affected by the type of summary where in this case, one was generated by human and the other by machine. Changing the source of summary creator, change users judgments of relevance. The users found the human-generated keywords to be more relevant than machine-generated. This suggests the scope of improvement in the automated approach. In the current study, we applied basic techniques for summary creation (extractive summarization), in future work, we would like to investigate the effectiveness of other advanced techniques.

Table 7.4: Relevance Judgments on Human Keywords vs Machine Keywords

	human keywords	machine keywords
not relevant	2	6
moderately relevant	15	39
relevant	127	99

* p<0.001, relevance judgments are dependent on the type of summary

Table 7.5: Relevance Judgments on Human Sentence vs Machine Sentence

	human sentence	machine sentence
not relevant	2	3
moderately relevant	10	42
relevant	132	99

* p < 0.001, relevance judgments are dependent on the type of summary

The second test had the testing combinations as {human keywords, human sentence} (Table 7.6), and {machine keywords, machine sentence} (Table 7.7). Here, the summary type changes in its modality (keywords-based or sentence-based) but the source of creation either machine or human, remains the same within each combination. No significant results were found (p = 1, two-sided fisher-exact test and p = 0.179, two-sided fisher-exact test respectively). Thus, we fail to reject the null hypothesis and conclude that we cannot infer

any relationship between the users' relevance ratings and type of summary in the case when summary modality changes (keywords-based or sentence-based), but the source (human or machine) remains same.

	human keywords	human sentence
not relevant	1	0
moderately relevant	3	4
relevant	68	68

Table 7.6: Relevance Judgments on Human Keywords vs Human Sentence

*p=1, relevance judgments are independent of the type of summary

Table 7.7: Relevance Judgments on Machine Keywords vs Machine Sentence

	machine keywords	machine sentence
not relevant	5	1
moderately relevant	23	20
relevant	44	51

*p=0.179, relevance judgments are independent of the type of summary

Finally, the third test had the testing combinations as {human keywords, machine sentence} (Table 7.8) and {machine keywords, human sentence} (Table 7.9), where the summary type changes both in its modality and source of creation. No significant results were found on the relationship of summary type and the relevance judgments (p-value = 0.080, two-sided fisher-exact test and p = 0.052, two-sided fisher-exact test, respectively). Thus, we fail to reject the null hypothesis that there is no relationship between user relevance ratings and summary type when the summary changes in both the source and modality. However, here we would like to emphasize for further investigation or repetition of the evaluation as these cases represent contrasting difference. In the case of {machine keywords, human sentence}, the quality of keywords-based summary which is machine-created and machine-spoken seems obviously low to the sentence-based summary which is human-created and human-spoken. Also to that end, the p value was 0.052, close to the original significance level of .05 (without Bonferroni correction), thus indicating towards the actual difference.

	human keywords	machine sentence
not relevant	1	2
moderately relevant	12	22
relevant	59	48

Table 7.8: Relevance Judgments on Human Keywords vs Machine Sentence

*p=0.080, relevance judgments are independent of the type of summary

Table 7.9: Relevance Judgments on Machine Keywords vs Human Sentence

	machine keywords	human sentence
not relevant	1	2
moderately relevant	16	6
relevant	55	64

*p=0.052, relevance judgments are independent of the type of summary

7.6.2 Users Preferences for Summary Type

At the end of the second phase of the assessment, when the users had been exposed to both of the assigned modalities (keywords-based and sentence-based), preference judgments were collected on a 4-point scale as 1-"sentence", 2-"keywords", 3-"both" and 4-"none". The overall distribution for all four testing conditions is shown in the Table 7.10. To test whether the observed distributions were different from the expected distributions of having an equal chance of choosing each judgment category, a multinomial goodness-of-fit test was applied. For the testing conditions as {human keywords, human sentence}, {human keywords, machine sentence}, {machine keywords, machine sentence}, functional p = 0.407) were found which indicated the occurrence of the preference distributions by chance. For the testing condition of {machine keywords, human sentence}, though the result was significant (p = 0.03) supporting the occurrence of the sum distribution not by chance, the post-hoc tests (Exact Binomial Test with Holm method of adjustment) for the categories (sentence, keywords, both, none) individually gave non-significant results with p-values as 0.050, 1.000, 1.000, 0.130. Thus, we cannot infer the preferences of the users statistically.

Therefore, to get some insight, we qualitatively analyzed the preference views of the

16 users who were interviewed (selected randomly). Out of these 16 users (ASHAs), 11 users mentioned their preference for sentence type of summaries, 3 users for keywords type and 2 for both. The users who preferred sentence-based summary commonly said that sentence modality is clearer in understanding because it gives complete information. One of the users of this group highlighted a negative aspect for the keywords-based summary by saying that "keywords-based summary is not good because the constituent words do not match with the audio". Whereas the other user group who favored keywords-based summary considered the spacing between the consecutive words as a positive point towards a better understanding. A supporting quote is as follows "I found the keywords-based summary to be better as they are presented cleanly in the form of separate words as compared to the sentence-based summary which can start and end abruptly". One of the users who favored both said "for me, both types of the summary are good enough; however, for other ASHAs, sentence summary is better as many of them have low literacy and comprehension skills". Overall, the tendency of the users was towards the sentence-based summary.

	human keywords,	human keywords,	machine keywords,	machine keywords,
	human sentence	machine sentence	human sentence	machine sentence
sentence	5	5	7	4
keywords	2	4	3	5
both	5	3	2	2
none	0	0	0	1

 Table 7.10: Preference Judgments

7.6.3 Effectiveness of Theme Classification

In our design of the library, the first level in the IVR structure presented three broad topics using abstract descriptions around the words generated by the topic modeling algorithm. User feedback on the association of the topics and the audios was collected at the end of the second level when all the audios and their corresponding summaries had been played. The measuring Likert scale was 3-point as 1—"not relevant", 2—"moderately relevant", 3—"relevant".

The observed distribution of the relevance judgments is given in the Table 7.11 below. A multinomial goodness-of-fit test gave statistically significant result, thus, rejecting the possibility of occurrence by chance (p<0.001, significance level = 0.05), followed by similar results of the post hoc tests for all the three categories individually (not relevant, p = 0.0; moderately relevant, p = 0.0; relevant, p = 0.0). Overall, the clustering of the audios to the topics was found to be relevant by a majority of the users.

Table 7.11: Relevance Judgments for Theme Classification

not relevant	moderately relevant	relevant
7	50	221

7.7 Discussion

Our experiment towards automating the automatic annotation of the voice forum data to reduce the manual effort raised some interesting future directions that we discuss as follows:

7.7.1 Use of Topic Models for Voice Forums

We used topic modeling in finding out themes in the audio collection and presenting the catalog of the library by labeling them. There are multiple facets of topic modeling that pose both challenges and opportunities for research as the scale of voice forum increases. The first is the task of deciding the number of clusters/topics. When the scope of a voice forum is narrow then heuristic-based estimation of the number of topics seem feasible. For instance, in our study, given the dataset of Q&A of the *Sangoshthi* forum, we had the prior knowledge of the number of topics on which these Q&As were based that we used in finalizing the topic size. However, in forums like CGNetSwara [18] and MobileVaani [65], which pertain to a spectrum of topics, dynamic update of the clustering process with the right parameters is a challenging task. The second is the task of creating interpretable representations of topic words. In the current implementation, we manually created topic representations by constructing abstract sentences for the topic words. However, we would

like to further explore other better ways. While for the natural language processing and machine learning research, there are opportunities to come up with techniques to automatically generate better representations, the design research can explore the usability aspects for the user groups of context similar to rural communities of developing countries.

7.7.2 Human-in-the-loop

In this study, as we see that human intervention is required to fill the gaps that machines cannot do effectively. We need to think of better frameworks for involving human effort. One potential way in our application context could be crowd-sourcing of the tasks that can improve the performance of the automated techniques. For example, providing representative phrases for the topics, tagging audio contents with keywords, etc. While designing such crowd-sourcing applications, it is necessary to address the challenges of it as well as design mechanisms that incur minimum overhead to the system. For instance, instead of developing a crowd-sourcing application for curation tasks in the silo, engaging users during their application use is also a relevant approach. For example, SangeetSwara collected upvotes and downvotes from the forum users while presenting the contents to them.

7.8 Summary

In this chapter explored the automatic annotation of the voice forum data towards building an IVR library. Voice forums and its applications are actively studied for developing countries. However, automatic annotation of voice forum content is still an unsolved task. This chapter evaluated the effectiveness of techniques of natural language processing and information retrieval fields to address this challenging problem of

We applied standard techniques to voice forum data, and specifically topic modeling for generating themes, and extractive summarization for constructing summaries. The transcript extraction had a high noise (WER = 67%), and we employed additional preprocessing steps to extract relevant keywords. Our results are promising in terms of users
relevance for audio clustering and summary annotation. The evaluation results are encouraging for using automatic annotation in voice-based applications for rural users.

Chapter 8

Understanding Opportunities for Conversational Agents in Breastfeeding Education

To address the limited availability of instructors, conversational agents (chatbots) offer a promising alternative. Chatbots are increasingly being integrated into different educational contexts. Chatbots-based education is relevant in our context as trainers are acutely short. Chatbots can be an effective alternative to better engage ASHAs with their learning material and address their frequent basic queries. Considering increasing ownership of smartphones by women in India and the low-learning curve for chatbot-based applications, we were motivated to explore its potential in our context. In addition to the education of ASHAs, this chapter focuses more broadly on the potential of chatbots for breastfeeding education in the Indian context by also involving mothers⁶.

8.1 Introduction

In recent years, chatbots have received great attention. Chatbots integration has dramatically increased in different digital applications since 2016, when major tech companies released open APIs for building chatbots. The growing trend of shifting from web-based browsing to messaging apps and personal assistants makes chatbots a promising future technology. Currently, more than 300,000 bots exist on Facebook messenger [235] cutting across a variety of use-cases—online shopping [236], casual chatting [237], travel arrangements [238], etc. Commercially chatbots are an effective alternative to save customer service costs by replacing human assistants and increasing customer satisfaction by speeding up response times. However, chatbots are still in their beginning stages of expansion, and there are several purposes and domains un-explored.

⁶Deepika Yadav, Prerna Malik, Kirti Dabas, and Pushpendra Singh. 2019. Feedpal: understanding opportunities for chatbots in breastfeeding education of women in India. In *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 3, CSCW, 1–30.

The Special Interest Group at CHI'18 discusses how chatbots may be used for social good and underscores two important factors to their democratizing potential: first, chatbots can be made immediately available to billions of users through messaging platforms and second, chatbots offers a low threshold for uptake across users groups due to their conversational character in natural language. The use of chatbots for competence was identified as one of three potential areas for social impact. Given the fact that smartphones are rapidly increasing in low-income countries, chatbots are a promising technology to bridge digital divides [239].

The use of chatbots in education is increasing. In particular, in online education, where the sheer number of students overwhelms the instructors and makes quality teaching extremely difficult, chatbots offer an effective solution. Chatbots reinforce self-directed learning by reacting to individual intents. However, the existing studies are centric to settings where learners have a significant amount of background in the use of computer and digital applications. We introduce the education research of chatbots to a new user group.

Our users, ASHAs, and mothers residing in rural or under-developed (slums) regions of India have limited or no access to technological advancements in chatbot research because of poor economic conditions and limited literacy. While some of them now possess smartphone, it is often a low-end smart-phone (< \$100) [62]. Moreover, the socio-economical conditions dictate that the phone may be shared within the family, often with the husband or other male members of the family [240]. This makes our users the first-time users of chatbots. So far, the research around chatbots has been majorly technology-driven with a limited investigation on user perceptions and contexts of use [241].

In this study, we explore the feasibility of using chatbots for breastfeeding education of community health workers and mothers in urban slum areas of India and understand how they react and perceive chatbot-based intervention. We aim to contribute to the HCI and CSCW community by informing design recommendations for chatbot implementation for causes like breastfeeding education in under-developed areas, with users who are newcom-

ers to personal device use. We guide our exploration with the following research questions:

- **RQ1**: What is the perception of users towards chatbot-based breastfeeding education?
- **RQ2**: What kind of information users ASHAs and Mothers seek from a chatbot?

We study users' interaction with the chatbot through a Wizard-of-Oz experiment with 22 participants (12 ASHAs and 10 mothers). We prototyped our chatbot as an interactive question-answering application and analyzed users' interaction patterns, perceptions, and contexts of use. Our findings highlight the role of the familial unit in breastfeeding practices. We found that the majority of questions sought by users are answerable by a chatbot and the value of chatbots for mothers as the first point of contact. This gives us the confidence that breastfeeding education is a potential application for chatbot intervention. We also discuss implications for the design for future bots and the characteristics they should embody to address users' concerns in constrained settings.

8.2 Methodology

Since ours is the first study that explores the use of chatbot for breastfeeding education in the Indian context, with no prior knowledge base available, we adopted Wizard of Oz (WoZ) technique to collect users' reactions and interactions for the first time. WoZ is a standard prototyping methodology in HCI that enables designers to collect design requirements and evaluate features without actually developing the full system [242]. It also helps in uncovering different scenarios of use which might be expensive to study later on [243].

Through a customized chat application, a human wizard emulated the functionalities of a chatbot, making users believe as if they were chatting with a real chatbot application. The wizard is a doctor in a remote site looking up answers from an official reference book, receiving the messages directly from the app over the internet. We will discuss the details in the following subsections.

8.2.1 Participants

The study was conducted in the East-Delhi region across two government dispensaries, separated by 3km. We chose the study area by using the convenience sampling method since it was a field practice allocated to our institute from the Delhi State Health Mission [166]. Each dispensary had 30 ASHA workers [244]. The inclusion criteria for the participants was familiarity with smartphone use. Based on prior WoZ studies [245, 246], we pre-estimated the sample size of around 20 for our experiment, 10 mothers and 10 ASHAs, and began our recruitment process. We first started recruiting ASHAs at one center, where we selected 8 ASHAs; the rest either did not use smartphones or were not available (on leave) during the experiment period. Using snowball sampling [247], these ASHAs further helped recruit mothers in their areas. Mothers who were breastfeeding their child (preferred child age—0-1 year) and had been using smartphones in some way (either their own or shared phone of the family) were selected. At this center, 8 mothers from the areas of 3 ASHAs were selected, thereby making a total of 16 participants. In a similar fashion, we selected 3 ASHAs and 3 mothers at the other center. Finally, when we reached 22 participants, we stopped further selection. The demographics details of the ASHAs and the mothers is summarized in the table 8.1 and table 8.2.

8.2.2 WoZ Architecture

Building a conversational agent that acts like a human is one of the most challenging areas of artificial intelligence and natural language processing fields. The architecture of a chatbot is decided on the type of purpose, whether the chatbot is intended to help users complete specific tasks (task-based chatbots) [248], or engage users in conversations on open domain topics (non-task based chatbot) [249]. Considering the non-task based chatbots, there can

ID	Age	Education	Age of breastfeeding child	Parity
1	28	tenth	2 days	Primiparous
2	27	graduate	1 month	Multiparous
3	25	graduate	1 month	Primiparous
4	28	graduate	1.5 months	Primiparous
5	32	post-graduate	2.5 months	Multiparous
6	24	eight	3 months	Primiparous
7	28	twelfth	5 months	Multiparous
8	34	tenth	6 months	Multiparous
9	24	graduate	8 months	Primiparous
10	23	graduate	9 months	Multiparous

Table 8.1: Mothers Demographics

Table 8.2: ASHAs Demographics

ID	Age	Education	Job Experience
11	32	twelfth	3 years
12	38	tenth	10 years
13	40	tenth	10 years
14	36	graduate	4 years
15	29	graduate	4 years
16	34	twelfth	4 years
17	37	eighth	7 years
18	49	tenth	9 years
19	35	twelfth	8 years
20	35	graduate	1 year
21	30	twelfth	3 years
22	28	graduate	5 years

be two models as generative and retrieval-based. While the retrieval-based bot parses user input to find out message intent (keywords based) and returns the best matching response from a predefined set of messages, the generative-based models generate a response from scratch using complex natural language processing and machine learning algorithms.

In this experiment, the wizard imitates the retrieval-based model of chatbot in a single turn scenario, which only considers the last input message. Further, in wizarding such a bot, we make assumptions about the richness of the knowledge base, accuracy level in finding the responses, and parsing the messages.

To answer users' questions, we prepared a knowledge base from the training material of the ASHAs and a book of 100 most commonly asked mothers questions on breastfeeding [250]. This book was written by the SWACH head. Originally the book was in the English language, which was then translated into Hindi and cross-checked by a medical expert for correctness. Apart from this, for any new query, we referred to WHO content material.

We modeled our chatbot as an interactive question-answering application that features three functionalities broadly: it can answer user queries on breastfeeding, counter-question users, and present interesting facts and information. We defined the properties of the bot as follows. The users can input their message in both voice or text form like used in general messaging apps. For the text form, both the Devanagri (Hindi script) and transliterated form (Hindi form written using the English alphabet) are allowed. However, the bot responds in text form only, using the Devanagri script. Further, the bot's understanding of the language is limited. It does not understand the implicit utterances or informal feedback cues such as c ya, alright, etc, which are generally used in human conversations. It also does not entertain casual talks. Finally, our bot is not intelligent to overcome any ordering effects. For example, if the bot is in the process of finding an answer to a query and the user feeds more queries in between, the bot does not automatically process them. The history of conversations is not taken into account.

8.2.3 Wizard Workflow

To give the users a feeling of conversing with a real chatbot, we limited the wizard's ability to answer every question. Given a user query in a conversation, the wizard imitates a chatbot using four types of messages as follows: 1.) *resend prompt* - wizard prompts the user to resend the message to show parsing errors. The wizard decides this prompt by judging the quality of messages. The voice message is prompted for resending if it is noisy, too long, difficult to interpret, and text message if it contains misspelled words, garbage characters, or incorrect sentences. For the case in which the user messages do not contain any error, the wizard still deliberately prompts to resend at least once in an interaction. 2.) *out of scope* - users is denied to receive any answer if the question is out of the breastfeeding



Figure 8.1: Wizard-of-Oz Experiment Setup

domain, 3.) *near-relevant responses* – The wizard responds with near relevant answers to the questions which are complex or advanced, e.g., health conditions described with a variety of details including symptoms, diagnosis, history, etc. Based on the keywords, best-matching information is returned. This helps in showing limited intelligence level of a chatbot. Here, the wizard leaves those queries which require human expertise, e.g. breastfeeding when a mother is suffering from cancer, etc. 4.) *not found responses* - when the answer to a question is not found in our knowledge base, the wizard replies with this message. The flowchart representing the conversation flow and the decision-making is shown in the figure. 8.2.

To help the wizard respond consistently and quickly to the users, conversational scripts were used. For example, conversation starter sentences included phrases such as "Hello", "How may I help you", message acknowledgments included "Please wait while I search the information" etc. After the initial few sessions, a document of frequently asked questions was also used. The figure depicts the overall WoZ setup 8.1



Figure 8.2: User-Wizard Chat Flow

8.2.4 Chatbot Design

We developed our chat application for the Android platform using Google Firebase. Using authentication and real-time database services, messages were passed between two endpoints. The interface of the chat screen was made simple, having a chat view, a text box, a voice recording button, and a file attachment icon. We designed the bot persona as a lady in her 30s wearing the traditional Indian dress of salwar-kameez and named her as *"Yukti"* which means tactic to solve a problem. We attempted to give the personality that resembles ASHA, a helping sister. Considering the cultural sensitivity about talking openly to a male in Indian society [251, 252], we preferred the female gender for the bot. To make the chatbot self-explanatory, we added animated introductory tutorials in the beginning screens. The app starts with Yukti introducing herself, followed by a feature explanation and sce-

nario of use. Figure 8.4 shows the app snapshots of the user and the wizard's version. We portrayed four features for Yukti as one source of information (user can find all breastfeeding information through Yukti), authentic information (medically validated content), 24 * 7 availability, and Ease of Use (voice messages).

We also incorporated functionality to take users' feedback on bot responses. Through a button, the wizard could push feedback rating tabs onto the user's app. The scale of the rating was 3-point: good, bad, and average. Other useful functionalities that were underdevelopment and not used in this study, including indication when a user is online, push notifications, and read receipts, were managed manually with the help of research staff. A sample conversation (name of the user is changed to protect privacy) is shown in the figure. 8.3.

Finally, we conducted a pre-pilot study with seven lady security guards in our institute campus. All these ladies were mothers and smartphone users. Their mean age was 31 years (26-38), and education levels ranged from tenth to graduation (three with 10th, three with 12th and one with Bachelors). The chat sessions conducted with them helped us develop the time estimate to curate responses to users' messages, get an idea of the type of user queries, and serve as practice sessions for the wizard. The feedback shared by the ladies improved the interface of the app.

8.2.5 WoZ Setup, Session Details and Ethics

In our WoZ experiment, the users and wizard were separated physically, and communication happened through the app over the Internet. While working with mothers of newborns, we had to be sensitive to their convenience and comfort. Traveling for the mothers was not feasible; therefore, we made house visits to conduct the sessions. Further, the house visits allowed us to capture users' interactions in their natural environments, informing us on contextual aspects. ASHAs' sessions were conducted at the health dispensaries, which they regularly visit as part of their duties (see figure 8.5). Our team was composed of three Yukti: Hello, What can I call you? Mother: Aarti Yukti: It's nice to meet you Aarti. Yukti: If you have any questions, you can type or record it. Mother: What should be given to children after 6 months? Yukti: This question seems to be out of the topic of breastfeeding. I am not capable of answering it right now. Please ask another question related to breastfeeding. Mother: How long should a child be breastfed so his/her stomach gets full. Yukti: Thank you. Getting your answer from my material. Yukti: Some babies suckle fast and some are slow. As a child grows, their feed duration can change. Duration of feed can also depend on when the milk comes in after the child starts suckling. Usually, a baby spends 5-10 minutes on a breast, but we recommend that you let the baby decide the duration of the feed. Yukti: How did you find the answer to your question, give your rating by pressing one button: Good/Bad/Average. Yukti: #GET USER GET_FEEDBACK# Mother: Good Yukti: Let's see what questions other breastfeeding mothers like you ask? Mother. After 6 months, should I exclusively breastfeed or give top feed as well? Yukti: Question: How will I find that my child is full so I can stop breastfeeding?

Answer:

- Your child will fall asleep while feeding.
- · Your child will not actively suckle or will completely stop suckling.
- Child can open his/her fist, arch his/her back or smile or shout.
- · You will feel that your breasts have gone soft.

Yukti: How did you find this fact. give your rating by pressing one button: Good, Bad, Average.

Yukti: #GET USER GET_FEEDBACK#

Mother: Good

Yukti: If you have any questions, you can type or record it.

Yukti: Let me ask you a question.

Yukti: If mother or child has vomiting, diarrhoea or other illness, so mother should stop breastfeeding for some time. Choose one from below given options:

A. True

B. False

Mother. B

Yukti: Absolutely Correct Answer. :)

Yukti: A sick mother or child is not a reason to stop breastfeeding. Breast milk given during sickness helps in maintaining the nutrition status of the baby. Continuous breastfeeding also helps in recovering from illness. It also stops illness and malnutrition due to low diet. And breast milk is especially beneficial if the child has diarrhoea.

Figure 8.3: A Sample of Question-Answer Session



Figure 8.4: Snapshots of the Yukti app show the screens of the launch, introduction, interaction scenario, feature explanation and conversation



Mother

Wizard

Figure 8.5: The pictures show the session locations for the ASHAs (health dispensary) and mothers (houses) and the wizard set-up

members: two research staff and one medical expert (MBBS, MPH doctor, acted as the wizard). The wizard setup was located at our Institute's lab.

We conducted the experiment with participants after obtaining approval from the review board of our institute. Before the sessions, participants were briefed about the purpose of the study, data to be collected, and potential risks. Participants were assured that all of their interactions would remain confidential and used only for the analysis through proper de-identification. Participants were informed that they were free to leave the study at any point in time.

We planned three sessions with every participant and conducted them after obtaining the consent. We introduced *Yukti* to the participants as a chatbot that is under-development, thus not fully ready, and that we wish to collect their experiences and inputs for research purposes that would help the development of future systems.

In the debriefing sessions, we explained the phenomena of the chatbot through various analogies like robots, automated machines etc. They were told that they would chat with a machine that curates answers from an authentic knowledge base. Since the experiment was a WoZ, participants were deceived on the part that a human instead would be responding. About the 24*7 availability feature, participants were informed that it will be applicable only when the actual chatbot app will be released.

The three sessions of a participant were conducted on three separate days. Adjusting to the routine schedule of ASHAs that included coming to the health centers for immunizations, antenatal checkups, etc., we conducted the sessions based on their availability. The sessions with the mothers were conducted at their houses. On the first day, the associated ASHAs accompanied the research staff to show the houses and introduce them to families. On subsequent days, the research staff went on their own except for two houses that were found difficult to reach. During the sessions, both the ASHAs and the research staff did not interrupt the mother except for clarifying questions regarding the app use. However, the presence of the staff might have affected mothers' interaction or behavior as the study was

not in-the-wild and has the same limitation as that of general WoZ conducted in a lab.

To conduct sessions, we used our mobile handset that was given to the participants only for the session duration (a single session ranged between 10 to 30 minutes). We preferred to use our handset to maintain consistency in use and avoid users attempting to use the app outside of the session timings when the wizard would not be available. We used a Motorola C plus handset that costs \$84, lying in the average price range of smartphones in India [62]. Thus, the phone was equivalent to the type of handsets generally used by the participants.

Due to the use of Firebase to support the chat functionality, the application required a Gmail account to log in. Many of the participants were unaware of the email application and had their phones configured with husbands' or children's email accounts. For these participants, we created new dummy Gmail accounts without using any personal information. We did login ourselves without sharing the credentials. All of these temporary email accounts were later deleted. To maintain the privacy of the users, we de-identified participants' details before starting our analysis.

Considering the use of the conversational agent for breastfeeding education, we anticipated certain ethical concerns in our experiment, which we attempted to address as follows. Prior studies on intelligent agents have found that despite knowing the true form of a bot, users tend to develop strong emotional attachments towards bots [253] and thereby develop high expectations. To minimize the risk, we clearly explained the functionality and scope of the bot at the outset. We also ensured that wizard uses language that reflects its machine nature and its limitations, e.g. "please wait while I search for information in my material".

Another perceived risk lay in the way users interpret the bot responses. Users sometimes might not understand the meaning of the received answers and need further explanation. As observed, sometimes, when the mothers were not convinced by the bot responses, or they were confused about the interpretation of the responses, they expressed it to the research staff. We ensured that the research staff note these points during the session but responsibly explain them at the end to mitigate the risk of incorrect interpretation. Since the breastfeeding phase of mothers, in reality, entails a lot of issues that need counseling support, we noted the encountered problems and conveyed them to an NGO working in this field and the ASHA workers. However, we did not specifically arrange the counseling support directly.

8.2.6 Data Collection

We took detailed notes of the participants' reactions, comments, and ambient activities during the sessions. Further, whenever needed, the research staff also made contextual inquiries, for example, the number of family members. At the end of each session, the overall feedback rating was collected on a five-point scale represented in the form of Emojis.

In the end, we conducted semi-structured interviews with the participants. There were two parts to the questionnaire. The first part was common to the ASHAs and the mothers, designed to collect their feedback on Yukti use. The questionnaire, as adapted from [254], covered aspects of usability, satisfaction, and perception on the usefulness of Yukti and consisted of questions like "Did Yukti supply all the information you wanted" (yes/almost/no), "Do you think Yukti understood everything that you asked?" (no/almost/yes-all), "How difficult it was for you to use Yukti app?"(difficult/easy/moderate), "Did you find the information provided by Yukti to be useful?" (yes/almost/no), "what kind of improvement do you want to see in Yukti?", "Would you like to use the app in future?" (yes/almost/no). The second part of the questionnaire had different questions for the ASHAs and mothers. For mothers, questions were specific to sources of information on breastfeeding, the role of husband, and ASHAs, e.g. "Where did you stay after the delivery?", "How did your husband participate in the care? describe", "How helpful do you find the support of ASHAs in breastfeeding problems?". An example of questions asked from the ASHAs is "do you think six post-natal visits are enough for addressing breastfeeding issues". We remunerated the participants with a cash incentive of 100 INR per session.

Apart from the field notes, session recordings, and interview data, we also used chat

logs in our data analysis. Together with these, the three members of our team worked on finding the emergent themes. The thematic analysis was inductive [184] in nature, where codes were shared, discussed, and refined in multiple iterations.

8.3 Findings

This section describes the recurring themes that emerged from the analysis of the field observations, user interactions with the bot (both the ASHAs and mothers), contextual inquiries, and the final interviews conducted. Throughout the chapter, we refer to mothers by their pseudonyms to maintain their privacy.

8.3.1 Information Sources and Influence

In this theme, we describe the socio-cultural settings in which women are placed, available sources of information, and the influence of these sources on women's breastfeeding choices and practice. This includes factors pertaining to the family institution, a woman's position in exercising power, and gaps in existing communication channels.

Role of Female Relatives

In all our house visits to the mothers, we observed the household dynamics of Indian family culture. Mothers were primarily concerned with household tasks and childbearing, one of the primary manifestations of gender inequality in Indian society [255]. Mostly they were homebound and depended upon others for any outdoor tasks. Whether mothers lived in a nuclear or joint family, the mindsets and practice of age-old traditions came into play, including childbirth and care. Generally, post-delivery in India, women are given care by their relatives where the primary caretaker is either mother-in-law or the mother, and the husband's role is limited. In our interactions with the mothers, we consistently found that their mothers and mothers-in-law significantly influence breastfeeding practices.

In one of the cases, Kamini (a new mother of 4 days old baby girl) was being taken care

of by two, a mother-in-law and a grandmother-in-law. Till fourth day the breastfeeding practice had not started, and the family was very concerned. According to them, despite making numerous efforts, the child was not able to suckle. The mother's nipples were tight and sore. They said that the child does not take the mother's nipples into her mouth and cry a lot. The mothers-in-law also concluded the child had developed an aversion for the mother's nipple. To compensate, they were feeding the child on external milk (toned, packaged milk of cow). According to breastfeeding guidelines, in any case, if infants are being fed on external milk, it should be formula milk and not animal milk. We sensed the familial atmosphere to be quite uneasy for the woman (mother) as her mother-in-law complained to us that she wakes up late in the morning.

The sessions with another mother, Meena, who lives in a big joint family of 16+ members, again highlighted the role of the mother-in-law. Meena was breastfeeding her two months old child; however, she was also supplementing cow milk. She gave the reason as follows "*my mother-in-law advises me not to feed the child after taking a head bath as this can give cold. To avoid letting the child hungry for long, we give cow milk at such time intervals*".

Most women followed the suggestions received from their mothers and considered it to be a reliable source of information. Evidently, in a case in which mother support was absent, the woman expressed her feeling of missing it: "*I am anxious, this is my first child, there is no one to talk to at home. I feel helpless and alone as my mother-in-law is not here. I am not able to have adequate knowledge and information. Outsiders tell ten different things; no one knows what is right. Now we can ask everything from Yukti*".

Role of Husband

Like prior studies [256], we found low husband participation in childcare and breastfeeding practice, especially during the initial phase post-delivery. During day time, they would go to the workplace and, at night, had restricted interaction with their partner and children.

Kamini, who was surrounded by her two mothers-in-law for the majority of the time, described her husband's participation as follows. "*He*(*husband*) comes around 7-8 pm from his office, sits with me for a little while, and then goes to sleep in the room upstairs as he has to get up early for office. Gudiya(baby) cries at night, does not let him sleep, that is why he sleeps in another room." Meena, who had two children, with a younger daughter of 2-3 months of age, shared her frustration about the limited participation of her husband. She complained about his husband's behavior towards children that he does not help her out in handling them and she has to manage everything on her own, "He returns from his duty (work shift), and then sleeps off, says after working for the entire day I cannot handle baby".

Cases in which husbands were supportive also could not participate much due to job compliance and financial responsibilities. Sulekha, who did not have a mother-in-law, shared her experience as "My husband and sister-in-law used to do all household work/chores when my baby was born. My husband is a car driver; he took leave to take care of me during those days, but then he had to go back to his job really soon as his leaves were canceled and even pay was cut. My husband told me that we both have to manage ourselves as no one else will come to help. Then just after 12 days, I started doing all the household work on my own".

Role of ASHAs

Maternal and child health care is the mainstay of ASHAs profile [257] and promoting exclusive breastfeeding during house visits is one of the priority tasks. However, their role as lactation counselors did not emerge in our study. Out of ten mothers, six gave negative statements for the ASHA support, two spoke in favor, one was neutral, and one found the support to be useful only in case of emergency or any specific inquiry. Among those who rejected ASHA support gave the common reason as poor communication with ASHA, "ASHAs just come for vaccination we do not get any support on breastfeeding", another

said "she does not visit, neither provides any information. She lives close-by but still does not come for the visits". Further, in one of our visits [Kamini's House], we observed casual behavior from one of the ASHA. As the baby could not breastfeed since birth, the ASHA did not show any efforts to help. After assisting the mother only once in latching the baby, she soon gave up and remarked as "this baby is naughty, does not take mother's milk at all". She did not encourage or gave any positive reinforcement to the mother and the family. She did not even suggest the family see a doctor. Only when the family mentioned that they would like to go to a health dispensary and asked if she could accompany them, she agreed.

This observation is in line with the findings of the prior work assessing the performance of ASHAs as counselors. Factors like inadequate training on counseling, lack of compensation for counseling tasks, and low status in the community have been linked with ASHAs' poor performance [124, 258].

Role of Mothers

In the light of limited mobility and resources, the mothers seemed eager to receive information from any source they could. For instance, Meena acknowledged the value of breastfeeding consultation received from a woman who used to come for her body massage as: "15 days post-delivery a masseuse used to come, who would explain everything very nicely, and she was knowledgeable. She would take out dirty milk from my breast, massage them and advise me on breast issues, like if the breast is heavy. That is why, till now, I have not faced any problem." In another case, a mother quickly enrolled herself when she came to know about the Kilkari program, a government initiative to disseminate information on pregnancy, childbirth, and childcare through IVR service to new and expectant mothers. Since then, she has been listening to the audio content regularly and finds it very useful in her pregnancies. Additionally, she was among those women who searched for information over Google and Youtube.

Given the low exposure level and autonomy of women, the importance of ease of avail-

ability and accessibility of information became apparent.

8.3.2 Information seeking

We analyzed 296 questions received in 66 interactions on aspects of nature of the information sought, topics, and style of framing. The primary purpose of this analysis is to understand the type of queries users in our context seek from an educational breastfeeding chatbot. This gives a general idea of, to what extent a general knowledge base as used in our study is useful and what is required beyond that.

Query Types

We analyzed the information-seeking habits of the users on its nature and complexity level, which we represent through a four-quadrant matrix shown in the figure 8.6. We found the query type to fall in two categories broadly: i) fact-based, i.e., the questions which seek fact-based answers or which have standard text-book answers and may hold true for the majority, e.g. "What is the benefit of mother's first milk (Colostrum)", "when should we start complementary food for a child", and ii) condition-based, i.e., the questions which seek personalized answers to a user's health condition and may not be true for the majority, e.g."When I feed my baby I feel a lot of pain, what should I do?", "my baby is three months old, I am not able to produce enough milk, what should I do?". We further divided these two categories into simple and complex queries depending on the nature of the questions. Out of the four categories, overall 88% questions were of simple nature, and we believe that they can be answered by a Chatbot using a knowledge base. The complex condition-based category (9%) included queries that are complex in the sense that they contain information like symptom details, treatment history, follow-up condition, etc. An example of a complex condition-based question is "a mother who had TB for more than six months, she delivered a baby, now who is also showing symptoms of TB. Should the mother do breastfeeding"; we believe that such questions require expert intervention and must be directed to a doctor.



Figure 8.6: User Information Seeking

Lastly, the complex form of fact-based queries (3%) covered a more advanced form of fact seeking. The users are interested in knowing more about complex issues, e.g. "*if a mother has TB, can she breastfeed?*".

Query Topics

Further, analyzing the topics in which users were interested, we found the categorization and prevalence as shown in the table 8.3. 26% of the queries were related to breastfeeding problems such as breast issues (soreness, mastitis, tightness, etc.), problems in latching, etc. 18% were related to conditions hindering exclusive breastfeeding. Mothers were already feeding external food to their babies and sought suggestions on their practices. Mostly, the external food in these cases was animal milk (packaged cow milk). Only a few asked about formula milk. Mothers also lacked general knowledge about exclusive breastfeeding as a good proportion of questions in this category expressed mothers' confusion of continuing breastfeeding when the mother or child is sick. 15% were related to knowing the breastfeeding technique, including frequency, duration, and feeding position. On the feeding position questions, mothers were curious about the lying position. Their perception reflected hesitation in adopting it. A mother said, "is there any bad effect of feeding in lying position". 11% were related to milk supply, where the mothers generally wanted to know how to determine that the child has taken enough breast milk, mothers' milk is sufficient. Mostly, these reflected mothers' perception of insufficiency of breast milk supply. 12% pertained to the miscellaneous category in which users majorly sought general information on various topics such as how to deal with milk leakage, how to store breastmilk. 10% were related to the diet of the mother and the child. The remaining 5% of the questions sought information on special topics such as AIDs, HIV, and TB during the breastfeeding phase. Of the total questions, 17% were out of the scope of breastfeeding and ranged over topics related to post-delivery and general childcare.

Many misconceptions and malpractices rooted within the Indian population [259] were seen in our sample. For example, the use of Janam Ghutti (an old Indian herbal concoction), water, and bottle milk, the commonly found barriers to exclusive breastfeeding were present in the queries [260].

Theme	Topics	Proportion(%)	Example Quotes
Breastfeeding Problems	breast issues, latching issues, infant crying, digestion	26.81%	I have cracks in my nipples, can I feed the baby as blood comes out while breastfeeding
Exclusive Breastfeeding	supplementing top feed - cow milk, introduction of water	18.12%	I feed my son cow's milk, besides this, if I give him powder milk, will it be alright?
Breastfeeding Technique	feeding position, frequency duration	15.94%	How long should a mother breastfeed each time, so that the child will be full?
Milk Supply	how to boost milk supply how to determine child hunger, perception of low milk supply	11.23%	Immediately after the delivery, mother says, that, milk is not coming from the breasts, now what should a mother do?
Diet	mothers diet child diet after six months	9.78%	What should a breastfeeding mother's diet constitute of so she can successfully breastfeed her child?
Miscellaneous	benefits of breastfeeding, cautions during breastfeeding, breast milk leakage, storage of breast milk	12.68%	If we collect the milk expressed by mother, which metal utensil should we use and for how long can the milk be stored, that it is hygienic and good for the child
Special Topics	AIDs, HIV, TB, cancer, and breastfeeding	5.43%	If a pregnant woman finds out she has TB, should she breastfeed her child?

Table 8.3: Questions Themes and Topics

Query Phrasing

User queries had different aspects of framing the question, the language used, and the content. The majority of the queries were short in length; however, they missed informative components, e.g. "baby is crying, what to do." As compared to mothers, ASHAs phrased questions better, "my child is three months old, can I give Janam Ghutti in addition to my breastmilk?". There were repeated expressions as generally found in natural conversations, "I am not able to breastfeed my baby properly, how will she be able to feed? She is not having enough breastmilk!". The implicit information parts such as age of the infant and weight of the child were generally missed. Some of the users narrated their questions in the form of stories, e.g.," If the mother has to go out due to any circumstance and can't carry her baby along, the baby is very young, weather is bad, then what kind of milk should we give? can we give packaged cow milk available on Mother Dairy booths? can we give toned milk, is this type of milk good for baby, hygienic for the baby?." They also merged multiple questions in one statement such as "when we breastfeed our baby, we make sure to burp her but still, she vomits, what should we do? and my second question is when a baby is having a cold such that she cannot get cough but there is noise in breathing, how can we treat this?"

The language of the participants was a mix of English, Hindi, and regional dialects. Delhi, being home to immigrants from various other states, does not primarily have a generic language but is a mix of Hindi and regional languages, dialects, and accents [261]. While, for the majority of the users, colloquial Hindi was the prime language, some mixed English words, e.g., "*mera bachcha six [English word] plus ka hai kya feed suitable rahegi?*" (my child is six plus of age, what feed would be suitable for him?). At times, when users preferred typing queries, they used Roman Hindi words (words written in Roman Script instead of Devanagari Script), e.g. "*hum dawaai khate hain to bache ko doodh pila skti hun*" (I am on medicines, can I breastfeed my baby?). Since there are no standard ways of spelling transliterated words, there were substantial spelling variations, highlighting the

problem space of code-mix, a well-identified challenge [262] in the Information Retrieval field.

8.3.3 User Perceptions

In this section, we will discuss what and how users perceived from the chatbot interaction.

Trusting and Available Partner is the Need of the Hour

The sense of receiving correct and verified medical information from the bot helped users develop trust in it. Only when the users developed confidence in the credibility of the bot, their likeness to use the app increased further. ASHAs tended to test the knowledge by asking about topics they have received training on. For example, an ASHA asked a question on how to care for breasts when they develop soreness. On finding the answer that soap should not be applied, she became satisfied and said: "yes, the answer is correct, the same thing is told to us in our training". Users also compared Yukti with Google and were able to point out the benefits of receiving authentic information — "Google brings any kind of information, we can't trust that, but Yukti brings authentic and correct information".

Users appreciated the comfort of talking to the bot anytime, anywhere without the feeling of being judged. Some mothers mentioned their hesitation in reaching out to a doctor or anyone else and found the proxy of the bot to be useful. A mother[Pooja], who was shy and interacted with the bot using text messages in all her sessions, shared her feeling as "*I am shy when I visit the doctor, I am unable to ask anything. I could ask all my questions from Yukti*". Hesitation in talking with males was highlighted in these experiences. In Indian society, sharing reproductive health with males is considered a taboo that makes women restrict themselves to female friends or relatives for any consultation. Meena (mother) -"*as a lady we share the same problems, if a male is standing in front of us, then we hesitate to talk about such matters*". A mother confirmed from the research staff whether she could ask sex-related questions to the bot or not "*Can I ask a secret question? If a mother is* breastfeeding her child, can she maintain physical relationships? People say this, but I went to my mother's place after delivery for seven months, but I had this question in mind, and I wanted to ask whether it is true or not?". After receiving the response, she appreciated the fact that she can ask anything from the bot, even personal questions. We noticed that she was waiting for the right time to ask this question and asked that in her last session, "I was thinking since day 1 to ask this question". Mothers found the all-time availability of the app quite useful feature - "there are times when we do not want to trouble anyone, for example, some problem arises at night then we can ask the bot". Many described Yukti as a friendly partner with whom they can share their concerns freely, "Yukti gives answers like a friend, if I want to know anything, I can ask questions from the bot just like a friend".

Expectations of Stakeholders: ASHAs and Mothers

All of the participants expressed the need to broaden the scope of the chatbot beyond breastfeeding to other topics of mother and child care. While interacting with the bot some users attempted to ask questions other than breastfeeding and showed disappointment in not receiving the answers. The strong desire to talk to an expert and to get immediate solutions to their everyday problems and concerns was predominant among mothers. For example, Meena (mother) was curious to know suggestions on baby products from Yukti and asked a question as "*which product should I buy for my baby, Is the Patanjali brand good?*". She also asked the research staff, "*can I ask questions on Thyroid, I had it before delivery, are there any chances of its continuation?*". Another mother suggested "you should also make Yukti type of application for girls to educate them on menstruation".

Compared to mothers, ASHAs were more restless about the limited scope of the bot. For instance, one of the ASHA said - "*why is the bot only about breastfeeding, there are only limited questions on breastfeeding, we can't ask more on this topic*". Such feedback was particularly given by ASHAs, who mainly seemed to test the chatbot's knowledge. However, when the chatbot asked them questions back, out of 33 questions, the ASHAs, on average, could correctly answer 19 (57%).

Comparing the perceived use-cases of a chatbot application for ASHAs and mothers, we majorly found two: ASHAs perceived the chatbot like a trainer to improve their knowledge and assist in handling their client cases. For Mothers, it was perceived to be more like a helper and first point of contact for addressing breastfeeding issues. Therefore, ASHAs and mothers did not represent a homogeneous group.

8.4 Discussion

Our exploratory study highlighted the promising potential of chatbots for educating community health workers and mothers on the subject of breastfeeding. Our study aims to understand how the actual beneficiaries (mothers and ASHAs in our case) perceive the AI intervention and identify the potential design opportunities and challenges. Within the realm of AI for social good, our study will expand the CSCW and HCI community's understanding of the potential of chatbots as an educational intervention in the under-served context of India. We believe that this understanding will be relevant and can be extended to similar cultural and resource-constrained contexts.

8.4.1 Interaction, Engagement, Trust, and Ecology

Our study with 22 users from resource-constrained settings of India highlights the value of providing timely breastfeeding advice to mothers. Given their restricted mobility and high dependency on others, the chatbot was seen as the first port of call by the mothers. Also, mothers found the chatbot a comfortable way of seeking information which they otherwise find difficult to discuss with others, especially with male doctors.

In terms of the effectiveness of answering the participants' questions, this simulated version of the chatbot could successfully respond to 88% of the queries with the curated reference material (ASHA training material). It was rare when the wizard had to take the help of external sources. These queries were mainly common breastfeeding problems. This

suggests that ASHAs' training material can be effectively used as a knowledge base for a chatbot. Further, we observed that while there were requirements for seeking expert consultation (26% and 9%), only 9% were complex enough queries that only a medical expert could answer. Given the low doctor-to-patient ratio in India, chatbots can be seen as a promising educational and training intervention to provide relief to already overburdened doctors. We would like to emphasize that chatbots should be seen as complementary support and not a replacement for a medical expert, as also emphasized by prior work on using technology for community education in developing regions [124, 58]

Our analysis of participants' information-seeking practices highlighted the need for sensitivity while answering within the user's context. We observed that the majority of the participants reflected deep-rooted beliefs on traditional practices. We observed that when the chatbot gave factual, technical answers, the mothers were not convinced; they sought more conversation on their ideas. Here, one approach could be expanding the capability of the chatbot, where it shares not just a fact but a rationale of why some practices started and why they should be discontinued. While presenting this kind of information, care must be given to local cultures, such as used in the studies of Sorcor et al. of delivering information on HIV, a taboo topic in India [263].

Further, our study highlighted the need to investigate appropriate methods for improving collaboration among family members in engaging with breastfeeding education. In almost all of the families, we noted limited involvement of husbands in breastfeedingrelated concerns and activities, and predominance of female relatives such as mothers-inlaw. Since both the husbands and female relatives have an important role in the mothers' live in India, fostering their collective participation is necessary to stimulate the coconstruction of knowledge. As suggested by Grimes et al., family settings also provide an idyllic environment to promote the use of health apps, creating opportunities for openness, care, and reflection [264]. In Indian societies where the involvement of male family members is limited, family informatics provides the opportunity to address gender-related social norms [265, 266].

ASHAs perceived *Yukti* as a training tool and as a service to consult during field visits. This highlights the potential direction of investigating the role of chatbots in motivating ASHAs in their role of counselor. ASHAs have situated knowledge. Leveraging it in meaningful ways in the system design is important to address breastfeeding education in a more holistic way. Here, the use of Haraway's work on situated knowledge [267] can be explored in designing an ecology of actors (ASHAs, mothers, doctors) to make chatbots learn and inform more appropriately. For instance, by collecting data on mothers breastfeeding issues, a chatbot can maintain profiles of cases and proactively engage ASHAs at appropriate times.

Further, there can be other contextual scenarios hampering mothers' privacy. In the women population we studied, access to an internet enabled phone is a new possibility [209]. Many of them still do not have their personal smartphone, and share family member's phones. Further, even if they possess, they might not have complete control due to lack of operational knowledge and rely on family members for mediation. For example, we observed that ASHAs and mothers had their phones configured with the email-ids of their children or husband and did not know how to set up a new email account on their phones. This brings an interesting design challenge on two different aspects. First, How a woman can maintain her privacy on a shared phone, and second, how should the app behave in the given ecology. From a design perspective, one of the approaches could be to allow the app to have a private mode or password protection to protect its content from the non-intended user. To facilitate the phone sharing without causing embarrassment or discomfort to the sharers, one of the approaches could be to have configurable icons, notifications, reminders, etc., such that they are not embarrassing or disturbing to the other users of the phone, e.g., the husband.

8.4.2 Design Specific Ethical Considerations

Introducing conversational agents to vulnerable populations like those studied calls for careful attention to their conditions, culture, and contexts. A significant number of mothers in India do not have regular access to health care, have restricted mobility and power to make decisions [268]. In light of these challenges, we observed that chatbot availability while, on hand, gives the benefits of filling the gap of lack of information sources, on the other hand, poses a set of concerns that need significant ethical responsibility.

The first concern comes from the perception of the users towards chatbots designed for health education on topics like Breastfeeding. We observed that some of the mothers perceived the educational chatbot to be more like a healthcare delivery app. They asked a range of questions on their personal health condition to seek consultation. Given that they are using chatbots for the first time, a potential risk is that they might develop wrong notions about their health condition by just receiving generic information. This is particularly important given the sensitive topic of Breastfeeding in which the attitude and perception of the mother play a crucial role. For example, a mother perceiving low milk supply when asks a question might wrongly correlate some of the causing factors, thereby further exacerbating her condition. To mitigate these, it is essential that the chatbot design conveys its scope clearly and adopt strategies to help users arrive at correct interpretations. For example, a helpline service can be incorporated to connect mothers to a health expert at appropriate times.

In our study, the research staff had to clarify the doubts of the mothers on the chatbot responses on multiple occasions. Thus, we suggest designing support mechanisms to remove confusion right away. Further, discovering user intent behind the message automatically is a design implication for which the emerging body of work, analyzing social media posts to identify user intents can be leveraged [269]. Considering topics like Breastfeeding, which inherently have counseling aspects, the Chatbot design must take care of the language use. Techniques recommended for incorporating appropriate level of empathy should be utilized [270, 271, 272, 273].

The second concern relates to the added risk of privacy and confidentiality. In our study, we observed that mothers found the chatbot to be a more comfortable option for seeking advice on private questions as compared to physicians or others. This raises the concern of how to preserve their privacy. If the chatbot design includes taking other health workers into the loop, there is a need to provide choices to the users whether they want to share the data of particular conversations or not. In particular, when users like ours who have low literacy and exposure to the digital world must be safeguarded appropriately on their data utilization. This also highlights the need for policy-level recommendations to be thought of for balancing the potential benefits and risk of introducing conversational agents in healthcare, an ongoing discussion in the artificial intelligence community [274, 275, 276, 277]. We emphasize before designing the actual chatbot, more experiments and consultations should be performed to develop a realistic sense of ethical pitfalls.

8.5 Summary

The increasing penetration of smartphones in developing regions has opened new opportunities for delivering targeted, low-cost interventions of public health education. Chatbots, with their ease of use, offer opportunities to reach out to populations who have limited digital experience. Towards this, we attempted to understand the potential of chatbots in educating mothers and community health workers in slum areas of India in the context of breastfeeding education. Our study unraveled several unexplored facets of chatbot applications for public health in low-resource communities. We found out that the chatbots have the potential to fill the gap of the lack of the first point of contact for seeking information. Further, we uncovered various contextual aspects that a chatbot design must take care in order to provide information in an effective manner, e.g., addressing age-old practices, the role of family members, etc., and other associated ethical and societal challenges.

Chapter 9

Discussion & Conclusion

The Alma Ata Declaration in 1978, signed by 134 national government members of WHO, was a milestone in shifting the discourse of public health from curative care to preventive care [278]. The Alma-Ata Declaration defined health as a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being and not mere absence of diseases. By recognizing health as a human right and calling out "health for all" as a flagship global health policy agenda, the declaration emphasized taking multi-sectoral measures and proposed primary health care as a core strategy to achieve the agenda. This led to the emergence of community health worker programs across the world at various scales [279]. However, the increased privatization and liberalization during the 1990s brought a downfall to the vision [279]. Many governments declined the cornerstone approach of community participation.

After observing stalled progress in Millennium Development Goals and growing health inequities, primary health care and community health workers once again came into prominence [280, 279]. Since 2007, there is a renewed focus to revitalize CHW programs to address the shortage of health professionals and the growing burden of diseases, especially in developing countries. Moreover, CHWs are considered bridges between the health sector and community engagement in the health system and expected to enhance or embody health system accountability. The fulcrum of CHWs' functioning is their social and geographic position that gives them an edge over professionals to understand healthcare barriers and thereby become key players in achieving global and national efforts to accomplish universal health coverage.

Community health workers play a primary role in providing maternal and child health services. CHWs are responsible for many interventions, including utilization of antenatal, perinatal, and post-partum services, health promotion and disease prevention, breastfeeding promotion, family planning, and newborn care. These services have aided in reducing levels of maternal and child mortality. However, despite this, the overall progress has been slow. There are numerous practical obstacles in fulfilling the potential of CHWs relating to existing inefficiencies of the health systems, lack of clarity in the roles of CHWs, recognition issues by other workers in the hierarchies, and practical challenges in the program implementation. These have resulted in the shortfall of critical elements such as supportive supervision, continuous education and skill development, logistical support, remuneration, and the community's sense of ownership of the CHW program.

By focusing on the training aspect of CHWs in India, this dissertation develops an understanding of the basic knowledge and skill development needs of ASHAs and the scope for technology-based mediums. The table presented in the appendix 9.1 summarizes the associated studies. Through field-based studies, we came across the life and work settings of ASHAs in which the training interventions are provided and learned that the way forward is to focus on training as a process to help ASHAs continuously and systematically fill their knowledge gaps. Given the educational backgrounds of ASHAs, their position in the health system and nature of work, one-time or fixed training can not adequately address the deficiencies. We observed that even after having received pre-service and periodic training, ASHAs struggled with basic facts and sought assistance in handling their field cases. While ASHAs have sound knowledge of the communities' culture and contexts, they are not equipped with the appropriate training to leverage that knowledge in addressing the barriers to healthcare. The questions asked by the ASHAs reflected this need prominently. As emphasized by the expert in our experiments, the simple aspects of routine care have profound value in bringing behavior change and care-seeking. To make ASHAs skillful in these, there is a need to foster dialogue between ASHAs and the experts on a frequent basis. Technology-based mediums offer this opportunity at a low cost.

Another important aspect we observed through our research is regarding the ways to as-

sess knowledge of ASHAs. The gold standard methods of pre- and post-intervention tests, while give a good sense of the knowledge gaps and the gains, do not inform much about the nuances of the knowledge application. We need to dig deeper into how ASHAs construct knowledge in after-training environments. This is a potential future work. Mechanisms that can help ASHAs and the community members reflect together are needed.

Our large-scale study with 500 ASHAs (chapter 6) enabled collecting ASHAs questions and discerned topics and patterns in the information-seeking of ASHAs. Technologymediated learning platforms offer this capability to complement existing face-to-face training methods, which often have limited time to discuss ASHAs queries and experiences. Such forums in turn, help in knowing the unmet needs of the communities and creating synergies between health systems and communities.

I will now discuss three prominent directions that emerged in the dissertation.

Feasibility, Opportunities, and Limitations of IVR Systems in Low-Resource Settings

One of the most significant advantages of IVR-based applications for resource-constrained settings is reachability. It enables providing services for those who are often left behind - low-literate, disconnected, and poor. On this premise, the HCI4D research around IVR has grown and demonstrated potential, covering a variety of application areas such as information access, community-led social networks, promotion of health, helpline services, crowd-sourcing applications [18, 17, 18, 281, 65]. We extend this direction by using IVR for the training and learning purposes of frontline health workers.

The affordance of voice communication makes IVR a usable technology, so long as the interface design is not complex. In our system, we attempted to keep minimum use of touchtone inputs for users. Unlike regular IVR systems, e.g., customer service that requires users to navigate through menus and options to interact with information, our system used standard voice call interaction. The ASHAs were required to interact with only one touchtone input (press '1' to raise hand). Without training, the ASHAs could easily use the application and participate in the training session, where a single session could extend up to one hour. This saves significant training costs and time. Deployment of such systems thus provides feasibility benefits, although we acknowledge there is scope for improvement in the system design, and there are challenges with cellular connectivity.

For future designs, IVR represents a trade-off. On the one hand, while it provides the necessary reachability, on the other hand, it remains limited in user experience. Also, poor cellular connectivity that we observed persistently in our field studies needs careful attention when designing real-time interaction. Going forward, considering the increasing penetration of smartphones and the internet, it is relevant to explore rich interfaces. Still, IVR cannot be completely ruled out and should be incorporated at different levels to seam digital divides.

Here, we would like to highlight the usefulness of IVR integration in broad systems and hybrid system designs for creating contextual solutions. IVR offers capabilities to extend the reach of technology and includes users in remote areas where computing systems typically go absent. For instance, while the mobile subscriptions in India have reached 1176 million users, it still leaves behind 184 million people [282]. In our system, we adopted a hybrid architecture of combining a telephony application with a smartphone app to extend the reach of the Internet and facilitate online training in low-resource settings. By efficiently leveraging the user capabilities - some having access to smartphones and others having access to feature phones, we could offer an engaging interface over IVR. Likewise, the addition of asynchronous IVR services to the platform will facilitate learning anytime and anywhere. Users can access information on-demand in the fields without the dependency on mobile data, which is also a need raised by the ASHAs. We see good scope for IVR integration in various other applications, e.g., chatbots, data collection and workflow apps, etc. Since users with low digital literacy are still in the initial phase of learning and adopting computing systems, providing familiar fallback mechanisms for support is necessary.

The importance of investing in universal technologies becomes apparent in the current time of the COVID-19 pandemic. While the rest of the world is managing to move forward by adopting new tools for online working modes, users with low digital literacy and resource constraints face a dearth of tools. And as we know that the pandemic will continue to the following year (2022) or probably more, it is kind of urgent that we come up with inexpensive and easy-to-adopt remote mechanisms for low-literate and poor populations to avoid their relegation further. Our platform provides a strong case in favor of this need. Our tool has its applicability not limited to the context of CHWs training but more generally wherever group communications are needed, for example, remote education in rural schools, communication between employees, etc.

Mobile-Learning: a Promising Solution for Ongoing Training Support of CHWs

Traxler defines m-learning as the personalized, connected, and interactive use of handheld computers in classrooms, in collaborative learning during fieldwork, and in counseling and guidance [283]. It supports learning that is more situated, experiential, and contextualized within specific domains and affords the creation and use of up-to-date and authentic content [284].

Considering the setting in which ASHAs work, there are multiple factors for the suitability of mobile learning. First, the cost of infrastructure, transport, and logistics can be saved substantially. For instance, our intervention incurred a cost of 110.85 INR (1.63 USD) per ASHA for one-hour training session, which is much less than a face-to-face mechanism. Second, mobile platforms can respond to the social and practical challenges ASHAs face by supporting anytime, anywhere model of learning. Given the reality that ASHAs bear the major domestic responsibilities and have limited agency to change their routines, mobile learning affords the needed convenience. Third and most important, mobile learning can help address the knowledge and skill gaps of ASHAs in a continuous manner. As observed in our studies, ASHAs seek to learn through field-case discussions. With appropriate designs, relevant information resources and expert guidance can be provided at the point-of-care, which otherwise get missed in fixed training schedules. Lastly, mobile learning also has a role to play in supporting peer-to-peer learning, which is the main source of learning for ASHAs.

This dissertation informs on these factors and suggests a number of future directions. One of the interesting paradigms that emerged from our experiments is to design online learning management systems for CHWs. We explored this in our peer-to-peer learning experiment, where trainers could design learning courses for ASHAs from a central system. Working towards designing a comprehensive platform for the trainers and ASHAs considering the dynamics of responsibilities, constraints, and needs warrants future research.

Scope for Intelligent Techniques in maternal and child health education

In this dissertation work, we observed a substantial scope for widening this problem domain through intelligent techniques. In the study described in the chapter 5, we explored the use of semi-automated NLP-based techniques to curate voice forum content, and in the study presented in the chapter 8, we conducted a pseudo experiment (wizard-of-Oz) to explore the potential of conversational agents for breastfeeding education.

These techniques are required to address the challenges in these settings. For instance, given that there is a scarcity of trainers, intelligent alternatives such as chatbots offer a good replacement to traditional learning material-based learning. Through dialogue-based interaction, chatbots can actively CHWs in the learning process and improve interaction with the learning material. The specific characteristics and contexts of the users and the settings provide a good research ground for the chatbots for social good theme.

Another key challenge in this area for automated techniques is to process local languages. Due to the non-availability of speech recognition engines, it is extremely challenging to screen, tag, and organize data automatically. Even where the standard languages are used, the mix of other languages, dialects, and accents makes the transcription quality
to be low. This has been an open research area for NLP. Integration of machine learning algorithms at various levels should be investigated to learn user patterns. As we think to expand our learning platforms and support anytime, anywhere learning paradigm, there is good scope for artificial intelligence for personalization too. Personalized learning is relevant to address the considerable variation in the knowledge gaps of ASHAs. By deducing learning paths for ASHAs from their activities, relevant content can be delivered. ASHAs with similar learning needs can be grouped with an instructor to provide further support.

9.1 Concluding Remarks

This dissertation addressed a research lacuna of understanding and designing solutions for the training needs of community health workers in India. The focus of the researchers, practitioners, and non-profits around the world has been so far on improving the performance of CHWs without giving the required attention to their knowledge improvement needs. With increasing responsibilities of the ambitious CHWs programs and little support for competence development, CHWs face challenges in delivering quality services. Sometimes, as a result, even put into jeopardy; facing the loss of credibility from both the communities and the health systems.

Providing effective and regular opportunities for competence development is a foundational step towards CHWs empowerment. From this dissertation work, we learned that this should not only be dependent on traditional sources of training, which do not compensate well for the variations in the educational backgrounds of ASHAs. Providing access to learning tools to cover up deficiencies and frequent opportunities for interaction with experts are needed. This dissertation puts light on the information needs of AHSAs by analyzing ASHAs' queries and the fact that despite regular training exposure, ASHA seeks basic knowledge and assistance in handling field cases. We inform how alternative mobile tools can address these needs through better designs. The dissertation also provides promising results in the efficacy and fitment of the mobile learning paradigm in the work and life settings of ASHAs. This dissertation enriches existing HCI4D research by adding focus to the training aspect of CHWs and potential of mobile learning in general for the competence building of para-professionals and other front-line workers.

Publications

Deepika Yadav, Prerna Malik, Kirti Dabas, and Pushpendra Singh. 2021. Illustrating the Gaps and Needs in the Training Support of Community Health Workers in India. In *Proceedings of the 2021 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, CHI, 1-16. [Chapter 6]

Deepika Yadav, Anushka Bhandari, and Pushpendra Singh. 2019. Leap: scaffolding collaborative learning of community health workers in India. In *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 3, CSCW, 1–27. [Chapter 5]

Deepika Yadav, Prerna Malik, Kirti Dabas, and Pushpendra Singh. 2019. Feedpal: understanding opportunities for chatbots in breastfeeding education of women in India. In *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 3, CSCW, 1–30. [Chapter 8]

Deepika Yadav, Mayank Gupta, Malolan Chetlur, and Pushpendra Singh. 2018. Automatic annotation of voice forum content for rural users and evaluation of relevance. In *Proceedings of the 1st ACM SIGCAS Conference on Computing and Sustainable Societies*, COMPASS, 1–11. [Chapter 7]

Deepika Yadav, Pushpendra Singh, Kyle Montague, Vijay Kumar, Deepak Sood, Madeline Balaam, Drishti Sharma, Mona Duggal, Tom Bartindale, Delvin Varghese, Patrick Olivier. 2017. Sangoshthi: Empowering Community Health Workers through Peer Learning in Rural India. In *Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on World Wide Web*, WWW, 499–508. [Chapter 4]

Konstantinos Kazakos, Siddhartha Asthana, Madeline Balaam, Mona Duggal, Amey Holden, Limalemla Jamir, Nanda Kishore Kannuri, Saurabh Kumar, Amarendar Reddy Manindla, Subhashini Arcot Manikam, GVS Murthy, Papreen Nahar, Peter Phillimore, Shreyaswi Sathyanath, Pushpendra Singh, Meenu Singh, Pete Wright, Deepika Yadav, Patrick Olivier. 2016. A Real-Time IVR Platform for Community Radio. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. ACM, 343–354. [Not part of the dissertation work]

Appendix

Table 9.1: Summary of Dissertation

Chapter	Study & Contribution	Research Questions	Study & Participants	Method
4	Proposing and Field Testing Sangoshthi Training Platform	Is the proposed system feasible for conducting training sessions in rural India?	Field Experiment Randomized Control Trial	Mixed method
		What is the effectiveness of the <i>Sangoshthi</i> training environment in terms of learning outcomes for ASHAs?	40 participants	Pre-Post Intervention tests Interviews
		Is the system usable and useful for ASHAs and trainers?		System interaction analysis
5	Investigating Opportunities for Peer-to-Peer Learning Model	Can semi-structured, group-based learning exercises facilitated through <i>Sangoshthi</i> tool produce knowledge gains in ASHAs?	Field Experiment Randomized Control Trial	Mixed method
		What are the group learning characteristics of ASHAs?	120 participants	Pre-Post intervention test Group Sessions Analysis Interviews
6	Understand Training Needs through a Large-scale Study	What kind of information ASHAs seek from experts?	Field Study	Mixed method
		What kind of knowledge or skill gaps the information seeking represent?	500 participants	Query Analysis Reference Material Analysis Interviews System logs analysis
		To what extent the existing reference material can address the information seeking of ASHAs?		
7	Semi-Automating the Curation of Training Material	Are topic models useful for clustering the voice forum dataset?	Usability Study Within-subject Design	Mixed method
		Is the relevance perception of the automatic annotation similar to manual annotation?	48 participants (32 ASHAs, 16 ANMs)	Analysis of User ratings Interviews
		Is the relevance perception similar across summary types (summary as a sentence, summary as a group of keywords)?		
		Does the user preference for the type of summary, change based on the annotation source (human versus machine) and annotation type (summary sentence versus group of keywords)?		
8	Understanding Opportunities for Conversational Agents in Breastfeeding Education	What is the perception of users towards chatbot-based breastfeeding assistance?	Exploratory Study Wizard-of-Oz Experiment	Qualitative Analysis
		What kind of breastfeeding information users - ASHAs and	22 participants	Query Analysis (Chats)
		mothers - seek from a chatbot?	(12 ASHAs, 10 mothers)	Context Analysis (Field Observations) Interviews

References

- [1] WHO. 2020. Levels and trends in child mortality report 2020. https://www.who.int. [Online; accessed 27-September-2020]. (2020).
- [2] The World Bank. 2020. Number of under-five deaths. https://data.worldbank. org/indicator/SH.DTH.MORT?most_recent_value_desc=false. (2020).
- [3] The World Bank. 2021. Number of maternal deaths. https://data.worldbank. org/indicator/SH.MMR.DTHS?name_desc=false. (2021).
- [4] UNICEF et al. 2019. The state of the world's children 2019-growing well in a changing world. https://www.unicef.org/reports/state-ofworlds-children-2019. (2019).
- [5] Ministry of Health & Family Welfare. 2014. India newborn action plan (inap). https://nhm.gov.in/index4.php?lang=1&level=0&linkid= 153&lid=174. [Online; accessed 21-Feburary-2021]. (2014).
- [6] World Health Organization. 2019. *Trends in maternal mortality 2000 to 2017: estimates by WHO, UNICEF, UNFPA, World Bank Group and the United Nations Population Division.* World Health Organization, 104 p.
- [7] National Health Mission. 2021. About accredited social health activist (asha). http: //nhm.gov.in/communitisation/asha/about-asha.html. [Online; accessed 25-Feb-2021]. (2021).
- [8] National Health Mission. 2019. Quarterly nhm mis report. https://nhm.gov. in/. [Online; accessed 25-Feb-2021]. (2019).
- [9] National Health Mission. 2006. Induction training module for asha. https:// nhm.gov.in/index1.php?lang=1&level=3&sublinkid=184& lid=257. (2006).
- [10] Brynne Gilmore and Eilish McAuliffe. 2013. Effectiveness of community health workers delivering preventive interventions for maternal and child health in lowand middle-income countries: a systematic review. *BMC public health*, 13, 1, 847.
- [11] Simon Lewin, Susan Munabi-Babigumira, Claire Glenton, Karen Daniels, Xavier Bosch-Capblanch, Brian E Van Wyk, Jan Odgaard-Jensen, Marit Johansen, Godwin N Aja, Merrick Zwarenstein, et al. 2010. Lay health workers in primary and

community health care for maternal and child health and the management of infectious diseases. *Cochrane database of systematic reviews*, 3.

- [12] National Health Systems Resource Centre. 2011. Which way forward? evaluation of asha programme. http://nhsrcindia.org/. [Online; accessed 1-Aug-2021]. (2011).
- [13] Kerry Scott and Shobhit Shanker. 2010. Tying their hands? institutional obstacles to the success of the asha community health worker programme in rural north india. *AIDS care*, 22, sup2, 1606–1612.
- [14] Saji Saraswathy Gopalan, Satyanarayan Mohanty, and Ashis Das. 2012. Assessing community health workers' performance motivation: a mixed-methods approach on india's accredited social health activists (asha) programme. *BMJ open*, 2, 5, e001557.
- [15] Ravindra H Dholakia and Nirupam Bajpai. 2011. Improving the performance of accredited social health activists in india. *Columbia Global Centers–South Asia Working Papers*.
- [16] Anirudha Joshi, Mandar Rane, Debjani Roy, Nagraj Emmadi, Padma Srinivasan, N Kumarasamy, Sanjay Pujari, Davidson Solomon, Rashmi Rodrigues, DG Saple, et al. 2014. Supporting treatment of people living with hiv/aids in resource limited settings with ivrs. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 1595–1604.
- [17] Neil Patel, Deepti Chittamuru, Anupam Jain, Paresh Dave, and Tapan S Parikh. 2010. Avaaj otalo: a field study of an interactive voice forum for small farmers in rural india. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. ACM, 733–742.
- [18] Preeti Mudliar, Jonathan Donner, and William Thies. 2012. Emergent practices around cgnet swara, voice forum for citizen journalism in rural india. In Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development, 159–168.
- [19] Agha Ali Raza, Bilal Saleem, Shan Randhawa, Zain Tariq, Awais Athar, Umar Saif, and Roni Rosenfeld. 2018. Baang: a viral speech-based social platform for underconnected populations. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. ACM, 1–12.
- [20] Maryse C Kok, Marjolein Dieleman, Miriam Taegtmeyer, Jacqueline EW Broerse, Sumit S Kane, Hermen Ormel, Mandy M Tijm, and Korrie AM De Koning. 2015. Which intervention design factors influence performance of community health work-

ers in low-and middle-income countries? a systematic review. *Health policy and planning*, 30, 9, 1207–1227.

- [21] Aditya Vashistha, Edward Cutrell, Gaetano Borriello, and William Thies. 2015. Sangeet swara: a community-moderated voice forum in rural india. In *Proceedings* of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, 417–426.
- [22] World Health Organization. 2018. Health workforce—data and statistics. https: //www.who.int/hrh/statistics/en/. [Online; accessed 23-Feb-2021]. (2018).
- [23] World Health Organization et al. 2016. Global strategy on human resources for health: workforce 2030.
- [24] UNAIDS WHO et al. 2008. Task shifting: global recommendations and guidelines. *WHO*, 94, 407.
- [25] Simon Lewin, John N Lavis, Andrew D Oxman, Gabriel Bastías, Mickey Chopra, Agustín Ciapponi, Signe Flottorp, Sebastian García Martí, Tomas Pantoja, Gabriel Rada, et al. 2008. Supporting the delivery of cost-effective interventions in primary health-care systems in low-income and middle-income countries: an overview of systematic reviews. *The Lancet*, 372, 9642, 928–939.
- [26] Andy Haines, David Sanders, Uta Lehmann, Alexander K Rowe, Joy E Lawn, Steve Jan, Damian G Walker, and Zulfiqar Bhutta. 2007. Achieving child survival goals: potential contribution of community health workers. *The lancet*, 369, 9579, 2121– 2131.
- [27] Uta Lehman and David Sanders. 2007. Community health workers: what do we know about them? the state of the evidence on programmes, activities, costs and impact on health outcomes of using community health workers. *World Health Organization: Evidence and Information for Policy, Department of Human Health Geneva*.
- [28] Gillian Walt, Lucy Gilson, K Heggenhougen, T Knudsen, L Owuor-Omondi, M Perera, et al. 1990. *Community health workers in national programmes: just another pair of hands?* Open University Press Philadelphia.
- [29] Uta Lehmann, Irwin Friedman, and David Sanders. 2004. Review of the utilisation and effectiveness of community-based health workers in africa. *Global Health Trust, Joint Learning Initiative on Human Resources for Health and Development* (*JLI*), *JLI Working Paper*, 4, 1–44.

- [30] Abimbola Olaniran, Helen Smith, Regine Unkels, Sarah Bar-Zeev, and Nynke van den Broek. 2017. Who is a community health worker?–a systematic review of definitions. *Global health action*, 10, 1, 1272223.
- [31] Zulfiqar A Bhutta, Zohra S Lassi, George Pariyo, and Luis Huicho. 2010. Global experience of community health workers for delivery of health related millennium development goals: a systematic review, country case studies, and recommendations for integration into national health systems. *Global health workforce Alliance*, 1, 249, 61.
- [32] Henry Perry, Rose Zulliger, et al. 2012. How effective are community health workers.
- [33] Smisha Agarwal, Sian L Curtis, Gustavo Angeles, Ilene S Speizer, Kavita Singh, and James C Thomas. 2019. The impact of india's accredited social health activist (asha) program on the utilization of maternity services: a nationally representative longitudinal modelling study. *Human resources for health*, 17, 1, 1–13.
- [34] Mickey Chopra, Salla Munro, John N Lavis, Gunn Vist, and Sara Bennett. 2008. Effects of policy options for human resources for health: an analysis of systematic reviews. *The Lancet*, 371, 9613, 668–674.
- [35] Henry Perry, Rose Zulliger, Kerry Scott, Dena Javadi, and Jess Gergen. 2013. Case studies of large-scale community health worker programs: examples from bangladesh, brazil, ethiopia, india, iran, nepal, and pakistan. *Afghanistan: Community-Based Health Care to the Ministry of Public Health*.
- [36] World Health Organization. 2007. Community health workers: what do we know about them? http://www.who.int/hrh/documents/community_health_workers.pdf. [Online; accessed 26-May-2017]. (2007).
- [37] James O'Donovan, Charles O'Donovan, Isla Kuhn, Sonia Ehrlich Sachs, and Niall Winters. 2018. Ongoing training of community health workers in low-income and middle-income countries: a systematic scoping review of the literature. *BMJ open*, 8, 4, e021467.
- [38] International Institute for Population Sciences (IIPS) and ICF. 2015-2016. National family health survey (nfhs-4). http://rchiips.org/nfhs/NFHS-4Reports/India.pdf. (2015-2016).
- [39] UNICEF. 2015-2016. Maternal and newborn health disparities in india. https://data.unicef.org/. (2015-2016).

- [40] Government of India Ministry of Health and Family Welfare Statistics Division. 2015. Rural health statistics 2014-2015. https://wcd.nic.in/sites/ default/files/RHS_1.pdf. [Online; accessed 24-Feb-2021]. (2015).
- [41] Ministry of Health & Family Welfare (Government of India). 2020. National rural health mission. https://nhm.gov.in/. [Online; accessed 25-May-2020]. (2020).
- [42] National Rural Health Mission. 2011. Asha- which way forward? evaluation of the asha programme. https://nhm.gov.in/images/pdf/communitisation/ asha/Studies/Evaluation_of_ASHA_Program_2010-11_Report. pdf. [Online; accessed 25-Feb-2021]. (2011).
- [43] NHSRC. 2019. Update on asha programme january 2019. http://nhsrcindia. org/sites/default/files/Update%20on%20ASHA%20Programme_ 2019_for%20Web.pdf. [Online; accessed 25-Feb-2021]. (2019).
- [44] National Health Systems Resource Centre. 2020. Update on the asha programme july 2019. http://nhsrcindia.org/. [Online; accessed 25-May-2020]. (2020).
- [45] National Health Mission. 2020. Guidelines on accredited social health activist. https://nhm.gov.in/images/pdf/communitisation/taskgroup-reports/guidelines-on-asha.pdf. [Online; accessed 25-Feb-2021]. (2020).
- [46] NHSRC. 2014. Home based postnatal care operational guidelines (revised 2014). http://nhsrcindia.org/sites/default/files/Revised% 20HBNC%200perational%20Guidelines%202014%20English.pdf. [Online; accessed 25-Feb-2021]. (2014).
- [47] National Health Mission. 2019. National guidelines for village health, sanitation nutrition day (vhsnd). https://nhm.gov.in/. [Online; accessed 24-Feb-2021]. (2019).
- [48] Abhay T Bang, Rani A Bang, Sanjay B Baitule, M Hanimi Reddy, and Mahesh D Deshmukh. 1999. Effect of home-based neonatal care and management of sepsis on neonatal mortality: field trial in rural india. *The lancet*, 354, 9194, 1955–1961.
- [49] Vishwajeet Kumar, Saroj Mohanty, Aarti Kumar, Rajendra P Misra, Mathuram Santosham, Shally Awasthi, Abdullah H Baqui, Pramod Singh, Vivek Singh, Ramesh C Ahuja, et al. 2008. Effect of community-based behaviour change management on neonatal mortality in shivgarh, uttar pradesh, india: a cluster-randomised controlled trial. *The Lancet*, 372, 9644, 1151–1162.

- [50] World Health Organization et al. 2009. Home visits for the newborn child: a strategy to improve survival: WHO/UNICEF joint statement. Technical report. World Health Organization.
- [51] S Hodgins, R McPherson, and K Kerber. 2018. Postnatal care with a focus on home visitation: a design decision-aid for policymakers and program managers. *J Global Health*, 8, 1.
- [52] K Grover, P Khanna, R Verma, and V Chayal. 2017. Assessment of home based newborn care provided by asha worker in a rural block of haryana. *IJRDPL*, 6, 2888–2892.
- [53] Darshan K Mahyavanshi, Mitali G Patel, Girija Kartha, Shyamal K Purani, and Sunita S Nagar. 2011. A cross sectional study of the knowledge, attitude and practice of asha workers regarding child health (under five years of age) in surendranagar district. *infection*, 72, 55–38.
- [54] Prateek Shrivastava et al. 2012. Evaluation of trained accredited social health activist (asha) workers regarding their knowledge, attitude and practices about child health.
- [55] Latika Nath Sinha, Prabhdeep Kaur, Rakesh Gupta, Suresh Dalpath, Vinod Goyal, and Manoj Murhekar. 2014. Newborn care practices and home-based postnatal newborn care programme-mewat, haryana, india, 2013. *Western Pacific surveillance and response journal: WPSAR*, 5, 3, 22.
- [56] Emily Das, Dharmendra Singh Panwar, Elizabeth A Fischer, Girdhari Bora, and Martha C Carlough. 2014. Performance of accredited social health activists to provide home-based newborn care: a situational analysis. *Indian pediatrics*, 51, 2, 142–144.
- [57] NHSRC. 2013. Update on asha program july 2013. https://nhm.gov. in/images/pdf/communitisation/asha/Reports/Update_on_ ASHA_Program_July_2013.pdf. [Online; accessed 25-Feb-2021]. (2013).
- [58] Deepika Yadav, Pushpendra Singh, Kyle Montague, Vijay Kumar, Deepak Sood, Madeline Balaam, Drishti Sharma, Mona Duggal, Tom Bartindale, Delvin Varghese, and Patrick Olivier. 2017. Sangoshthi: empowering community health workers through peer learning in rural india. In *Proceedings of the 26th International Conference on World Wide Web*, 499–508.
- [59] Lipekho Saprii, Esther Richards, Puni Kokho, and Sally Theobald. 2015. Community health workers in rural india: analysing the opportunities and challenges accredited social health activists (ashas) face in realising their multiple roles. *Human resources for health*, 13, 1, 95.

- [60] ITU. 2020. Global and regional ict data. https://www.itu.int/en/ITU-D/Statistics/Pages/stat/default.aspx. (2020).
- [61] GSMA Intelligence. 2020. The mobile economy 2020. London: GSM Association.
- [62] M Karlsson, G Penteniari, H Croxson, et al. 2018. Accelerating affordable smartphone ownership in emerging markets. (2018).
- [63] Madeline Plauché and Udhyakumar Nallasamy. 2007. Speech interfaces for equitable access to information technology. *Information Technologies & International Development*, 4, 1, pp–69.
- [64] Jahanzeb Sherwani, Nosheen Ali, Sarwat Mirza, Anjum Fatma, Yousuf Memon, Mehtab Karim, Rahul Tongia, and Roni Rosenfeld. 2007. Healthline: speech-based access to health information by low-literate users. In 2007 International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development. IEEE, 1–9.
- [65] Gramvaani. 2020. How mobile vaani works. https://gramvaani.org/. (2020).
- [66] Zahir Koradia and Aaditeshwar Seth. 2012. Phonepeti: exploring the role of an answering machine system in a community radio station in india. In *Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development*, 278–288.
- [67] Amna Abid and Suleman Shahid. 2017. Helping pregnant women in the rural areas of pakistan using a low-cost interactive system. In *Proceedings of the Ninth International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development*, 1–5.
- [68] Dipanjan Chakraborty, Akshay Gupta, and Aaditeshwar Seth. 2019. Experiences from a mobile-based behaviour change campaign on maternal and child nutrition in rural india. In *Proceedings of the Tenth International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development*, 1–11.
- [69] Jerome White, Mayuri Duggirala, Krishna Kummamuru, and Saurabh Srivastava. 2012. Designing a voice-based employment exchange for rural india. In Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development, 367–373.
- [70] Michael A Madaio, Vikram Kamath, Evelyn Yarzebinski, Shelby Zasacky, Fabrice Tanoh, Joelle Hannon-Cropp, Justine Cassell, Kaja Jasinska, and Amy Ogan. 2019. You give a little of yourself: family support for children's use of an ivr literacy system. In *Proceedings of the 2nd ACM SIGCAS Conference on Computing and Sustainable Societies*, 86–98.

- [71] Julian Cristia, Pablo Ibarrarán, Santiago Cueto, Ana Santiago, and Eugenio Severín.
 2017. Technology and child development: evidence from the one laptop per child program. *American Economic Journal: Applied Economics*, 9, 3, 295–320.
- [72] Morgan G Ames. 2014. 10 translating magic: the charisma of one laptop per child's xo laptop in paraguay. *Beyond imported magic: Essays on science, technology, and society in Latin America*, 207.
- [73] Morgan G Ames. 2015. Charismatic technology. In *Proceedings of the fifth decennial Aarhus Conference on Critical Alternatives*, 109–120.
- [74] Sugata Mitra, Ritu Dangwal, Shiffon Chatterjee, Swati Jha, Ravinder S Bisht, and Preeti Kapur. 2005. Acquisition of computing literacy on shared public computers: children and the" hole in the wall". *Australasian Journal of Educational Technol*ogy, 21, 3.
- [75] Ruy Cervantes, Mark Warschauer, Bonnie Nardi, and Nithya Sambasivan. 2011. Infrastructures for low-cost laptop use in mexican schools. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems* (CHI '11), 945–954.
- [76] Kenneth L Kraemer, Jason Dedrick, and Prakul Sharma. 2009. One laptop per child: vision vs. reality. *Communications of the ACM*, 52, 6, 66–73.
- [77] Matthew Kam, Anuj Kumar, Shirley Jain, Akhil Mathur, and John Canny. 2009. Improving literacy in rural india: cellphone games in an after-school program. In 2009 International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development (ICTD). IEEE, 139–149.
- [78] Anuj Kumar, Pooja Reddy, Anuj Tewari, Rajat Agrawal, and Matthew Kam. 2012. Improving literacy in developing countries using speech recognition-supported games on mobile devices. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 1149–1158.
- [79] Michael A Madaio, Evelyn Yarzebinski, Vikram Kamath, Benjamin D Zinszer, Joelle Hannon-Cropp, Fabrice Tanoh, Yapo Hermann Akpe, Axel Blahoua Seri, Kaja K Jasińska, and Amy Ogan. 2020. Collective support and independent learning with a voice-based literacy technology in rural communities. In *Proceedings of the 2020 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 1–14.
- [80] Elba del Carmen Valderrama Bahamondez, Christian Winkler, and Albrecht Schmidt. 2011. Utilizing multimedia capabilities of mobile phones to support teaching in schools in rural panama. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 935–944.

- [81] Elba Del Carmen Valderrama Bahamóndez, Bastian Pfleging, Niels Henze, and Albrecht Schmidt. 2014. A long-term field study on the adoption of smartphones by children in panama. In *Proceedings of the 16th international conference on Human-computer interaction with mobile devices & services*, 163–172.
- [82] Emily Rhodes and Greg Walsh. 2016. Recommendations for developing technologies that encourage reading practices among children in families with low-literate adults. In *Proceedings of the The 15th International Conference on Interaction Design and Children*, 125–136.
- [83] Rama Adithya Varanasi, René F Kizilcec, and Nicola Dell. 2019. How teachers in india reconfigure their work practices around a teacher-oriented technology intervention. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 3, CSCW, 1– 21.
- [84] Rama Adithya Varanasi, Aditya Vashistha, Tapan Parikh, and Nicola Dell. 2020. Challenges and issues integrating smartphones into teacher support programs in india. In Proceedings of the 2020 International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development, 1–11.
- [85] Anthony Poon, Sarah Giroux, Parfait Eloundou-Enyegue, François Guimbretière, and Nicola Dell. 2019. Engaging high school students in cameroon with exam practice quizzes via sms and whatsapp. In *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 1–13.
- [86] Ashly D Black, Josip Car, Claudia Pagliari, Chantelle Anandan, Kathrin Cresswell, Tomislav Bokun, Brian McKinstry, Rob Procter, Azeem Majeed, and Aziz Sheikh. 2011. The impact of ehealth on the quality and safety of health care: a systematic overview. *PLoS med*, 8, 1, e1000387.
- [87] Rebecca Braun, Caricia Catalani, Julian Wimbush, and Dennis Israelski. 2013. Community health workers and mobile technology: a systematic review of the literature. *PloS one*, 8, 6, e65772.
- [88] Garrett Mehl and Alain Labrique. 2014. Prioritizing integrated mhealth strategies for universal health coverage. *Science*, 345, 6202, 1284–1287.
- [89] Kizito Shirima, Oscar Mukasa, Joanna Armstrong Schellenberg, Fatuma Manzi, Davis John, Adiel Mushi, Mwifadhi Mrisho, Marcel Tanner, Hassan Mshinda, and David Schellenberg. 2007. The use of personal digital assistants for data entry at the point of collection in a large household survey in southern tanzania. *Emerging themes in epidemiology*, 4, 1, 5.
- [90] Tapan S Parikh, Paul Javid, Kaushik Ghosh, and Kentaro Toyama. 2006. Mobile phones and paper documents: evaluating a new approach for capturing microfi-

nance data in rural india. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on Human Factors in computing systems*, 551–560.

- [91] Carl Hartung, Adam Lerer, Yaw Anokwa, Clint Tseng, Waylon Brunette, and Gaetano Borriello. 2010. Open data kit: tools to build information services for developing regions. In *Proceedings of the 4th ACM/IEEE international conference on information and communication technologies and development*, 1–12.
- [92] Nicola Dell, Jessica Crawford, Nathan Breit, Timóteo Chaluco, Aida Coelho, Joseph McCord, and Gaetano Borriello. 2013. Integrating odk scan into the community health worker supply chain in mozambique. In *Proceedings of the Sixth International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development: Full Papers-Volume 1*, 228–237.
- [93] Rohit Chaudhri, Waylon Brunette, Mayank Goel, Rita Sodt, Jaylen VanOrden, Michael Falcone, and Gaetano Borriello. 2012. Open data kit sensors: mobile data collection with wired and wireless sensors. In *Proceedings of the 2nd ACM Symposium on Computing for Development*, 1–10.
- [94] ODK.Inc. 2020. Collect data anywhere. https://getodk.org/. (2020).
- [95] Dimagi. 2020. Mobile data collection case studies. https://www.dimagi. com/. (2020).
- [96] Indrani Medhi, Mohit Jain, Anuj Tewari, Mohini Bhavsar, Michael Matheke-Fischer, and Edward Cutrell. 2012. Combating rural child malnutrition through inexpensive mobile phones. In *Proceedings of the 7th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction: Making Sense Through Design*, 635–644.
- [97] Sangya Kaphle, Sharad Chaturvedi, Indrajit Chaudhuri, Ram Krishnan, and Neal Lesh. 2015. Adoption and usage of mhealth technology on quality and experience of care provided by frontline workers: observations from rural india. *JMIR mHealth and uHealth*, 3, 2, e61.
- [98] Molly Bogan, Jan van Esch, Gayo Mhila, Brian DeRenzi, Caroline Mushi, Timothy Wakabi, Neal Lesh, and Marc Mitchell. 2009. Improving standards of care with mobile applications in tanzania. In *W3C Workshop on the Role of Mobile Technologies in Fostering Social and Economic Development in Africa*.
- [99] R. Anderson, T. Perrier, F. Pervaiz, N. Sisouveth, B. Kumar, S. Phongphila, A. Rahman, R. Dhiman, and S. Newland. 2014. Supporting immunization programs with improved vaccine cold chain information systems. In *IEEE Global Humanitarian Technology Conference (GHTC 2014)*, 215–222.

- [100] Sophie Githinji, Samwel Kigen, Dorothy Memusi, Andrew Nyandigisi, Agneta M Mbithi, Andrew Wamari, Alex N Muturi, George Jagoe, Jim Barrington, Robert W Snow, et al. 2013. Reducing stock-outs of life saving malaria commodities using mobile phone text-messaging: sms for life study in kenya. *PloS one*, 8, 1, e54066.
- [101] Pharmalink Newsletter. 2011. Effective pharmaceutical supply chains on the road in low income countries. https://www.epnetwork.org/wp-content/ uploads/2019/01/Pharmalink-2011_EN.pdf. (2011).
- [102] UNICEF. 2020. Rapidsms. https://www.rapidsms.org/. (2020).
- [103] Joyojeet Pal, Anjuli Dasika, Ahmad Hasan, Jackie Wolf, Nick Reid, Vaishnav Kames waran, Purva Yardi, Allyson Mackay, Abram Wagner, Bhramar Mukherjee, et al. 2017. Changing data practices for community health workers: introducing digital data collection in west bengal, india. In *Proceedings of the Ninth International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development*, 1–12.
- [104] Azra Ismail and Neha Kumar. 2018. Engaging solidarity in data collection practices for community health. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 2, CSCW, 1–24.
- [105] WHO. 2020. Integrated management of childhood illness (imci). https://www. who.int/maternal_child_adolescent/topics/child/imci/ en/. (2020).
- [106] Tanzania IMCI Multi-Country Evaluation Health Facility Survey Study Group. 2004. The effect of integrated management of childhood illness on observed quality of care of under-fives in rural tanzania. *Health policy and planning*, 19, 1, 1–10.
- [107] Jane M Kelly, Benta Osamba, Renu M Garg, Mary J Hamel, Jennifer J Lewis, Samantha Y Rowe, Alexander K Rowe, and Michael S Deming. 2001. Community health worker performance in the management of multiple childhood illnesses: siaya district, kenya, 1997–2001. American journal of public health, 91, 10, 1617– 1624.
- [108] J Eriksen, G Tomson, P Mujinja, MY Warsame, A Jahn, and LL Gustafsson. 2007. Assessing health worker performance in malaria case management of underfives at health facilities in a rural tanzanian district. *Tropical Medicine & International Health*, 12, 1, 52–61.
- [109] Brian DeRenzi, Neal Lesh, Tapan Parikh, Clayton Sims, Werner Maokla, Mwajuma Chemba, Yuna Hamisi, Marc Mitchell, Gaetano Borriello, et al. 2008. Eimci: improving pediatric health care in low-income countries. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems*. ACM, 753–762.

- [110] Dejan Zurovac, Raymond K Sudoi, Willis S Akhwale, Moses Ndiritu, Davidson H Hamer, Alexander K Rowe, and Robert W Snow. 2011. The effect of mobile phone text-message reminders on kenyan health workers' adherence to malaria treatment guidelines: a cluster randomised trial. *The Lancet*, 378, 9793, 795–803.
- [111] Caroline OH Jones, Beatrice Wasunna, Raymond Sudoi, Sophie Githinji, Robert W Snow, and Dejan Zurovac. 2012.
 even if you know everything you can forget": health worker perceptions of mobile phone text-messaging to improve malaria case-management in kenya. *PloS one*, 7, 6.
- [112] Brian DeRenzi, Gaetano Borriello, Jonathan Jackson, Vikram S Kumar, Tapan S Parikh, Pushwaz Virk, and Neal Lesh. 2011. Mobile phone tools for field-based health care workers in low-income countries. *Mount Sinai Journal of Medicine: A Journal of Translational and Personalized Medicine*, 78, 3, 406–418.
- [113] Brian DeRenzi, Leah Findlater, Jonathan Payne, Benjamin Birnbaum, Joachim Mangilima, Tapan Parikh, Gaetano Borriello, and Neal Lesh. 2012. Improving community health worker performance through automated sms. In *Proceedings of the Fifth International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development*. ACM, 25–34.
- [114] Brian DeRenzi, Jeremy Wacksman, Nicola Dell, Scott Lee, Neal Lesh, Gaetano Borriello, and Andrew Ellner. 2016. Closing the feedback loop: a 12-month evaluation of asta, a self-tracking application for ashas. In *Proceedings of the Eighth International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development*, 1–10.
- [115] Brian DeRenzi, Nicola Dell, Jeremy Wacksman, Scott Lee, and Neal Lesh. 2017. Supporting community health workers in india through voice-and web-based feedback. In *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI conference on human factors in computing* systems, 2770–2781.
- [116] Caroline Asiimwe, David Gelvin, Evan Lee, Yanis Ben Amor, Ebony Quinto, Charles Katureebe, Lakshmi Sundaram, David Bell, and Matt Berg. 2011. Use of an innovative, affordable, and open-source short message service–based tool to monitor malaria in remote areas of uganda. *The American journal of tropical medicine and hygiene*, 85, 1, 26–33.
- [117] Trevor Perrier, Elizabeth K Harrington, Keshet Ronen, Daniel Matemo, John Kinuthia, Grace John-Stewart, Richard Anderson, and Jennifer A Unger. 2018. Male partner engagement in family planning sms conversations at kenyan health clinics. In Proceedings of the 1st ACM SIGCAS Conference on Computing and Sustainable Societies, 1–11.

- [118] Trevor Perrier, Nicola Dell, Brian DeRenzi, Richard Anderson, John Kinuthia, Jennifer Unger, and Grace John-Stewart. 2015. Engaging pregnant women in kenya with a hybrid computer-human sms communication system. In *Proceedings of the* 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, 1429– 1438.
- [119] Peter Barron, Joanne Peter, Amnesty E LeFevre, Jane Sebidi, Marcha Bekker, Robert Allen, Annie Neo Parsons, Peter Benjamin, and Yogan Pillay. 2018. Mobile health messaging service and helpdesk for south african mothers (momconnect): history, successes and challenges. *BMJ global health*, 3, Suppl 2, e000559.
- [120] Kilkari. 2020. https://www.rethink1000days.org/programmeoutputs/kilkari/. (2020).
- [121] ARMMAN. 2020. Mmitra. https://armman.org/mmitra/. (2020).
- [122] Atik Ahsan and Ananya Raihan. 2013. Understanding mhealth impact among aponjon (mama bangladesh) subscribers through a phone survey in bangladesh. In Proceedings of the Sixth International Conference on Information and Communications Technologies and Development: Notes-Volume 2, 1–4.
- [123] Azra Ismail, Naveena Karusala, and Neha Kumar. 2018. Bridging disconnected knowledges for community health. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 2, CSCW, 1–27.
- [124] Divya Ramachandran, John Canny, Prabhu Dutta Das, and Edward Cutrell. 2010. Mobile-izing health workers in rural india. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI conference on human factors in computing systems*, 1889–1898.
- [125] Brittany Fiore-Silfvast, Carl Hartung, Kirti Iyengar, Sharad Iyengar, Kiersten Israel-Ballard, Noah Perin, and Richard Anderson. 2013. Mobile video for patient education: the midwives' perspective. In *Proceedings of the 3rd ACM Symposium on Computing for Development*, 1–10.
- [126] Maletsabisa Molapo and Gary Marsden. 2013. Software support for creating digital health training materials in the field. In *Proceedings of the Sixth International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development: Full Papers-Volume 1*, 205–214.
- [127] Maletsabisa Molapo, Melissa Densmore, and Brian DeRenzi. 2017. Video consumption patterns for first time smartphone users: community health workers in lesotho. In *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 6159–6170.

- [128] Neha Kumar, Trevor Perrier, Michelle Desmond, Kiersten Israel-Ballard, Vikrant Kumar, Sudip Mahapatra, Anil Mishra, Shreya Agarwal, Rikin Gandhi, Pallavi Lal, et al. 2015. Projecting health: community-led video education for maternal health. In Proceedings of the Seventh International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development, 1–10.
- [129] Aditya Vashistha, Neha Kumar, Anil Mishra, and Richard Anderson. 2017. Examining localization approaches for community health. In *ProceBridging Disconnected Knowledges for Community Healthedings of the 2017 Conference on Designing Interactive Systems*, 357–368.
- [130] Neha Kumar and Richard J Anderson. 2015. Mobile phones for maternal health in rural india. In *Proceedings of the 33rd Annual ACM Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. ACM, 427–436.
- [131] Mobile Kunji. 2020. https://www.rethink1000days.org/programmeoutputs/mobile-kunji/. (2020).
- [132] Sana Sheikh, Rahat Najam Qureshi, Asif Raza Khowaja, Rehana Salam, Marianne Vidler, Diane Sawchuck, Peter von Dadelszen, Shujat Zaidi, Zulfiqar Bhutta, CLIP Working Group, et al. 2016. Health care provider knowledge and routine management of pre-eclampsia in pakistan. *Reproductive health*, 13, 2, 104.
- [133] David Musoke, Rawlance Ndejjo, Edwinah Atusingwize, Trasias Mukama, Charles Ssemugabo, and Linda Gibson. 2019. Performance of community health workers and associated factors in a rural community in wakiso district, uganda. *African Health Sciences*, 19, 3, 2784–2797.
- [134] Rebecca Furth Donna Bjerregaard Lauren Crigler Kathleen Hill. 2011. Community health worker assessment and improvement matrix (chw aim): a toolkit for improving community health worker programs and services usaid health care improvement project. http://www.who.int/. [Online; accessed 25-May-2020]. (2011).
- [135] Phillip Wanduru, Moses Tetui, Doreen Tuhebwe, Michael Ediau, Monica Okuga, Christine Nalwadda, Elizabeth Ekirapa-Kiracho, Peter Waiswa, and Elizeus Rutebemberwa. 2016. The performance of community health workers in the management of multiple childhood infectious diseases in lira, northern uganda–a mixed methods cross-sectional study. *Global health action*, 9, 1, 33194.
- [136] Niall Winters, Laurenz Langer, Promise Nduku, James Robson, James O'Donovan, Pallab Maulik, Chris Paton, Anne Geniets, David Peiris, and Shobhana Nagraj. 2019. Using mobile technologies to support the training of community health workers in low-income and middle-income countries: mapping the evidence. *BMJ global health*, 4, 4, e001421.

- [137] Maham Javaid, Beenish Fatima, and Amna Batool. 2017. Bridging the knowledge gaps in lady health visitors through video based learning tool. In *Proceedings of the Ninth International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development*. ACM, 38.
- [138] Shimmila Bhowmick, Rajkumar Darbar, and Keyur Sorathia. 2018. Pragati: design and evaluation of a mobile phone-based head mounted virtual reality interface to train community health workers in rural india. In *Proceedings of the 10th Nordic Conference on Human-Computer Interaction*, 299–310.
- [139] CHW Central. 2011. One million community health workers technical task force report. https://chwcentral.org/resources/one-million-commu\ nity-health-workers-technical-task-force-report/. [Online; accessed 22-Feb-2021]. (2011).
- [140] TulaSalud. 2013. http://www.tulasalud.org/quienes-somos. (2013).
- [141] International Monetary Fund. 2020. Mobile academy. https://armman.org/ mobile-academy/. [Online; accessed 20-Oct-2020]. (2020).
- [142] K Gilroy, A Diedhiou, CM Cox, L Duncan, D Koumtingue, and S Pacqu-Margolis.
 [n. d.] Use of an interactive voice response system to deliver refresher training in senegal: findings from pilot implementation and assessment, 2015. ().
- [143] SWACH. 2020. About us. http://www.swach.org/. (2020).
- [144] Divya Ramachandran, Vivek Goswami, and John Canny. 2010. Research and reality: using mobile messages to promote maternal health in rural india. In *Proceedings of the 4th ACM/IEEE International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development* (ICTD '10). ACM, London, United Kingdom, 35:1–35:10. ISBN: 978-1-4503-0787-1.
- [145] Konstantinos Kazakos, Siddhartha Asthana, Madeline Balaam, Mona Duggal, Amey Holden, Limalemla Jamir, Nanda Kishore Kannuri, Saurabh Kumar, Amarendar Reddy Manindla, Subhashini Arcot Manikam, et al. 2016. A real-time ivr platform for community radio. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. ACM, 343–354.
- [146] Freeswitch. 2020. https://freeswitch.com/. (2020).
- [147] Wilbert J McKeachie. 1990. Research on college teaching: the historical background. *Journal of educational psychology*, 82, 2, 189.

- [148] Michael Moore and Greg Kearsley. 1996. Distance education: a systems view (belmont, california: wadsworth).
- [149] Margie Martyn. 2007. Clickers in the classroom: an active learning approach. *Educause quarterly*, 30, 2, 71.
- [150] Maletsabisa Molapo and Gary Marsden. 2013. Health education in rural communities with locally produced and locally relevant multimedia content. In *Proceedings* of the 3rd ACM Symposium on Computing for Development. ACM, 25.
- [151] David W Johnson, Roger T Johnson, and Karl A Smith. 1998. Active learning: Cooperation in the college classroom. ERIC.
- [152] David W Johnson and Roger T Johnson. 1987. *Learning together and alone: Co-operative, competitive, and individualistic learning*. Prentice-Hall, Inc.
- [153] Mary Catherine O'Connor and Sarah Michaels. 1996. Shifting participant frameworks: orchestrating thinking practices in group discussion. *Discourse, learning, and schooling*, 63–103.
- [154] Pierre Dillenbourg and Daniel Schneider. 1995. Collaborative learning and the internet. In *Published at http://tecfasun1. unige. ch/tecfa/tecfa-research/CMC/colla/ iccai95 1. html. ICCAI 95.* Citeseer.
- [155] Eva Kyndt, Elisabeth Raes, Bart Lismont, Fran Timmers, Eduardo Cascallar, and Filip Dochy. 2013. A meta-analysis of the effects of face-to-face cooperative learning. do recent studies falsify or verify earlier findings? *Educational Research Review*, 10, 133–149.
- [156] Pierre Dillenbourg, Michael J Baker, Agnes Blaye, and Claire O'Malley. 1995. The evolution of research on collaborative learning. (1995).
- [157] Chinmay Kulkarni, Julia Cambre, Yasmine Kotturi, Michael S Bernstein, and Scott R Klemmer. 2015. Talkabout: making distance matter with small groups in massive classes. In *Proceedings of the 18th ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing*. ACM, 1116–1128.
- [158] Derrick Coetzee, Seongtaek Lim, Armando Fox, Bjorn Hartmann, and Marti A Hearst. 2015. Structuring interactions for large-scale synchronous peer learning. In Proceedings of the 18th ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work & Social Computing. ACM, 1139–1152.
- [159] Jonathan J Cadiz, Anand Balachandran, Elizabeth Sanocki, Anoop Gupta, Jonathan Grudin, and Gavin Jancke. 2000. Distance learning through distributed collabo-

rative video viewing. In *Proceedings of the 2000 ACM conference on Computer supported cooperative work*. ACM, 135–144.

- [160] Sugata Mitra. 2003. Minimally invasive education: a progress report on the "holein-the-wall" experiments. *British journal of educational technology*, 34, 3, 367– 371.
- [161] Edward Cutrell. 2011. Technology for emerging markets at msr india. In *Proceedings of the ACM 2011 conference on Computer supported cooperative work*. ACM, 9–16.
- [162] Derek Lomas, Dixie Ching, Christopher Hoadley, Kishan Patel, and Matt Kam. 2011. When a console game becomes cscl: play, participatory learning and 8-bit home computing in india.
- [163] Anuj Kumar, Anuj Tewari, Geeta Shroff, Deepti Chittamuru, Matthew Kam, and John Canny. 2010. An exploratory study of unsupervised mobile learning in rural india. In *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 743–752.
- [164] Rikin Gandhi, Rajesh Veeraraghavan, Kentaro Toyama, and Vanaja Ramprasad. 2007. Digital green: participatory video for agricultural extension. In 2007 International conference on information and communication technologies and development. IEEE, 1–10.
- [165] Pierre Dillenbourg. 1999. *What do you mean by collaborative learning?* Oxford: Elsevier.
- [166] Delhi State Health Mission. 2019. http://dshm.delhi.gov.in/. (2019).
- [167] Alison King. 2002. Structuring peer interaction to promote high-level cognitive processing. *Theory into practice*, 41, 1, 33–39.
- [168] Ling-Wei Chen, Yen Ling Low, Doris Fok, Wee Meng Han, Yap Seng Chong, Peter Gluckman, Keith Godfrey, Kenneth Kwek, Seang-Mei Saw, Shu E Soh, et al. 2014. Dietary changes during pregnancy and the postpartum period in singaporean chinese, malay and indian women: the gusto birth cohort study. *Public health nutrition*, 17, 9, 1930–1938.
- [169] Ushvendra Kaur Choudhry. 1997. Traditional practices of women from india: pregnancy, childbirth, and newborn care. *Journal of Obstetric, Gynecologic, & Neonatal Nursing*, 26, 5, 533–539.

- [170] Akanksha Jain, Prashant Tyagi, Prabhjeet Kaur, Jacob Puliyel, and Vishnu Sreenivas. 2014. Association of birth of girls with postnatal depression and exclusive breastfeeding: an observational study. *BMJ open*, 4, 6, e003545.
- [171] Aruna Rose Mary Kapanee, KS Meena, Prasanthi Nattala, Narayana Manjunatha, and Paulomi M Sudhir. 2018. Perceptions of accredited social health activists on depression: a qualitative study from karnataka, india. *Indian journal of psychological medicine*, 40, 1, 11.
- [172] Santiago Almanzar, Nirsarg Shah, Suril Vithalani, Sandip Shah, James Squires, Raghu Appasani, and Craig L Katz. 2014. Knowledge of and attitudes toward clinical depression among health providers in gujarat, india. *Annals of Global health*, 80, 2, 89–95.
- [173] Gregory Armstrong, Michelle Kermode, Shoba Raja, Sujatha Suja, Prabha Chandra, and Anthony F Jorm. 2011. A mental health training program for community health workers in india: impact on knowledge and attitudes. *International journal of mental health systems*, 5, 1, 17.
- [174] Jiska Cohen. 1986. Theoretical considerations of peer tutoring. *Psychology in the Schools*, 23, 2, 175–186.
- [175] Cindy E Hmelo-Silver. 2004. Problem-based learning: what and how do students learn? *Educational psychology review*, 16, 3, 235–266.
- [176] Maria Harper-Marinick. 2001. Engaging students in problem-based learning. *Maricopa Centre for*.
- [177] Elliot Aronson and Diane Bridgeman. 1979. Jigsaw groups and the desegregated classroom: in pursuit of common goals. *Personality and social psychology bulletin*, 5, 4, 438–446.
- [178] Ingo Kollar, Frank Fischer, and James D Slotta. 2007. Internal and external scripts in computer-supported collaborative inquiry learning. *Learning and Instruction*, 17, 6, 708–721.
- [179] Elizabeth G Cohen. 1994. Restructuring the classroom: conditions for productive small groups. *Review of educational research*, 64, 1, 1–35.
- [180] DW Johnson, RT Johnson, and EJ Holubec. 1986. Circles of learning: cooperation in the classroom (edina, mn: interaction book). *Google Scholar*.
- [181] Reetu Sharma, Premila Webster, and Sanghita Bhattacharyya. 2014. Factors affecting the performance of community health workers in india: a multi-stakeholder perspective. *Global health action*, 7, 1, 25352.

- [182] Stephen G West, Naihua Duan, Willo Pequegnat, Paul Gaist, Don C Des Jarlais, David Holtgrave, José Szapocznik, Martin Fishbein, Bruce Rapkin, Michael Clatts, et al. 2008. Alternatives to the randomized controlled trial. *American journal of public health*, 98, 8, 1359–1366.
- [183] Robert McPherson and Stephen Hodgins. 2018. Postnatal home visitation: lessons from country programs operating at scale. *Journal of global health*, 8, 1.
- [184] Virginia Braun and Victoria Clarke. 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, 3, 2, 77–101.
- [185] Marie-Josèphe Saurel-Cubizolles, Patrizia Romito, Nathalie Lelong, and Pierre-Yves Ancel. 2000. Women's health after childbirth: a longitudinal study in france and italy. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology*, 107, 10, 1202–1209.
- [186] World Health Organization. 2014. Integrated Management of Childhood Illness: distance learning course. World Health Organization, 15 booklets.
- [187] David K Stevenson, Phyllis A Dennery, and Susan R Hintz. 2001. Understanding newborn jaundice. *Journal of Perinatology*, 21, S1, S21–S21.
- [188] Juan Yang, Katherine E. Hartmann, David A. Savitz, Amy H. Herring, Nancy Dole, Andrew F. Olshan, and Jr. Thorp John M. 2004. Vaginal Bleeding during Pregnancy and Preterm Birth. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 160, 2, (July 2004), 118– 125.
- [189] Thomas R Moore. 1997. Clinical assessment of amniotic fluid. *Clinical obstetrics and gynecology*, 40, 2, 303–313.
- [190] Asavari Ashok Bachhav and Manjushri Waikar. 2014. Low amniotic fluid index at term as a predictor of adverse perinatal outcome. *The Journal of Obstetrics and Gynecology of India*, 64, 2, 120–123.
- [191] Leslie Owen Wilson. 2016. Anderson and krathwohl–bloom's taxonomy revised. *Understanding the New Version of Bloom's Taxonomy*.
- [192] Yeoun Soo Kim-Godwin. 2003. Postpartum beliefs and practices among non-western cultures. *MCN: The American Journal of Maternal/Child Nursing*, 28, 2, 74–78.
- [193] Heather J Rowe-Murray and Jane RW Fisher. 2002. Baby friendly hospital practices: cesarean section is a persistent barrier to early initiation of breastfeeding. *Birth*, 29, 2, 124–131.

- [194] Justine A Kavle, Elizabeth LaCroix, Hallie Dau, and Cyril Engmann. 2017. Addressing barriers to exclusive breast-feeding in low-and middle-income countries: a systematic review and programmatic implications. *Public Health Nutrition*, 20, 17, 3120–3134.
- [195] National Health Mission. 2006. Book 2. https://nhm.gov.in/index1. php?lang=1&level=3&sublinkid=184&lid=257. (2006).
- [196] National Health Mission. 2006. Book 3. https://nhm.gov.in/index1. php?lang=1&level=3&sublinkid=184&lid=257. (2006).
- [197] National Health Mission. 2006. Book 6. https://nhm.gov.in/index1. php?lang=1&level=3&sublinkid=184&lid=257. (2006).
- [198] National Health Mission. 2006. Book 7. https://nhm.gov.in/index1. php?lang=1&level=3&sublinkid=184&lid=257. (2006).
- [199] Indrani Medhi, Raghu S Menon, Edward Cutrell, and Kentaro Toyama. 2012. Correlation between limited education and transfer of learning. *Information Technologies & International Development*, 8, 2, pp–51.
- [200] Maryam Eslahcar Komachali and Mohammadreza Khodareza. 2012. The effect of using vocabulary flash card on iranian pre-university students' vocabulary knowledge. *International Education Studies*, 5, 3, 134–147.
- [201] World Health Organization. 2020. Medical doctors (per 10 000 population). https: //www.who.int/data/gho/data/indicators/indicatordetails/GHO/medical-doctors-(per-10-000-population). [Online; accessed 12-Jan-2021]. (2020).
- [202] Aditya Vishwanath, Matthew Kam, and Neha Kumar. 2017. Examining low-cost virtual reality for learning in low-resource environments. In *Proceedings of the 2017 Conference on Designing Interactive Systems*, 1277–1281.
- [203] Joseph Jay Williams, Tania Lombrozo, Anne Hsu, Bernd Huber, and Juho Kim. 2016. Revising learner misconceptions without feedback: prompting for reflection on anomalies. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 470–474.
- [204] Deepika Yadav, Anushka Bhandari, and Pushpendra Singh. 2019. Leap: scaffolding collaborative learning of community health workers in india. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 3, CSCW, 1–27.

- [205] Deepika Yadav, Prerna Malik, Kirti Dabas, and Pushpendra Singh. 2019. Feedpal: understanding opportunities for chatbots in breastfeeding education of women in india. *Proceedings of the ACM on Human-Computer Interaction*, 3, CSCW, 1–30.
- [206] IntraHealth International. 2015. Use of an interactive voice response system to deliver refresher training in senegal. https://www.capacityplus.org/ files/resources/ivr-system-refresher-training-senegal. pdf. (2015).
- [207] Outlook. 2020. Himachal: asha workers get smartphones to perform duties efficiently. https://www.outlookindia.com/newsscroll/himachalasha-workers-get-smartphones-to-perform-duties-efficie\ ntly/1896227. [Online; accessed 16-Sep-2020]. (2020).
- [208] Times of India. 2020. Asha workers 60,000, maharashtra to buy 2,070 smart phones. https://timesofindia.indiatimes.com/city/nagpur/ashaworkers-60k-maha-to-buy-2070-smart-phones/articleshow/ 68118360.cms#:~:text=NAGPUR%3A%20State%20health%20depart\ ment%20has, (ASHA) %20workers%20in%20Maharashtra.. [Online; accessed 16-Sep-2020]. (2020).
- [209] Azra Ismail and Neha Kumar. 2019. Empowerment on the margins: the online experiences of community health workers. In *Proceedings of the 2019 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 1–15.
- [210] Neha Kumar, Waylon Brunette, Nicola Dell, Trevor Perrier, Beth Kolko, Gaetano Borriello, and Richard Anderson. 2015. Understanding sociotechnical implications of mobile health deployments in india, kenya, and zimbabwe. *Information Technologies & International Development*, 11, 4, pp–17.
- [211] Gareth Jones, Richard W Steketee, Robert E Black, Zulfiqar A Bhutta, Saul S Morris, Bellagio Child Survival Study Group, et al. 2003. How many child deaths can we prevent this year? *The lancet*, 362, 9377, 65–71.
- [212] Pawin Puapornpong, Panwara Paritakul, Maysita Suksamarnwong, Siriwan Srisuwan, and Sukwadee Ketsuwan. 2017. Nipple pain incidence, the predisposing factors, the recovery period after care management, and the exclusive breastfeeding outcome. *Breastfeeding Medicine*, 12, 3, 169–173.
- [213] Getahun Tiruye, Firehiwot Mesfin, Biftu Geda, and Kasiye Shiferaw. 2018. Breast-feeding technique and associated factors among breastfeeding mothers in harar city, eastern ethiopia. *International breastfeeding journal*, 13, 1, 1–9.

- [214] Vartika Saxena and Ranjeeta Kumari. 2014. Infant and young child feeding–knowledge and practices of asha workers of doiwala block, dehradun district. *Indian Journal of Community Health*, 26, 1, 68–75.
- [215] UNICEF WHO. 2006. Bfhi section 3: breastfeeding promotion and support in a baby-friendly hospital. (2006).
- [216] Zahir Koradia, Piyush Aggarwal, Aaditeshwar Seth, and Gaurav Luthra. 2013. Gurgaon idol: a singing competition over community radio and ivrs. In *Proceedings of the 3rd ACM Symposium on Computing for Development*, 1–10.
- [217] Aditya Vashistha, Pooja Sethi, and Richard Anderson. 2017. Respeak: a voicebased, crowd-powered speech transcription system. In *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI* conference on human factors in computing systems, 1855–1866.
- [218] Google. 2018. Google cloud speech api. [Online; accessed 02-March-2018]. (2018).
- [219] Siva Reddy and Serge Sharoff. 2011. Cross language pos taggers (and other tools) for indian languages: an experiment with kannada using telugu resources. In *Proceedings of the Fifth International Workshop On Cross Lingual Information Access*. Asian Federation of Natural Language Processing, Chiang Mai, Thailand, 11–19.
- [220] Masataka Goto, Jun Ogata, and Kouichirou Eto. 2007. Podcastle: a web 2.0 approach to speech recognition research. In *Eighth Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association*.
- [221] Jun Ogata and Masataka Goto. 2009. Podcastle: collaborative training of acoustic models on the basis of wisdom of crowds for podcast transcription. In *Tenth Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association*.
- [222] James Glass, Timothy J Hazen, Scott Cyphers, Igor Malioutov, David Huynh, and Regina Barzilay. 2007. Recent progress in the mit spoken lecture processing project. In *Eighth Annual Conference of the International Speech Communication Association*.
- [223] Sheng-yi Kong, Miao-ru Wu, Che-kuang Lin, Yi-sheng Fu, and Lin-shan Lee. 2009. Learning on demand-course lecture distillation by information extraction and semantic structuring for spoken documents. In Acoustics, Speech and Signal Processing, 2009. ICASSP 2009. IEEE International Conference on. IEEE, 4709– 4712.
- [224] David M Blei, Andrew Y Ng, and Michael I Jordan. 2003. Latent dirichlet allocation. *Journal of machine Learning research*, 3, Jan, 993–1022.

- [225] Xiaohui Yan, Jiafeng Guo, Yanyan Lan, and Xueqi Cheng. 2013. A biterm topic model for short texts. In *Proceedings of the 22nd international conference on World Wide Web*. ACM, 1445–1456.
- [226] David Mimno, Hanna M Wallach, Edmund Talley, Miriam Leenders, and Andrew McCallum. 2011. Optimizing semantic coherence in topic models. In *Proceedings* of the conference on empirical methods in natural language processing. Association for Computational Linguistics, 262–272.
- [227] David Newman, Jey Han Lau, Karl Grieser, and Timothy Baldwin. 2010. Automatic evaluation of topic coherence. In *Human Language Technologies: The 2010 Annual Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics*. Association for Computational Linguistics, 100–108.
- [228] Vishal Gupta and Gurpreet Singh Lehal. 2010. A survey of text summarization extractive techniques. *Journal of emerging technologies in web intelligence*, 2, 3, 258–268.
- [229] Justin Jian Zhang and Pascale Fung. 2012. Active learning with semi-automatic annotation for extractive speech summarization. *ACM Transactions on Speech and Language Processing (TSLP)*, 8, 4, 6.
- [230] Jian Zhang and Pascale Fung. 2007. Speech summarization without lexical features for mandarin broadcast news. In *Human Language Technologies 2007: The Conference of the North American Chapter of the Association for Computational Linguistics; Companion Volume, Short Papers*. Association for Computational Linguistics, 213–216.
- [231] Shasha Xie and Yang Liu. 2010. Improving supervised learning for meeting summarization using sampling and regression. *Computer Speech & Language*, 24, 3, 495–514.
- [232] Sadaoki Furui, Tomonori Kikuchi, Yosuke Shinnaka, and Chiori Hori. 2004. Speechto-text and speech-to-speech summarization of spontaneous speech. *IEEE Transactions on Speech and Audio Processing*, 12, 4, 401–408.
- [233] Damiano Spina, Johanne R Trippas, Lawrence Cavedon, and Mark Sanderson. 2017. Extracting audio summaries to support effective spoken document search. *Journal of the Association for Information Science and Technology*, 68, 9, 2101– 2115.
- [234] George A Miller. 1956. The magical number seven, plus or minus two: some limits on our capacity for processing information. *Psychological review*, 63, 2, 81.

- [235] Khari Hohnson. 2018. Facebook messenger passes 300,000 bots. https:// venturebeat.com/2018/05/01/facebook-messenger-passes-300000-bots/. [Online; accessed 21-Feb-2021]. (2018).
- [236] Chatbot Guide. 2019. Burberry. https://www.chatbotguide.org/ burberry-bot. (2019).
- [237] Pandorabots Facebook Page. 2019. Pandorabots. https://www.facebook. com/chatbots.io/. (2019).
- [238] Chatbot Guide. 2019. Kayak. https://www.chatbotguide.org/kayakbot. (2019).
- [239] Asbjørn Følstad, Petter Bae Brandtzaeg, Tom Feltwell, Effie LC Law, Manfred Tscheligi, and Ewa A Luger. 2018. Sig: chatbots for social good. In *Extended Abstracts of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. ACM, SIG06.
- [240] Nithya Sambasivan, Garen Checkley, Amna Batool, Nova Ahmed, David Nemer, Laura Sanely Gaytán-Lugo, Tara Matthews, Sunny Consolvo, and Elizabeth Churchill. 2018. "privacy is not for me, it's for those rich women": performative privacy practices on mobile phones by women in south asia. In *Fourteenth Symposium on Usable Privacy and Security ({SOUPS} 2018)*, 127–142.
- [241] Lara Piccolo, Martino Mensio, and Harith Alani. 2019. Chasing the chatbots: directions for interaction and design research.
- [242] Bruce Hanington and Bella Martin. 2012. Universal methods of design: 100 ways to research complex problems, develop innovative ideas, and design effective solutions. Rockport Publishers.
- [243] Stephan Schlögl, Gavin Doherty, and Saturnino Luz. 2014. Wizard of oz experimentation for language technology applications: challenges and tools. *Interacting with Computers*, 27, 6, 592–615.
- [244] Delhi State Health Mission. 2017. Public health standards (phs) for primary urban health centres (puhcs). http://dshm.delhi.gov.in/. [Online; accessed 24-Feb-2021]. (2017).
- [245] Indrani Medhi Thies, Nandita Menon, Sneha Magapu, Manisha Subramony, and Jacki O'neill. 2017. How do you want your chatbot? an exploratory wizard-of-oz study with young, urban indians. In *IFIP Conference on Human-Computer Interaction*. Springer, 441–459.

- [246] Ana Paula Chaves and Marco Aurelio Gerosa. 2018. Single or multiple conversational agents?: an interactional coherence comparison. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. ACM, 191.
- [247] Leo A Goodman. 1961. Snowball sampling. *The annals of mathematical statistics*, 148–170.
- [248] Steve Young, Milica Gašić, Simon Keizer, François Mairesse, Jost Schatzmann, Blaise Thomson, and Kai Yu. 2010. The hidden information state model: a practical framework for pomdp-based spoken dialogue management. *Computer Speech & Language*, 24, 2, 150–174.
- [249] Alan Ritter, Colin Cherry, and William B Dolan. 2011. Data-driven response generation in social media. In *Proceedings of the conference on empirical methods in natural language processing*. Association for Computational Linguistics, 583–593.
- [250] Vijay Kumar. 1994. 101 Questions on Breastfeeding.
- [251] Leila Caleb Varkey, Anurag Mishra, Anjana Das, Emma Ottolenghi, Dale Huntington, Susan Adamchak, ME Khan, and Frederick Homan. 2004. Involving men in maternity care in india. *New Delhi: Population Council*.
- [252] Thérèse Mahon, Anjali Tripathy, and Neelam Singh. 2015. Putting the men into menstruation: the role of men and boys in community menstrual hygiene management. *Waterlines*, 34, 1, 7–14.
- [253] Jessica Wolfendale. 2007. My avatar, my self: virtual harm and attachment. *Ethics and information technology*, 9, 2, 111–119.
- [254] Cosmin Munteanu and Marian Boldea. 2000. Mdwoz: a wizard of oz environment for dialog systems development. In *LREC*. Citeseer.
- [255] Sonalde Desai and Devaki Jain. 1994. Maternal employment and changes in family dynamics: the social context of women's work in rural south india. *Population and Development Review*, 115–136.
- [256] Sarah Lewis, Andrew Lee, and Padam Simkhada. 2015. The role of husbands in maternal health and safe childbirth in rural nepal: a qualitative study. *BMC pregnancy and childbirth*, 15, 1, 162.
- [257] National Health Mission. 2021. About accredited social health activist (asha). http: //nhm.gov.in/communitisation/asha/about-asha.html. [Online; accessed 25-Feb-2021]. (2021).

- [258] Enisha Sarin, Ankur Sooden, Subir K Kole, and Sarah S Lunsford. 2016. Identification of challenges and needs to improve community health workers performance: narratives of accredited social health activists (asha) from two indian districts. *Journal of Public Health in Developing Countries*, 2, 2, 173–182.
- [259] Kathleen M McKenna and Rani T Shankar. 2009. The practice of prelacteal feeding to newborns among hindu and muslim families. *Journal of midwifery & women's health*, 54, 1, 78–81.
- [260] BS Karnawat, RN Singh, BD Gupta, and SP Chaudhury. 1987. Knowledge and attitudes of hospital employees regarding infant feeding practices. *Indian pediatrics*, 24, 10, 939–48.
- [261] National Capital Region Planning Board. 2018. Migration study of delhi & ncr. http://ncrpb.nic.in.(2018).
- [262] Parth Gupta, Kalika Bali, Rafael E Banchs, Monojit Choudhury, and Paolo Rosso. 2014. Query expansion for mixed-script information retrieval. In *Proceedings of the 37th international ACM SIGIR conference on Research & development in information retrieval*. ACM, 677–686.
- [263] Piya Sorcar, Benjamin Strauber, Prashant Loyalka, Neha Kumar, and Shelley Goldman. 2017. Sidestepping the elephant in the classroom: using culturally localized technology to teach around taboos. In *Proceedings of the 2017 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. ACM, 2792–2804.
- [264] Andrea Grimes, Desney Tan, and Dan Morris. 2009. Toward technologies that support family reflections on health. In *Proceedings of the ACM 2009 international conference on supporting group work*, 311–320.
- [265] Amna Batool, Samia Razaq, Maham Javaid, Beenish Fatima, and Kentaro Toyama. 2017. Maternal complications: nuances in mobile interventions for maternal health in urban pakistan. In *Proceedings of the Ninth International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development*. ACM, 3.
- [266] Sacha St-Onge Ahmad, Muhammad Bilal Saleem, Maryam Ayub, Tallal Ahmad, Shan Randhawa, Zain Tariq, Mustafa Naseem, and Agha Ali Raza. 2018. Usage and feedback from a 3-week launch of a maternal health line for men in pakistan. In HCI Across Borders Symposium at Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems, 21–26.
- [267] Donna Haraway. 1988. Situated knowledges: the science question in feminism and the privilege of partial perspective. *Feminist studies*, 14, 3, 575–599.

- [268] Chetna Malhotra, Rahul Malhotra, Truls Østbye, and SV Subramanian. 2014. Maternal autonomy and child health care utilization in india: results from the national family health survey. *Asia Pacific Journal of Public Health*, 26, 4, 401–413.
- [269] Munmun De Choudhury, Emre Kiciman, Mark Dredze, Glen Coppersmith, and Mrinal Kumar. 2016. Discovering shifts to suicidal ideation from mental health content in social media. In *Proceedings of the 2016 CHI conference on human factors in computing systems*. ACM, 2098–2110.
- [270] Timothy Bickmore and Toni Giorgino. 2006. Health dialog systems for patients and consumers. *Journal of biomedical informatics*, 39, 5, 556–571.
- [271] Timothy W Bickmore, Lisa Caruso, Kerri Clough-Gorr, and Tim Heeren. 2005. 'it's just like you talk to a friend' relational agents for older adults. *Interacting with Computers*, 17, 6, 711–735.
- [272] Timothy Bickmore and Daniel Schulman. 2007. Practical approaches to comforting users with relational agents. In *CHI'07 extended abstracts on Human factors in computing systems*. ACM, 2291–2296.
- [273] Carl Ransom Rogers. 1959. A theory of therapy, personality, and interpersonal relationships: As developed in the client-centered framework. Volume 3. McGraw-Hill New York.
- [274] Michael J Rigby. 2019. Ethical dimensions of using artificial intelligence in health care. *AMA Journal of Ethics*, 21, 2, 121–124.
- [275] David D Luxton. 2014. Recommendations for the ethical use and design of artificial intelligent care providers. *Artificial intelligence in medicine*, 62, 1, 1–10.
- [276] Ari Schlesinger, Kenton P O'Hara, and Alex S Taylor. 2018. Let's talk about race: identity, chatbots, and ai. In *Proceedings of the 2018 CHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*. ACM, 315.
- [277] Peter M Krafft, Michael Macy, and Alex Sandy Pentland. 2017. Bots as virtual confederates: design and ethics. In *Proceedings of the 2017 ACM Conference on Computer Supported Cooperative Work and Social Computing*. ACM, 183–190.
- [278] World Health Organization et al. 1978. Declaration of alma-ata: international conference on primary health care, alma-ata, ussr, 6–12 september 1978. (1978).
- [279] M Chan. 2007. From primary health care to universal coverage- "the affordable dream". *Ten years in public health*, 2017, 5–12.

- [280] Susan B Rifkin. 2018. Alma ata after 40 years: primary health care and health for all—from consensus to complexity. *BMJ global health*, 3, Suppl 3, e001188.
- [281] Jahanzeb Sherwani, Sooraj Palijo, Sarwat Mirza, Tanveer Ahmed, Nosheen Ali, and Roni Rosenfeld. 2009. Speech vs. touch-tone: telephony interfaces for information access by low literate users. In 2009 International Conference on Information and Communication Technologies and Development (ICTD). IEEE, 447–457.
- [282] TRAI. 2021. Telecom subscription data as on 31st may, 2021. https://www.trai.gov.in. [Online; accessed 7-Aug-2021]. (2021).
- [283] Jonathan Traxler. 2007. Defining, discussing and evaluating mobile learning. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 8, 2, 1–12.
- [284] Agnes Kukulska-Hulme and John Traxler. 2005. *Mobile learning: A handbook for educators and trainers*. Psychology Press.